
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL
CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

November 4, 2025
AGENDA
10:00 AM

CALL TO ORDER BY THE PRESIDENT

INVOCATION

1. ANDY MILLER, PRESIDENT OF WESLEY BIBLICAL SEMINARY,
WARD 1

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

PUBLIC HEARING

INTRODUCTIONS

PUBLIC COMMENTS

CONSENT AGENDA

2. NOTE: "ALL MATTERS LISTED UNDER THE CONSENT AGENDA
ARE CONSIDERED TO BE ROUTINE BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND
WILL BE ENACTED BY ONE MOTION IN THE FORM LISTED
BELOW.  THERE WILL BE NO SEPARATE DISCUSSION OF THESE
ITEMS. IF DISCUSSION IS DESIRED, THAT ITEM WILL BE
REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA AND CONSIDERED
SEPARATELY."

3. RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PARCELS OF REAL
PROPERTY IN THE CITY OF JACKSON TO BE A MENACE TO
PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELFARE PURSUANT TO SECTION
21-19-11 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE AND BASED ON
ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING HELD ON AUGUST 26, 2025 FOR THE
FOLLOWING CASES: 
 
23-564    25-2732  25-1965  25-1519  25-1954  24-2505  25-383  25-1628  25-1036
25-2800  25-2731  25-2110  25-1406  25-1958  25-1882  25-386  25-728  24-2553 
25-2799  25-2651  25-2546  24-270  25-1957  25-1879  25-2514  25-1052  24-2551
25-2797  25-223  25-2111  25-1926  25-1956  25-344  25-1269  25-2363  25-1284 
25-2796  25-1953  25-1966  25-1523  25-1724  25-1156  25-1108  25-2229  25-88 
25-2794  25-1815  24-2574  25-1778  25-1722  25-1159  25-1114  25-2712  25-
2793    25-1816  25-1783  25-2032  25-1533  25-2087  25-1331  25-2639

4. APPROVAL OF THE OCTOBER 7, 2025, REGULAR CITY COUNCIL



MEETING MINUTES. (JORDAN, GRIZZELL)
5. APPROVAL OF THE OCTOBER 20, 2025, REGULAR CITY COUNCIL

ZONING MEETING MINUTES. (JORDAN, GRIZZELL)

INTRODUCTION OF ORDINANCES

6. ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI
HONORARY RENAMING OF ROBINSON STREET (FROM BROAD
STREET TO PRENTISS STREET) TO REVEREND DR. JOHN E.
CAMERON, SR. DRIVE. (STOKES) 

7. ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI
TO MODIFY CHAPTER 14 OF THE CITY OF JACKSON CODE OF
ORDINANCES TO CREATE “CHAPTER 14, ARTICLE V – PARADES”.
(PARKINSON) 

8. AN ORDINANCE ENLARGING, EXTENDING, AND DEFINING THE
CORPORATE LIMITS AND BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI; SPECIFYING THE IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
MADE IN THE ANNEXED TERRITORY AND THE MUNICIPAL OR
PUBLIC SERVICES TO BE RENDERED THEREIN; AND FOR OTHER
PURPOSES RELATED THERETO. (D. MARTIN, HORHN)

REGULAR AGENDA

9. CLAIMS (CALDWELL, HORHN)
10. PAYROLL (CALDWELL, HORHN)
11. RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY

OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI APPROVING THE FORMS OF AND
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AN
INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT AND A DEVELOPMENT
AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
ISSUANCE BY THE CITY OF ITS TAX INCREMENT
FINANCING BONDS IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF
NOT TO EXCEED ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000), FOR THE
PURPOSE OF PROVIDING FINANCING FOR ALL OR A PORTION OF
THE COSTS OF CERTAIN INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS IN
CONNECTION WITH A REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT WITHIN THE
CITY; AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES. (CALDWELL, HORHN)

12. ORDER AMENDING MARCH 19, 2024 ORDER TO PROPERLY STATE
THE TERM AND OFFICE TO WHICH GLENDA CAGE BARNER WAS
APPOINTED. (HORHN)

13. ORDER CONFIRMING THE MAYOR’S APPOINTMENT OF KEVIN
PARKINSON TO THE CENTRAL MISSISSIPPI PLANNING AND
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, INC. (CMPDD). (HORHN)

14. ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO EFFICIENT POWER AND
LIGHT, LLC (INVOICE NO. 5336) FOR THE EMERGENCY WORK
COMPLETED PURSUANT TO THE EMERGENCY DECLARATION
FOR THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT, PRECINCT ONE.
(JONES, HORHN)

15. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT



BETWEEN THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT AND GUARDIAN
ALLIANCE TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR A SUBSCRIPTION TERM OF
TWELVE (12) MONTHS FOR A BACKGROUND INVESTIGATION
SOFTWARE. (JONES, HORHN)

16. ORDER RATIFYING AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO ADVANCED
ELECTRIC SERVICE, INC., AND ALL AROUND ENTERPRISES, LLC,
FOR SERVICES RENDERED AT FIRE STATION 11 AND
AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF $ 19,900.00 FROM FY 2023 CDBG
FUNDS. (THOMAS, HORHN)

17. ORDER RATIFYING SUBSCRIPTION, SOFTWARE SUPPORT, AND
EQUIPMENT SUPPORT SERVICES PREVIOUSLY RECEIVED AND
AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF INVOICE #12387646 AND INVOICE #
12390598 FROM UKG WORKFORCE, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF
$135,240.00 AND $16,808.44 RESPECTIVELY FOR THE CITY OF
JACKSON’S TIMEKEEPING SYSTEM. (SLATER, HORHN)

18. ORDER AUTHORIZING MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT
WITH ADVANTAGE BUSINESS SYSTEMS FOR LEASE OF A KONICA
MINOLTA BIZHUB C361i COPIER FOR 48 MONTHS AT A COST OF
$198.00 PER MONTH WITH BLACK AND WHITE COPIES BILLED AT
.0089 AND .059 FOR COLOR COPIES PURSUANT TO STATE
CONTRACT 8200079887. (SLATER, HORHN)

19. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ACCEPT THE TERMS OF
RENEWAL AGREEMENT PROVIDED BY ECOLANE RELATED TO
MAINTAINING WEB-BASED SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS WHICH
SUPPORT SCHEDULING AND OTHER FUNCTIONS OF THE CITY OF
JACKSON’S PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (JTRAN).
(TEEUWISSEN, HORHN)

20. ORDER ACCEPTING THE DONATION OF PARCEL 844-373 WHICH
HAS THE PHYSICAL ADDRESS OF 0 LAUREL OAK PLACE FROM R
& T PROPERTIES, LLC. (TEEUWISSEN, HORHN)

21. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CONTRACT
WITH GRACE HOUSE, INC TO PROVIDE HOUSING AND
SUPPORTIVE SERVICES IN THE JACKSON METROPOLITAN
STATISTICAL AREA CONSISTENT WITH THE HOUSING
OPPORTUNITIES FOR PERSONS WITH HIV/AIDS FEDERAL
PROGRAM REGULATIONS. (TEEUWISSEN, HORHN)

DISCUSSION

22. DISCUSSION: LITTER (CLAY)
23. DISCUSSION: POWERS AVENUE (STOKES)
24. DISCUSSION: SIEMENS MONEY (STOKES)
25. DISCUSSION: 455 EAST CAPITOL STREET (FOOTE)
26. DISCUSSION: SMITH WILLS STADIUM (FOOTE)
27. DISCUSSION: LITIGATION-LEGAL MATTERS (D. MARTIN)

PRESENTATION



PROCLAMATION

RESOLUTIONS

REPORT FROM MEMBERS, MAYOR, DEPARTMENT DIRECTORS

28. MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED
ACCORDING TO SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE
ANNOTATED OF 1972.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

ADJOURNMENT

AGENDA ITEMS IN COMMITTEE















































SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
          TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                      1 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi, was convened at City Hall at 10:00 a.m. on October 7, 2025, being the first Tuesday 
of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

Present: Council Members: Brian Grizzell, Council President, Ward 4; Vernon 
Hartley, Vice President, Ward 5; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Montyne Clay, 
Ward 2; Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3; Lashia Brown-Thomas, Ward 6 and 
Kevin Parkinson, Ward 7. Directors: Mayor John A. Horhn; Shanekia 
Jordan, Clerk of Council; Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council 
and Sondra Moncure, Special Assistant to the City Attorney. 

Absent:           None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The meeting was called to order by President Grizzell. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The invocation was offered by CHAPLIAN SOLON B. SMITH OF MISSISSIPPI 
MEDICAL CENTER, WARD 7. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
The following announcements were provided to open the meeting: 

• Council Member Harley announced the following:

o West Jackson neighborhoods will host National Night Out tonight, October 7,
2025, at Blackburn Middle School in the student garden area.

o On Thursday, October 9, 2025, there will be a Precinct 2 Cops meeting in
Western Plaza at 6:00 p.m.

• Council Member Parkinson announced the following

o Thanked Mr. Smith for the invocation and the great partnership with the Baptist
Medical community.  He is the Director of Pastoral Care at the Baptist Medical
Center.

o On Thursday, October 9, 2025, the JSU and Jim Hill pop-up clean-up will be
held on University Boulevard from 4:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m.  Parking will be on
the JSU soccer field on the corner of University Boulevard and Walter Payton
Drive.

o On Saturday, November 1, 2025, there will be a Community Health Fair hosted
by the Association of South Jackson Neighborhoods, which is currently
requesting vendor participation.

• Council Member Clay announced the following:

o President Hills, Valley North, Lakeover, and Ridgewood neighborhoods will be
hosting National Night Out, October 7, 2025, from 5:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.

• Council Member Foote announced the following:

o The Sanders Farms Golf Tournament was a success, and thanked Jackson State’s
Ladies softball team for providing support on the course

• Council Member Brown-Thomas announced the following:

o Mayfair Subdivision will host National Night Out, October 7, 2025, from 6:00
p.m. to 8:00 p.m.

 Mayor Horhn announced the following: 

Agenda Item No. 4
November 4, 2025
(Jordan, Grizzell)



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
          TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                      2 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 

o Mayor Horhn is honored to proclaim the month of October as both Breast Cancer
Awareness and Domestic Violence Awareness month.

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The following individuals provided public comments during the meeting: 

• Dr. R.C. Harris expressed concerns regarding Hendrix Community Center.
• Monica Butler expressed concerns regarding Midtown Community Park.
• Karissa Bowley expressed concerns regarding Pearl River Project Plans.
• Chantey Wallace expressed concerns regarding general childcare issues.
• Lawrence Rucker expressed concerns regarding gun violence.

Note: Council Member Kenneth Stokes joined the meeting during public comments. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND 3 SQUARES VENTURES, LLC TO 
DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, REMOVE FOUNDATION, STEPS, DRIVEWAY, 
CUT GRASS AND WEEDS, REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND TO 
PERFORM OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE 
PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 
AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 
21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-23-526 LOCATED AT 2300 MARGARET W
ALEXANDER DR-- PARCEL #408-813– $12,500.00.

WHEREAS, on November 5, 2024, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution 
declaring certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, 
safety, and welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following administrative 
hearing held on October 8, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 
Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 
conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 
and  

WHEREAS, based on stated requirements, 3 Squares Ventures, LLC. submitted the lowest 
and best bid and through its representative, Don Derrell Price, agreed to demolish structure, 
remove foundation, steps, driveway, and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and 
saplings; remove trash, debris and clean curbside to remedy conditions constituting a menace to 
public health and welfare for parcels listed as 2300 Margaret W Alexander Dr Parcel 408-813 for 
the sum of $12,500.00; and 

WHEREAS, R & C Services. has a principal office address 555 Tombigbee Street Unit 103 
Jackson, MS 39201, and is in good standing to do business in this state, according to the 
information on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s website; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed contract contains the following provisions: 

SECTION 1 – LABOR AND MATERIALS 

Contractor shall furnish all labor, materials, supervision, and services necessary to do the work 
specified in the Scope of Work attached in Exhibit A and made a part hereof for the sum of 
$12,500.00. 

SECTION 2 – NOTICE TO PROCEED 

Vendor shall begin the work to be performed upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed “NTP” 
(Exhibit B).  The Vendor shall complete the work described in Exhibit A within thirty (30) 
calendar days of receipt of the NTP set forth in Exhibit B and attached hereto and made a part 
hereof. The City of Jackson may extend the performance period due to the presence of inclement 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          3 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

weather and resulting conditions, or those acts or occurrences beyond the reasonable 
contemplation of the parties at the time of execution of this Contract that materially alters the 
performance period upon which this Contract is based. The performance period may also be 
extended by the City of Jackson to afford vendor time to cure deficiencies in the work performed. 
The contract shall be deemed voidable ninety (90) days from the receipt of the written NTP if work 
has not been completed or at the discretion of the code enforcement officer. 
 
SECTION 3 – SPECIFICATIONS, CODES AND REGULATIONS 
 
Vendor shall comply with all appropriate specifications, including the general conditions provided 
separately to the Vendor and codes referred to therein, as well as all applicable and controlling 
Federal, Mississippi State and municipal law and permit reasonable inspection of all work by 
authorized inspectors. 
 
SECTION 4 – INSURANCE 
 
In carrying out the work herein proposed, the Vendor will maintain, at a minimum, the following 
insurance coverage: 
 
A. Vendor shall, at its expense, carry General Liability Insurance, with maximum bodily injury 
coverage of not less than $500,000 aggregate and $500,000 per occurrence, and property damage 
coverage of not less than $500,000 aggregate and $500,000 per occurrence.  
B. Vendor shall provide, at its expense, all applicable Mississippi Workman's Compensation 
insurance, unemployment compensation insurance, sickness and disability and/or social security 
insurance, and will comply with all local, state and federal laws and/or regulations relating to 
employment. 
C. Vendor shall, at its expense, carry Automotive Public Liability Insurance, with maximum limits 
of not less than $500,000 for one accident and Automotive Property Damage Insurance with 
maximum limits of not less than $500,000 for one accident, to protect from all claims arising from 
the use of the following: 
 
            (1)        Vendor’s own automobiles, trucks and/or vehicles 
            (2)        Hired automobiles, trucks and/or vehicles 
            (3)        Automobiles, trucks and/or vehicles owned by subcontractors 
The aforementioned is to cover use of automobiles, trucks and/or vehicles on and off the project 
sites. 
 
D. Vendor shall, at its expense, carry Owner's Protective Liability Insurance with the City of 
Jackson as a named insured and their servants, agents and employees as additional insured in 
amount not less than $500,000 as well as property damage liability coverage in the amount of 
$500,000 per occurrence and $500,000 aggregate for all damages arising out of injury to or 
destruction of property during the policy period. 
E. Pollution Liability Insurance Coverage with limits equivalent to those stated for General 
Liability. 
 
The Vendor shall carry all insurance as prescribed herein and all policies shall be with companies 
satisfactory to the City.  If a part of this contract is sublet, the Vendor shall require each 
Subcontractor to carry insurance of the same kinds and in like amounts carried by the prime 
Vendor. 
 
Certificates of insurance shall state that thirty (30) days written notice will be given to the City 
before the policy is canceled or changed.  No Vendor or Sub-vendor will be allowed to start any 
work pertaining to the Agreement until certificates of all insurance required herein are filed with 
and approved by the City.  The Certificates shall show the type, amount, class of operations 
covered, effective dates and dates of expiration of policies. 
 
SECTION 5 – ASBESTOS AND LEAD COMPLIANCE 
 
Vendor shall comply with the provisions of 29 CFR Part 1926(OSHA), governing the protection 
of workers disturbing lead painted surfaces. These provisions include, but are not limited to the 
following: 
 
1.  The Vendor shall contact the City’s inspector before disturbing any surfaces painted 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          4 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

with lead paint to document the content of lead on all painted surfaces to be disturbed. 
 
2.  The Vendor shall conduct air quality monitoring when appropriate for the type of activity to 
determine the level of worker protection required by OSHA.  If air quality monitoring results 
exceed 30 ug/cu for an 8-hour period, the worker blood testing and monitoring requirements 
provided by OSHA shall apply. 
 
3.  The Vendor shall provide personal protective equipment, including a respirator program, as is 
appropriate to the type of job as required by OSHA. 
4.  The Vendor shall provide proper containment of the work site and clean the work site not less 
than daily to contain lead dust. 
 
5.  The Vendor shall make proper facilities available for worker hygiene when entering or exiting 
a work area. 
 
6.  The Vendor shall provide for appropriate signage indicating the presence of a lead hazard when 
conducting work activities. 
 
7.  The Vendor shall ensure that specialized cleaning of containment areas is complete before re-
occupancy by the occupant of the house.  For activities that remove identified lead hazards, the 
contractor shall ensure that specialized cleaning is adequate to meet clearance standards adopted 
by the Department of Housing and Urban Development, (“HUD”) and the Mississippi Department 
of Health, (“MDH”.) 
 
8.  The Vendor shall comply with all relevant MS laws as well as 10 CFR 10.6.080, 10 CFR 6.240, 
and 10 CFR 6.250, EPA regulations at 40 CFR Part 61 governing asbestos, and OSHA worker 
protection regulations. 
 
9.  The Vendor shall furnish documentation to the City upon execution of this agreement proving 
that vendor is qualified to abate asbestos or has entered into a subcontract with an individual 
qualified to perform asbestos abatement.  If vendor subcontracts with an individual qualified to 
perform asbestos abatement, then a copy of the subcontract and the subcontractor’s asbestos 
abatement qualifications must be provided. 
10. The vendor shall provide demolition notification to the MDEQ ten (10) days before demolition 
activity when asbestos is present. 
 
SECTION 6 – PERMITS AND LICENSES 
 
The Vendor must obtain and pay for all permits and licenses necessary for the completion and 
execution of the work and labor to be performed. 
 
SECTION 7 – DEBRIS AND MATERIAL REMOVAL AND RESPONSIBILTY OF THE 
CONTRACTOR 
 
The Vendor shall keep the premises clean and orderly during the course of the work and remove 
all debris as it accumulates.  Materials and equipment that have been removed and replaced as part 
of the work shall belong to the Vendor, unless specified otherwise in the “Request for Quotes or 
Bids.”  The Vendor shall also dispose of demolition debris in compliance with State and Federal 
laws.  Vendor shall provide the City with receipts obtained in the disposal of demolition debris 
and all other materials removed from site. In lieu of disposal receipts for salvageable materials, 
Vendor shall submit proof of recycling or appropriate storage for repurposed materials. Vendors 
should provide a manifest for removal of tires. Tires must be dumped at a waste tire facility. 
 
In the event that the Vendor must engage in excavation of any kind, the Vendor shall comply with 
the MS Dig Law set forth in Section 77-13-1 to 77-13-37 of the Mississippi Code Before beginning 
any excavation, unless otherwise provided in the MS Dig Law, the vendor shall provide not less 
than three (3) and not more than ten (10) working days’ advance written, electronic, or telephonic 
notice of the commencement, extent, location and duration of the excavation work to Mississippi 
811, Incorporated, so that Mississippi 811, Incorporated, operator(s) may locate and mark the 
location of underground utility lines and underground facilities in the excavation area. 
 
SECTION 8 – ASSIGNMENTS AND SUBCONTRACTS 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          5 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

Neither party may assign all or any portion of this Agreement except for entering into a subcontract 
for abatement of asbestos without the prior written consent of the other.  Vendor is responsible for 
all work carried out by all sub-vendors. 
 
Vendor shall not subcontract any part of the work to be performed under this contract to any 
member, officer or employee of the CITY or its designees or agents, members of the governing 
body of the CITY, any other public official of such locality who exercises any functions or 
responsibilities with respect to the Community Development Program giving rise to this contract 
during this or her tenure or for one year thereafter. 
 
SECTION 9 – SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 
 
The Vendor binds itself, partners, successors, receivers, administrators, and assigns to the other 
party to this Agreement, and to the partners, successors, receivers, administrators, and assigns of 
each other party in respect of all of covenants this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 10 – NOTICES 
 
All notices, requests, demands, or other communications required by this Agreement, or desired 
to be given or made by either of the parties to the other hereto, shall be given or made by personal 
delivery or by mailing the same in a sealed envelope, postage prepaid, and addressed to the parties 
at their respective addresses set forth below or to such other address as may, from time to time, be 
designated by notice given in the manner provided in this Section. 
 

City of Jackson, Mississippi 
John Horhn, Mayor 
200 S. President Street 
Post Office Box 17 
Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0017 

3 Squares Ventures, LLC 
Don Derrell Price 
555 Tomnigbee Street Unit 103 
Jackson, MS. 39201 

 
SECTION 11 - DEFAULT AND TERMINATION PRIOR TO EXPIRATION OF TERM 
 
            

A. Defaults and Termination for Cause.   
 

If the Vendor (i) shall violate any substantial provision of this Agreement or if (ii) any material 
adverse change shall take place in the financial condition of the Vendor which would impair the 
Vendor's ability to perform its obligations hereunder, or (iii) should any of the Vendor's 
representations made hereunder prove to be incorrect or misleading (each an "Event of Default"); 
then the City may serve written notice upon the Vendor terminating this Agreement at a specified 
date, and this Agreement shall terminate on such date.  The Notice shall provide reasonable 
instructions to Vendor concerning actions to be taken in order to affect the rescission or termination 
of the contract, and Vendor agrees to abide the reasonable instructions.   The termination of the 
agreement based on default does not preclude or prohibit the City of Jackson from exercising any 
other remedy available to it at law or in equity.  Rescission or termination of the agreement is 
cumulative of other remedies available to the City of Jackson. 
 

B.        Termination for Convenience.   
 

The City, at any time, may terminate this Agreement without cause, in whole or in part, solely for 
its own convenience.  Any such termination shall be affected by delivering notice to the 
Vendor.  The Notice of Termination shall include reasonable instructions to the Contractor 
concerning actions to be taken in insuring that the termination is effective.  Vendor agrees to abide 
by the reasonable instructions provided in the Notice of Termination.  If termination is not for 
cause, the Vendor’s remedies pursuant to the provision of this agreement shall be limited to 
payment for services and work performed as of the date notice of termination. 
 
SECTION 12 - FEDERAL GRANTS 
 
In the event any federal grants or funding becomes available, the Vendor agrees to comply with 
such regulations or restrictions as may be required by the terms of such federal funding. 
SECTION 13 - GOVERNING LAW AND LEGAL REMEDIES 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          6 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
This agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Mississippi.  The Vendor expressly 
agrees that under no circumstances shall the CITY be obligated to pay attorney’s fees or the cost 
of legal action against the Vendor. 
 
SECTION 14 - INDEMNIFICATION 
The Vendor agrees to indemnify and hold CITY harmless from and against any and all claims, 
demands, liabilities, suits, judgments, injuries, costs, damages, losses, expenses, surcharges, fines, 
penalties, taxes, interests, assets and fees of every kind and nature whatsoever, including, without 
limitation, any of the foregoing, on account of death and injury to persons and losses of, or damage 
to, property, natural resources or the environment, including governmental and physician claims 
and creditor, reasonable attorney and other professional fees and costs arising out of or in 
connection with or caused by, in any way, the negligence, willful misconduct of or breach of 
agreement by the Vendor, to the extent not otherwise contributed to by the act or negligence of 
any indemnified party. 
 
The CONTRACTOR further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the CITY for all penalties, 
fines and other obligations which may be imposed by regulatory agencies, including but not limited 
to, the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality as a result of the Vendor’s negligence or 
wrongful failure to perform. 
 
SECTION 15 – GUARANTY 
 
The Vendor shall guarantee all materials and equipment furnished and work performed for a period 
of one (1) year from the date of final inspection.  The Vendor warrants and guarantees for a period 
of one (1) year from the date of final inspection of the project that all completed systems are free 
from any and all effects due to faulty materials or workmanship and the Vendor shall promptly 
make such corrections as may be necessary by reason of such defects including the repairs of any 
damage to other parts of the system resulting from such defects.  The CITY will give notice of 
observed defects with reasonable promptness.  In the event that the Vendor should fail to make 
such repairs, adjustments, or other work that may be made necessary by such defects, the CITY 
may, after giving thirty (30) days’ notice to the Vendor, do so and charge the Vendor the cost 
thereby incurred.  The CITY will in no way, guarantee that any defects due to faulty materials or 
workmanship will be corrected. 
 
SECTION 16 – NO AGENCY 
The Vendor is an independent contractor providing services to the City and the employees, agents, 
and servants of the Vendor shall in no event be considered to be the employees, agents, or servants 
of the City.  This Agreement is not intended to create an agency relationship between the Vendor 
and City. 
 
SECTION 17 – HEADINGS 
 
The headings used in this Agreement have been included solely for ease of reference and shall not 
be considered in the interpretation or construction of this Agreement. 
 
SECTION 18 – TIME FOR COMPLETION AND LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 
A. The date of beginning and the time for completion of the work are essential conditions of the 
Agreement and the work embraced shall be commenced on a date specified in the Notice to 
Proceed. 
B. The Vendor will proceed with the work at such rate of progress to insure full completion within 
the contract time.  It is expressly understood and agreed, by and between the Vendor and the CITY 
that the contract time for the completion of the work described herein is a reasonable time, taking 
into consideration the average climatic and economic conditions and other factors prevailing in the 
locality of the work. 
C. If the Vendor fails to complete the work within the Contract time or extension of time granted 
by the CITY, then the Vendor may be required to pay to the City the amount of $50 per day for 
liquidated damages for each calendar day that the Vendor shall be in default after the time 
stipulated in the contract documents. 
D. The Vendor shall not be charged with liquidated damages or any excess cost when the delay in 
completion of the work is due to the following, and the Vendor has promptly given written notice 
of such delay to the CITY: 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          7 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
1. To any preference, priority or allocation order duly issued by the CITY. 
2. To unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Vendors, 
including but not restricted to, Acts of God, or of the public enemy, acts of the CITY, acts of 
another Contractor in the performance of a contract with the CITY, fires, floods, 
epidemics/pandemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, and abnormal and 
unforeseeable weather, and 
3. To any delays of subcontractors occasioned by any of the causes specified in paragraphs (D1 
and D2 above). 
 
E. In the event that Vendor fails in any of its obligations under this Section, the CITY may take 
one or more of the following actions to protect its interests: 
1. Suspend the performance of the agreement until Vendor provides assurances that it intends to 
adhere to the said Standards of Professional Conduct; 
2. Terminate this Agreement upon giving three (3) days’ written notice of Vendor’s failure to 
adhere to the terms of this Section; 
3. Debar Vendor from future work for CITY for a period not less than six (6) months.  Vendor 
shall not circumvent debarment by performing such future work as a sub consultant for another 
consultant; or 
4. Pursue any other remedy available from a court of law or equity, including, but not limited to, 
injunctive relief or monetary damages. 
 
Vendor shall include in every subcontract identical language to this Section and Vendor shall be 
responsible for enforcing the terms of this Section against any of its subcontractors.  Any violation 
of this Section by a subcontractor shall subject Vendor to the remedies available to CITY for 
Vendor’s failure to adhere to the requirements of this Section. 
 
SECTION 19 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY, NONDISCRIMINATION, AND 
MINORITY BUSINESS ENTERPRISE UTILIZATION 
 
A. The Vendor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because 
of race, color, handicap, age, religion, sex, or national origin.  The Vendor will take affirmative 
action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, 
without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  Such action shall include, but not 
be limited to the following: employment, upgrading demotion, or transfer; recruitment advertising; 
layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, 
including apprenticeship. The Vendor agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees 
and applicants for employment, notices to be provided setting for the provisions of this 
nondiscrimination clause. 
 
B. The Vendor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of 
the Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without 
regard to race, color, religion, sex or national origin. 
 
C. The Vendor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a 
collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be provided by the 
Contract Compliance Officer advising the said labor union or workers’ representatives of the 
Contractor’s commitment under this section, and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous 
places available to employees and applicants for employment. 
 
D. The Vendor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1985, 
and of the rules, regulations and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 
 
E. The Vendor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant 
thereto, and will permit access to their books, records and accounts by the Department and the 
Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, 
regulations and orders. 
 
F. The Vendor will make affirmative efforts to utilize minority business enterprises for suppliers 
and subcontractors and will document efforts made to the City. 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          8 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

SECTION 20 – TRAINING AND EMPLOYMENT OF LOWER INCOME RESIDENTS OF 
PROJECT AREA 
 
A. The work to be performed under this contract is subject to the requirements of Section 3 of the 
Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 as amended, 12, U.S.C. 170l-u.  Section 3 requires 
that to the greatest extent feasible, opportunities for training and employment be given to lower 
income residents of the project area and contracts for work in connection with the project be 
awarded to business concerns which are located in, or owned in substantial part by persons residing 
in the area of the project. 
 
B. The parties to this contract will comply with the provisions of said Section 3 and the regulations 
issued pursuant thereto by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development and all applicable 
rules and orders of the Department issued hereunder prior to the execution of this contract.  The 
parties to this contract certify and agree that they are under no contractual or other disability that 
would prevent them from complying with these requirements. 
 
SECTION 21 – PAYMENT 
 

A.                The City shall pay the Vendor within 30 days but no later than 45 day of 
completion of the project upon receipt of final invoice and certification of satisfactory 
completion by the Department of Community Improvement Division. 
 
          

SECTION 22 – GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
This contract embodies all the representations, rights, duties and obligations of the parties, and any 
prior oral or written agreement not embodied herein shall not be binding upon or endure to the 
benefit of any of the parties    
         

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract and 
related documents with 3 Squares Ventures, LLC to demolish structure, foundation, steps, 
driveway and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, 
debris, and clean curbside to remedy conditions for property located at 2300 Margaret W 
Alexander Dr Jackson, MS 39213, which has been deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, 
and welfare. 

 
IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $12,500.00 shall be paid 

to 3 Squares Ventures, LLC for the services provided from funds budgeted for the Division. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          9 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 
 

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

President Grizzell recognized Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of Council, who provided a 
brief overview of said item.  

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

Thereafter, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    
 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND JONES LANDSCAPE AND 
CONTRACTOR SERVICES, LLC TO, CUT GRASS AND WEEDS, REMOVE 
TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND PERFORM OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE 
CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE 
TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO 
MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-25-621 
LOCATED AT 1536 ST CHARLES ST–PARCEL #125-73–$625.00. 
 
WHEREAS, on May 6, 2025, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 
welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          10 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

held on March 11, 2025, for Case #CE-25-621 located at 1536 St Charles Street parcel #125-73 in 
Ward 5 of the City of Jackson; and 

 
        WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 
Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 
conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 
and 

WHEREAS, Jones Landscape and Contractor Services, LLC submitted the lowest and 
best bid through Donald Jones, and has agreed to cut grass and weeds, remove trash and debris, 
and remedy the conditions for case #CE-25-621 located at 1536 St Charles St Jackson, MS 39209 
with the quoted price of $625.00; and 

 
WHEREAS, Jones Landscape and Contractor Services, LLC has a principal office located 

at 3172 Bilgray Drive, Jackson, Mississippi 39212, and is in good standing to do business in this 
state, according to the information on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s website; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed contract contains the following provisions: 
 

SECTION 1 - SCOPE OF VENDOR’S SERVICES: 
 
Vendor shall furnish all labor, materials, supervision, and services necessary to do the work 
specified in the attached Scope of Work description constituting Exhibit A and made a part hereof 
for the total sum not to exceed $625.00. 
 
SECTION 2 - COMPENSATION: 
 
The City shall pay Vendor the sum specified in Section 1 above for successful completion of the 
work described. 
 
The Vendor shall be notified if a case is closed prior to issuance of a Notice to Proceed (Exhibit 
B), and no compensation shall be paid to the Vendor when a case is closed prior to issuance of a 
Notice to Proceed. 
 
 SECTION 3 - PERIOD FOR PERFORMANCE: 
 
Vendor shall begin the work to be performed upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) 
(Exhibit B).  The Vendor shall complete the work described in Exhibit A within seven (7) calendar 
days of receipt of the NTP set forth in Exhibit B and attached hereto and made a part hereof. The 
City of Jackson may extend the performance period due to the presence of inclement weather and 
resulting conditions, or those acts or occurrences beyond the reasonable contemplation of the 
parties at the time of execution of this Contract that materially alters the performance period upon 
which this Contract is based.  The performance period may also be extended by the City of Jackson 
to afford Vendor time to cure deficiencies in the work performed. The contract shall be deemed 
voidable thirty (30) days from the receipt of the written NTP if work has not been completed. 
 
SECTION 4 - COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL LAW: 
Vendor shall comply with federal, state, and local municipal laws in performing the work and 
understands that work performed will be subject to inspection prior to the tendering of payment 
by the City. 
 
SECTION 5 - INSURANCE: 

1. Vendor agrees to maintain General Liability Insurance Coverage for injury to person or 
property in the amount of $100,000.00 per person and $100,000.00 per occurrence and 
shall pay all premiums related to the maintenance of the coverage. 

2. Vendor agrees to maintain, if required under the Mississippi Workers’ Compensation Act, 
insurance for sickness, disability, or other injury of an employee arising out of and in the 
course of the employment. 

3. Vendor agrees to maintain automobile liability insurance coverage for injury to person or 
property with minimum limits in the amount of $25,000.00 per person and $50,000.00 per 
occurrence. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          11 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

4. Vendor agrees to furnish original certificates of insurance verifying the procurement of the 
coverage upon execution of the contract, and the same shall be attached and made a part of 
this Contract. 

SECTION 6 - DEBRIS AND MATERIAL REMOVAL: 
 
The Vendor shall keep the premises clean and orderly during the course of the work and remove 
all debris as it accumulates.  Materials and equipment that have been removed and replaced as part 
of the work shall belong to the Vendor unless specified otherwise.  The Vendor shall dispose of 
debris and rubbish in accordance with federal, state, and local laws and regulations. Vendor shall 
provide the City with receipts obtained in the disposal of debris and all other materials removed 
from site. 
 
SECTION 7 - ASSIGNMENTS AND SUBCONTRACTS: 
 
Vendor shall not assign all or any portion of the work or enter into subcontracts for the performance 
of the work without the prior written consent of the City. 
 
Vendor shall not enter into a subcontract for any part of the work to be performed under this 
contract with any member, officer, or employee of the City or its designees or agents, members of 
the governing body of the City, or any other public official of such locality who exercises any 
functions or responsibilities associated with the procurement of labor to remedy conditions on 
private property which threaten public health, safety, and welfare. 
 
SECTION 8 - SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS: 
 
The terms of this Contract shall be binding upon Vendor’s successors in interests and assignees of 
the Vendor if written consent for the assignment has been provided by the City of Jackson. 
 
SECTION 9 - NOTICES: 
 
All notices, requests, demands, or other communications required by this Contract or desired to be 
given or made by either of the parties to the other hereto shall be given or made by personal 
delivery or by mailing the same in a sealed envelope, postage prepaid, and addressed to the parties 
at their respective addresses set forth below or to such other address as may, from time to time, be 
designated by notice given in the manner provided in this Section. 
 

City of Jackson, Mississippi 
John Hornh, Mayor 
200 S. President Street 
Post Office Box 17 
Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0017 

Jones Landscape and Contractor Services 
LLC 
Donald Jones 
3172 Bilgray Dr. 
Jackson, MS 39212 

 
SECTION 10 - DEFAULT AND TERMINATION: 

A. Defaults and Termination for Cause.  

If the Vendor (i) shall violate any substantial provision of this Contract, including but not limited 
to satisfactory performance of the work or (ii) should any of the Vendor’s representations to the 
City of Jackson prove to be incorrect or misleading, the City may declare the Vendor to be in 
default and serve written notice of the breach or default and terminate the contract.  If the breach 
or default concerns the satisfactory performance of the work, an opportunity to cure within seven 
(7) days shall be afforded the Vendor prior to termination of the contract. If the default has not 
been cured upon expiration of the cure period, liquidated damages equivalent to three percent (3%) 
of the compensation payable shall be assessed for each day that the work remains incomplete. 
Subject to the severity of the breach or default, the City may terminate the contract and the Vendor 
shall not be entitled to any compensation. Vendor shall subsequently be suspended from entering 
into additional contracts for a minimum period of sixty (60) days.    
 
The termination of the Contract for cause does not preclude or prohibit the City from exercising 
any other remedy available to it at law or in equity.  Rescission or termination of the Contract is 
cumulative of other remedies available to the City. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          12 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
B. Termination for Convenience. 

 
The City, at any time, may terminate this Contract without cause, in whole or in part, solely for its 
own convenience.  Any such termination shall be affected by delivering a Notice of Termination 
to the Vendor.  The Notice of Termination shall include reasonable instructions to the Vendor 
concerning actions to be taken in insuring that the termination is effective.  Vendor agrees to abide 
by the reasonable instructions provided in the Notice of Termination.  If termination is not for 
cause, the Vendor’s remedies pursuant to the provision of this Contract shall be limited to payment 
for services and work performed prior to the date that the notice of termination is delivered.  For 
purposes of this provision, when notice of the termination of the Contract is by mail, the 
termination is considered to have been received three (3) days after the depositing of the notice in 
the mail addressed to the Vendor. 
 
SECTION 11 - LAW AND LEGAL REMEDIES: 
 
This Contract shall be governed by the laws of the State of Mississippi.  The Vendor expressly 
agrees that under no circumstances shall the City be obligated to pay attorney’s fees or the cost of 
legal action pursued by the Vendor against the City. 
SECTION 12 - INDEMNIFICATION: 
 
The Vendor agrees to indemnify and hold City harmless from and against any and all claims, 
demands, liabilities, suits, judgments, injuries, costs, damages, losses, expenses, surcharges, fines, 
penalties, taxes, interests, assets, and fees of every kind and nature whatsoever, including, without 
limitation, any of the foregoing, on account of death and injury to persons and losses of or damage 
to property, natural resources or the environment, reasonable attorney’s fees, and other 
professional fees and costs arising out of or in connection with or caused in any way by the 
negligence, willful misconduct, or breach of this Contract by the Vendor, to the extent the loss was 
not otherwise contributed to by the act or negligence of the City. 
 
The Vendor further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City for all penalties, fines and 
other obligations which may be imposed by regulatory agencies as a result of the Vendor’s 
negligence or wrongful failure to perform. 
 
SECTION 13 - PARTIES’ RELATIONSHIP: 
 
The Vendor is an independent contractor providing services to the City.  The employees, agents, 
and servants of the Vendor shall not be considered to be the employees, agents, or servants of the 
City.  Neither the Vendor nor his/her employees, agents, or servants shall be afforded the benefits 
and protections customarily afforded municipal employees.  No agency relationship is created as 
a result of this Contract between the City and Vendor. 
 
SECTION 14 - HEADINGS: 
 
The headings used in this Contract have been included solely for ease of reference and shall not 
be considered in the interpretation or construction of this Contract. 
 
SECTION 15 -TIME FOR COMPLETION AND LIQUIDATED DAMAGES: 

A. The dates for completion of the work are essential conditions of the Contract.  Vendor may 
proceed with performance of the work referenced in the Scope of Work upon issuance of 
the Notice to Proceed. 

B. The Vendor will proceed with the work at such rate of progress to insure full completion 
within the contract time.  It is expressly understood and agreed, by and between the Vendor 
and the City that the contract time for the completion of the work described herein is a 
reasonable time, taking into consideration the weather and the work anticipated to be 
performed on the subject property. 

C. If the Vendor fails to complete the work within the performance period stated or any written 
extension of the performance, then liquidated damages equivalent to three percent (3%) of 
the compensation payable shall be assessed for each day that the work remains incomplete. 

D. The Vendor shall not be charged with liquidated damages for the delay in performance of 
the work if the following occurs: 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          13 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

1. The Vendor has a contract with the City to perform work on a parcel other than the parcel 
which is the subject of this Contract, and the Vendor receives written notice from the City 
that the remedying of conditions on parcel(s) other than the subject parcel should be given 
priority attention. 

2. Unforeseen circumstances beyond the control of the Vendor such as Acts of God, disasters, 
riots, floods, fires, quarantines, epidemics. 

E. If the Vendor fails to perform any of its obligations under the Contract, the City may take 
one or more of the following actions to protect its interest: 

1. Suspend the performance of the Contract until Vendor provides assurances that it 
intends to comply with the terms of this Contract concerning the time for 
performance; 

2. Terminate this Contract upon giving three (3) days’ written notice of Vendor’s 
failure to comply with the terms of the Contract concerning time for performance; 

3. Debar Vendor from further contracts related to the remedying of conditions on 
property which constitute a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for a period 
of at least sixty (60) days.  Vendor shall not circumvent debarment by performing 
work as a sub-contractor for another Vendor; or  

4. Pursue any other remedy available from at law or equity, including, but not limited 
to, injunctive relief or monetary damages in a court of competent jurisdiction. 

Vendor shall include in every subcontract identical language to this Section and Vendor shall be 
responsible for enforcing the terms of this Section against any of its subcontractors.  Any violation 
of this Section by a subcontractor shall subject Vendor to the remedies available to City for 
Vendor’s failure to adhere to the requirements of this Section. 
 
SECTION 16 - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY, NONDISCRIMINATION, AND 
MINORITY BUSINESS ENTERPRISE UTILIZATION: 
 

A. The Vendor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, color, handicap, age, religion, sex, or national origin. The Vendor will take 
affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed and that employees are treated 
during employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The 
Vendor agrees to post notices setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause 
in conspicuous places where employees and applicants for employment may visit. 

B. The Vendor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf 
of the Vendor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment 
without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

C. The Vendor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which the 
Vendor has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice 
advising the labor union or workers’ representatives of the Vendor’s commitment under 
this section and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places visited by employees 
and applicants for employment. 

D. The Vendor will comply with all federal laws governing Wage and Hour, COBRA, 
affordable healthcare, and Family Medical Leave. 

E. The Vendor will furnish all information and reports required by the City of Jackson. 

The Vendor will make affirmative efforts to utilize minority business enterprises for suppliers and 
subcontractors and will document efforts made to the City. 
SECTION 17 - PAYMENT: 

A. The City shall pay the Vendor within forty-five (45) days of its inspection and certification 
that the work has been satisfactorily completed. 

B. The City may withhold sums for liquidated damages from the final payment. 

SECTION 18 - GENERAL PROVISIONS: 

A. This Contract shall consist of this agreement and related attachments. This Contract and 
related attachments contain all the representations, rights, duties and obligations of the 
parties, and any prior oral or written agreement not contained within this Contract and 
related attachments shall not be binding upon or inure to the benefit of any of the parties. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          14 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

B. The failure of the City to insist upon a specific performance or condition by the Vendor 
shall not constitute a waiver unless the City expressly waives the performance or condition 
in writing. 

C. The provisions of this Contract shall be construed severally to the extent 
practical.  Therefore, if any provision of this Contract is adjudged to be illegal, unlawful, 
or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the invalid provision shall not result in 
the nullification of the entire Contract unless the Contract cannot be practically construed 
in the absence of the invalid provision. 

                   IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract 
with Jones Landscape and Contractor Services, LLC, upon receipt of a written Notice to 
Proceed, to board up and secure structure, cut vegetation, and remedy conditions on the property 
located at 1536 St Charles Street Jackson, MS 39209, which has been deemed to be a menace to 
public health, safety, and welfare. 
 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $625.00 shall be paid 
to Jones Landscape and Contractor Services, LLC, upon the completion of the services provided 
from funds budgeted for the Division. 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          15 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 
 

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

President Grizzell recognized Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of Council, who provided a 
brief overview of said item.  

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

Thereafter, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
APPROVAL OF THE SEPTEMBER 9, 2025 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING MINUTES. 

Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

President Grizzell recognized Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of Council, who provided a 
brief overview of said item.  

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          16 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

Thereafter, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
APPROVAL OF THE SEPTEMBER 10, 2025 SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING MINUTES. 

Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 
 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

President Grizzell recognized Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of Council, who provided a 
brief overview of said item.  

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

Thereafter, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
APPROVAL OF THE SEPTEMBER 15, 2025 REGULAR ZONING MEETING 
MINUTES. 

Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 
 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

President Grizzell recognized Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of Council, who provided a 
brief overview of said item.  

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

Thereafter, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
There came on for Introduction, Agenda Item No. 8: 
 

ORDINANCE AMENDING MOBILE FOOD VENDING ORDINANCE TO ADD 
THE ADDITIONAL CLASSIFICATION OF MOBILE TENT VENDOR, 
ESTABLISH FEES FOR EACH CLASS OF VENDOR, AND INCLUDE 
PROVISIONS ON SEVERABILITY AND CONFLICT. President Grizzell stated that 
said item would be placed on the next Regular Council agenda to be held on October 21, 2025 

 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDINANCE AMENDING MOBILE FOOD VENDING ORDINANCE TO ADD 
THE ADDITIONAL CLASSIFICATION OF MOBILE TENT VENDOR, 
ESTABLISH FEES FOR EACH CLASS OF VENDOR, AND INCLUDE 
PROVISIONS ON SEVERABILITY AND CONFLICT.  
 
WHEREAS, law enforcement officers dedicate their lives to protecting and serving their 

communities, facing danger daily to ensure the safety and well-being of all citizens; and 
 

WHEREAS, our city and county communities have been profoundly impacted by the 
tragic loss of Deputy Sergeant Martin L. Shields, Jr., a dedicated member of the Hinds County, 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          17 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

Mississippi Sheriff’s Office who was killed in the line of duty on February 23, 2025 while 
selflessly performing his duties; and 
 

WHEREAS, Deputy Sergeant Martin L. Shields, Jr. bravely and professionally served the 
citizens of Jackson and Hinds County, Mississippi with compassion and dedication, fulfilling his 
duty to “protect and serve”; and 
 

WHEREAS, as a Police Officer in Jackson, Mississippi, in August, 2019, Officer Shields 
received the I AM COJ award, an employee recognition program that acknowledges the exemplary 
service and commitment to the job.  
 

WHEREAS, Deputy Sergeant Martin L. Shields, Jr. served with distinction and 
unwavering dedication as a Police Officer initially with the City of Jackson, Mississippi, then with 
the City of Ridgeland, Mississippi and lastly, as a Deputy Sergeant with the Hinds County, 
Mississippi Sheriff’s Office.  
 

WHEREAS, Deputy Sergeant Shields leaves behind a legacy of integrity, dedication, and 
unwavering loyalty to public safety, and will be deeply missed by colleagues, family members, 
friends, and the entire community he served; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is fitting and appropriate to acknowledge the ultimate sacrifice made by 
Deputy Shields and to express our deepest gratitude for his service and heroism; 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson, Mississippi extends its sincere condolences and 
appreciation to his wife and daughter and other family and loved ones of Deputy Sergeant Shields; 
and 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson, Mississippi desires to establish a lasting 
memorial to honor the life and service of Deputy Sergeant Martin L. Shields, Jr. and to ensure his 
sacrifice is never forgotten. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, hereby renames Northview Drive between Hartfield Street and East 
Mayes Street to “Martin L. Shields, Jr. Memorial Way” as a perpetual reminder of his heroism and 
commitment to duty this 26th day of August, 2025.   
 
Council Member Parkinson moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Grizzell recognized Katrin Davis of the Deputy Marin L. Shields, Jr. Foundation, 
Tyree Jones, Interim Chief of Police, Jackson Police Department and Mayor John Horhn, 
who provided a brief overview of said item.  

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

After a thorough discussion, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None.  
Absent – None.    
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDINANCE AMENDING SPECIFIC SECTIONS OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON’S FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION ORDINANCE TO REMOVE THE 
“FREEBOARD” REGULATION AND IMPLEMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
RECEIVED FROM THE MISSISSIPPI EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
AGENCY.  

 
WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson adopted ordinances related 

to the prevention of flood damage; and 
 

            WHEREAS, the ordinances are codified at Chapter 62 of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances; and 
 
            WHEREAS, recommendations for the modification of the City of Jackson’s flood plain 
ordinances were received from the Mississippi Emergency Management Agency; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          18 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

            WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Economic Development has considered the 
recommendations and determined that the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by 
amending existing ordinances to implement the recommendations; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-7 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains a definition 
for dryfloodproofing as follows: Dryflood proofing means any combination of structural and 
nonstructural additions, changes, or adjustments to structure which reduce or eliminate flood 
damages to real estate or improved real estate property, water, and sanitary facilities, structures, 
and their contents.  Structures shall be floodproofed with a minimum of 18 inches of freeboard 
(more is recommended) in relation to the base flood elevation.  Dry floodproofing of a pre-FIRM 
residential structure has not been substantially damaged or improved is allowed.  Dry 
floodproofing of a post-FIRM residential building is not allowed.  Nonresidential structures may 
be dry floodproofed in all flood zones with the exception of the coastal high hazard area or the 
coastal AE zone; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that the definition of Dryflood proofing be amended to 
read as follows: Dryflood proofing means any combination of structural and nonstructural 
additions, changes, or adjustments to structure which reduce or eliminate flood damages to real 
estate or improved real estate property, water, and sanitary facilities, structures, and their content.
Dry floodproofing of a pre-FIRM residential structure has not been substantially damaged or 
improved is allowed.  Dry floodproofing of a post-FIRM residential building is not 
allowed.  Nonresidential structures may be dry floodproofed in all flood zones with the exception 
of the coastal high hazard area or the coastal AE zone; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-7 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains a definition 
for flood protection elevation as follows:   Flood protection elevation means the base flood 
elevation plus the community freeboard.  In areas where no base flood elevation exists from any 
authoritative source, the flood protection elevation can be historical elevations or base flood 
elevations determined and/or approved by the floodplain administrator plus freeboard; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that the definition of flood protection elevation be 
amended as follows:  Flood protection elevation means the base flood elevation .  In areas where 
no base flood elevation exists from any authoritative source, the flood protection elevation can be 
historical elevations or base flood elevations determined and/or approved by the floodplain 
administrator; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-7 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains a definition 
for Freeboard as follows:  Freeboard means a factor of safety, usually expressed in feet above the 
BFE, which applied for the purposes of floodplain management.  Communities are encouraged to 
adopt at least an 18-inch freeboard to account for the one-foot rise built into the concept of 
designating a floodway, where floodways have not been designated; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-7 of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended to repeal and delete the definition of freeboard; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-32 (2)(a) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  Upon establishment/placement of the lowest floor, before framing continues, 
to include any approved floodproofing method by whatever construction means, it shall be the 
duty of the permit holder to submit to the floodplain administrator a certification of the NAVD or 
NGVD elevation of the lowest floor or floodproofed elevation, as built, in relation to mean sea 
level.  Said certification shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of a registered land 
surveyor or professional engineer, who is authorized by the State of Mississippi to certify such 
information, and certified by same.  When floodproofing is utilized for a particular building said 
certification shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of a professional engineer or 
architect, who is authorized by the State of Mississippi to certify such information, and certified 
by same.  Floodproofing shall be required to be 18 inches above the base flood elevation; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-32(2)(a) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended to read as follows:    Upon establishment/placement of the lowest floor, 
before framing continues, it shall be the duty of the permit holder to submit to the floodplain 
administrator a certification of the NAVD or NGVD elevation of the lowest floor or as built, in 
relation to mean sea level.  Said certification shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          19 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

of a registered land surveyor or professional engineer, who is authorized by the State of Mississippi 
to certify such information, and certified by the same; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-32(b) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  Any work undertaken prior to submission of the certification shall be at the 
permit holder’s risk.  The floodplain administrator shall review the lowest floor and floodproofing 
elevation survey data submitted.  The permit holder immediately and prior to further progressive 
work being permitted to proceed shall correct deficiencies detected by such review.  Failure to 
submit the survey or failure to make said corrections required hereby shall be cause to issue a stop 
work order for the project; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-32(b) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  Any work undertaken prior to submission of the 
certification shall be at the permit holder’s risk.  The floodplain administrator shall review the 
lowest floor elevation survey data submitted.  The permit holder immediately and prior to further 
progressive work being permitted to proceed shall correct deficiencies detected by such 
review.  Failure to submit the survey or failure to make said corrections required hereby shall be 
cause to issue a stop work order for the project; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-32(c) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  In any lot or lots/areas that have been removed from the special flood hazard 
area via a letter of map revision based on fill, and if the top of fill level is below the freeboard 
elevation, all new structures, additions to existing buildings or substantial improvement must meet 
the required community freeboard elevation; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-32(c) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended by repealing and deleting the section in its entirety; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-41(5) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  Electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning equipment and 
other service facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or 
accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding, such facilities shall be located 
a minimum of 18 inches above the base flood elevation; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-41(5) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  Electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air 
conditioning equipment and other service facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to 
prevent water from entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding; 
and 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-41(13) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  New construction and substantial improvement of any building (both in and 
outside the SFHA) shall have the lowest floor (including basement) at least one foot above at the 
centerline of the designated street, unless the topography of the property does not allow for strict 
adherence as determined by the floodplain administrator; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-41(13) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  New construction and substantial improvement of any 
building (both in and outside the SFHA) shall have the lowest floor  at the centerline of the 
designated street, unless the topography of the property does not allow for strict adherence as 
determined by the floodplain administrator; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-42(1) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  Residential construction.  New construction and substantial improvement of 
any residential building (including manufactured home) shall have the lowest floor, including 
basement, elevated to no lower than 18 inches above the base flood elevation.  Should foundation 
perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, flood openings sufficient to automatically equalize 
hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls of enclosures that are subject to flooding, shall be 
provided in accordance with standards of subsection (4) of this section.  New development 
proposals will be designed, to the maximum extent practicable, so residential building sites, 
walkways, driveways, and roadways are located at natural grade with elevation not less than the 
base flood elevation and with evacuation routes leading directly out of the special flood hazard 
area; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          20 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

            WHEREAS it is recommended that Section 62-42(1) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  New construction and substantial improvement of any 
residential building (including manufactured home) shall have the lowest floor.  Should foundation 
perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, flood openings sufficient to automatically equalize 
hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls of enclosures that are subject to flooding, shall be 
provided in accordance with standards of subsection (4) of this section.  New development 
proposals will be designed, to the maximum extent practicable, so residential building sites, 
walkways, driveways, and roadways are located at natural grade with elevation not less than the 
base flood elevation and with evacuation routes leading directly out of the special flood hazard 
area; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-42-(2) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  Nonresidential construction.  New construction and substantial improvement 
of any commercial, industrial, or nonresidential building (including manufactured building) shall 
have the lowest floor including basement, elevated to no lower than 18 inches above the base flood 
elevation.  Buildings located in all A zones may, together with attendant utility and sanitary 
facilities, be floodproofed in lieu of being elevated provided that all areas of the building below 
the base flood elevation plus a minimum of 18 inches of freeboard are water tight with walls 
substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and use structural components having the 
capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effect of buoyancy.  Dry 
floodproofing is allowed only where flood velocities are less than or equal to five feet per 
second.  A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the standards of this 
subsection are satisfied.  A flood emergency operation plan and an inspection and maintenance 
plan must be provided by the design professional for the building.  Such certification shall be 
provided to the floodplain administrator.  New development proposals will be designed, to the 
maximum extent practicable, so nonresidential building sites, walkways, driveways, and roadways 
are located at natural grade with elevation not less than the base flood elevation and with 
evacuation routes leading directly out of the special flood hazard area; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-42(2) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  Nonresidential construction.  New construction and 
substantial improvement of any commercial, industrial, or nonresidential building (including 
manufactured building) shall have the lowest floor including basement. Buildings located in all A 
zones may, together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, be floodproofed in lieu of being 
elevated provided that all areas of the building below the base flood elevation are water tight with 
walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and use structural components having the 
capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effect of buoyancy.  Dry 
floodproofing is allowed only where flood velocities are less than or equal to five feet per 
second.  A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the standards of this 
subsection are satisfied.  A flood emergency operation plan and an inspection and maintenance 
plan must be provided by the design professional for the building.  Such certification shall be 
provided to the floodplain administrator.  New development proposals will be designed, to the 
maximum extent practicable, so nonresidential building sites, walkways, driveways, and roadways 
are located at natural grade with elevation not less than the base flood elevation and with 
evacuation routes leading directly out of the special flood hazard area; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-42(4)(d) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  Property owners shall be required to execute a flood openings/venting 
affidavit acknowledging that all openings will be maintained as flood vents, and that the 
elimination or alteration of the openings in any way will violate the requirements of this 
section.  Periodic inspections will be conducted by the floodplain administrator to ensure 
compliance; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-42(4)(d) be deleted in its entirety and the 
following language substituted:  Property owners shall be required to execute and record with 
the structure’s deed a flood openings/venting affidavit acknowledging that all openings will 
be maintained as flood vents, and that the elimination or alteration of the openings in any 
way will violate the requirements of this Section.  Periodic inspections will be conducted by 
the Floodplain Administrator to ensure compliance; and 
 
            WHEREAS Section 62-42(5) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  Detached storage buildings, sheds, or other like accessory improvements, 
excluding detached garages, carports, and boat houses, shall solely be used for parking of vehicles 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          21 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

and storage.  Such storage space shall not be used for human habitation and shall be limited to 
storage of items that can withstand exposure to the elements and have low flood damage 
potential.  The storage space shall be constructed of flood-resistant or breakaway materials, and 
equipment and service utilities, such as electrical outlets, shall be limited to essential lighting and 
other incidental uses, and must be elevated or floodproofed.  Flood openings in accordance with 
the standards of subsection (4) of this section shall also be required.  These accessory structures 
shall be constructed and placed on the building site so as to offer the minimum resistance to the 
flow of floodwaters.  Accessory improvements and other appurtenant structures shall be firmly 
anchored to prevent flotation that may result in damage to other structures; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-42(5) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended as follows:  Detached storage buildings, sheds, or other like accessory 
improvements, excluding detached garages, carports, and boat houses, shall solely be used for 
parking of vehicles and storage and will be allowed up to no more than 499 square feet of 
unfinished, non-partitioned and enclosed storage space.  Such storage space shall not be used 
for human habitation and shall be limited to storage of items that can withstand exposure to the 
elements and have low flood damage potential.  The storage space shall be constructed of flood-
resistant or breakaway materials, and equipment and service utilities, such as electrical outlets, 
shall be limited to essential lighting and other incidental uses, and must be elevated or 
floodproofed.  Flood openings in accordance with the standards of subsection (4) of this section 
shall also be required.  These accessory structures shall be constructed and placed on the building 
site so as to offer the minimum resistance to the flow of floodwaters.  Accessory improvements 
and other appurtenant structures shall be firmly anchored to prevent flotation that may result in 
damage to other structures; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-42(7)(a)(1) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains 
the following language:  1.  Elevated on a permanent foundation to have its lowest floor elevation 
to no lower than 18 inches above the base flood elevation, and; 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-42(7)(a)(1) of the City of Jackson Code 
of Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  1.  Elevated on a permanent foundation to have its 
lowest floor elevation; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-42(7)(b) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains the 
following language:  All manufactured homes placed or substantially improved, excepting 
manufactured homes that have incurred substantial damage as a result of a flood, in an existing 
manufactured home park or subdivision must be elevated so that; and 
 
            WHEREAS it is recommended that Section 62-42(7)(b) of the City of Jackson Code of 
Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  All manufactured homes, excepting manufactured 
homes that have incurred substantial damage as a result of a flood, in an existing manufactured 
home park or subdivision must be elevated so that; and 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-42(7)(b)(1) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances contains 
the following language: The lowest floor of the manufactured home is elevated to no lower than 
18 inches above the base flood elevation and be securely anchored to an adequately anchored 
foundation support system to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral movement; and 
 
            WHEREAS, it is recommended that Section 62-42(7)(b)(1) of the City of Jackson Code 
of Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  The lowest floor of the manufactured home is 
elevated to the base flood elevation and be securely anchored to an adequately anchored 
foundation support system to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral movement.  Dry stacked blocks 
(stacked without the use of mortar or cement to bond them together are not allowed within 
the Special Flood Hazard Area.  or; and; 
 
            WHEREAS, Section 62-44 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances was reserved; and 
 
          WHEREAS, it is recommended that the following language be codified at Section 62-44 
of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances: 
 

Sec. 62-44. – Standards for Shallow Flooding Zones 
 

Located within the areas of special flood hazard established in Article 3, Section B, are areas 
designated as shallow flooding areas. These areas have flood hazards associated with base flood 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          22 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

depths of one to three feet, where a clearly defined channel does not exist and the water path of 
flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate; therefore, the following provisions, in addition to the 
standards of Article 5, Sections A and B apply: 
 

1. All new construction and substantial improvements of residential structures shall: 
 

a. Have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above the highest adjacent 
grade at least as high as the depth number specified in feet on the Flood Insurance 
Rate Map plus a minimum of two (2) feet If no depth number is specified, the lowest 
floor, including basement, shall be elevated to no less than three feet six inches 
above the highest adjacent grade. 

 

2. All new construction and substantial improvements of non-residential structures shall: 
 

b. Have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above the highest adjacent 
grade at least as high as the depth number in feet specified on the FIRM plus a 
minimum of two feet.   If no depth number is specified, the lowest floor, including 
basement, shall be elevated to no less than three feet six inches above the highest 
adjacent grade. 
 

c. Together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities be completely floodproofed 
to or above the highest adjacent grade at least as high as the depth number in feet 
specified on the FIRM plus a minimum of two (2) feet so that any space below that 
level is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and 
with structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and 
hydrodynamic loads and effects of buoyancy. Certification is required as stated in 
Article 5, Section B (2). 

 

3. Adequate drainage paths shall be established around structures on slopes to guide 
floodwaters around and away from proposed structures. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, that the following ordinance amendments are approved: 
 
Section 62-7 Definitions: 
Dryflood proofing means any combination of structural and nonstructural additions, changes, or 
adjustments to structure which reduce or eliminate flood damages to real estate or improved real 
estate property, water, and sanitary facilities, structures, and their contents.  Dry floodproofing of 
a pre-FIRM residential structure has not been substantially damaged or improved is allowed.  Dry 
floodproofing of a post-FIRM residential building is not allowed.  Nonresidential structures may 
be dry floodproofed in all flood zones with the exception of the coastal high hazard area or the 
coastal AE zone. 
Flood protection elevation means the base flood elevation.  In areas where no base flood elevation 
exists from any authoritative source, the flood protection elevation can be historical elevations or 
base flood elevations determined and/or approved by the floodplain administrator. 
Freeboard.  Repealed. 
 
Section 62-32(a) Upon establishment/placement of the lowest floor, before framing continues, , it 
shall be the duty of the permit holder to submit to the floodplain administrator a certification of 
the NAVD or NGVD elevation of the lowest floor or as built, in relation to mean sea level.  Said 
certification shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of a registered land surveyor or 
professional engineer, who is authorized by the State of Mississippi to certify such information, 
and certified by same. Section 62-32(b) Any work undertaken prior to submission of the 
certification shall be at the permit holder’s risk.  The floodplain administrator shall review the 
lowest floor elevation survey data submitted.  The permit holder immediately and prior to further 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          23 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

progressive work being permitted to proceed shall correct deficiencies detected by such 
review.  Failure to submit the survey or failure to make said corrections required hereby shall be 
cause to issue a stop work order for the project. 
 
Section 62-32(c) Repealed. 
 
Section 62-41(5) Electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning equipment and other 
service facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or 
accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding.  
 
Section 62-41(13) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances be amended to read as follows:  New 
construction and substantial improvement of any building (both in and outside the SFHA) shall 
have the lowest floor at the centerline of the designated street, unless the topography of the 
property does not allow for strict adherence as determined by the floodplain administrator. 
 
Section 62-42(1) New construction and substantial improvement of any residential building 
(including manufactured home) shall have the lowest floor.  Should foundation perimeter walls be 
used to elevate a structure, flood openings sufficient to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood 
forces on exterior walls of enclosures that are subject to flooding, shall be provided in accordance 
with standards of subsection (4) of this section.  New development proposals will be designed, to 
the maximum extent practicable, so residential building sites, walkways, driveways, and roadways 
are located at natural grade with elevation not less than the base flood elevation and with 
evacuation routes leading directly out of the special flood hazard area. 
 
Section 62-42(2) Nonresidential construction.  New construction and substantial improvement of 
any commercial, industrial, or nonresidential building (including manufactured building) shall 
have the lowest floor including basement.  Buildings located in all A zones may, together with 
attendant utility and sanitary facilities, be floodproofed in lieu of being elevated provided that all 
areas of the building below the base flood elevation are water tight with walls substantially 
impermeable to the passage of water, and use structural components having the capability of 
resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effect of buoyancy.  Dry floodproofing is 
allowed only where flood velocities are less than or equal to five feet per second.  A registered 
professional engineer or architect shall certify that the standards of this subsection are satisfied.  A 
flood emergency operation plan and an inspection and maintenance plan must be provided by the 
design professional for the building.  Such certification shall be provided to the floodplain 
administrator.  New development proposals will be designed, to the maximum extent practicable, 
so nonresidential building sites, walkways, driveways, and roadways are located at natural grade 
with elevation not less than the base flood elevation and with evacuation routes leading directly 
out of the special flood hazard area. 
 
Section 62-42(4)(d) Delete current language and substitute with:  Property owners shall be 
required to execute and record with the structure’s deed a flood openings/venting affidavit 
acknowledging that all openings will be maintained as flood vents, and that the elimination or 
alteration of the openings in any way will violate the requirements of this Section.  Periodic 
inspections will be conducted by the Floodplain Administrator to ensure compliance. 
 
Section 62-42(5) Detached storage buildings, sheds, or other like accessory improvements, 
excluding detached garages, carports, and boat houses, shall solely be used for parking of vehicles 
and storage and will be allowed up to no more than 499 square feet of unfinished, non-partitioned 
and enclosed storage space.  Such storage space shall not be used for human habitation and shall 
be limited to storage of items that can withstand exposure to the elements and have low flood 
damage potential.  The storage space shall be constructed of flood-resistant or breakaway 
materials, and equipment and service utilities, such as electrical outlets, shall be limited to essential 
lighting and other incidental uses, and must be elevated or floodproofed.  Flood openings in 
accordance with the standards of subsection (4) of this section shall also be required.  These 
accessory structures shall be constructed and placed on the building site so as to offer the minimum 
resistance to the flow of floodwaters.  Accessory improvements and other appurtenant structures 
shall be firmly anchored to prevent flotation that may result in damage to other structures. 
Section 62-42(7)(a)(1) 1.  Elevated on a permanent foundation to have its lowest floor elevation.  
 
Section 62-42(7)(b) All manufactured homes, excepting manufactured homes that have incurred 
substantial damage as a result of a flood, in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision 
must be elevated so that: and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          24 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
Section 62-42(7)(b)(1) The lowest floor of the manufactured home is elevated to base flood 
elevation and be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation support system to resist 
flotation, collapse, and lateral movement.  Dry stacked blocks (stacked without the use of mortar 
or cement to bond them together are not allowed within the Special Flood Hazard Area.  or 
Section 62-44-Standards for Shallow Flooding Zones 
 

Located within the areas of special flood hazard established in Article 3, Section B, are areas 
designated as shallow flooding areas. These areas have flood hazards associated with base flood 
depths of one to three feet, where a clearly defined channel does not exist and the water path of 
flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate; therefore, the following provisions, in addition to the 
standards of Article 5, Sections A and B apply: 
 

1. All new construction and substantial improvements of residential structures shall: 
 

a. Have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above the highest adjacent 
grade at least as high as the depth number specified in feet on the Flood Insurance 
Rate Map plus a minimum of two (2) feet If no depth number is specified, the lowest 
floor, including basement, shall be elevated to no less than three feet six inches 
above the highest adjacent grade. 

 

2. All new construction and substantial improvements of non-residential structures shall: 
 

a. Have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above the highest adjacent 
grade at least as high as the depth number in feet specified on the FIRM plus a 
minimum of two feet.   If no depth number is specified, the lowest floor, including 
basement, shall be elevated to no less than three feet six inches above the highest 
adjacent grade. 
 

b. Together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities be completely floodproofed 
to or above the highest adjacent grade at least as high as the depth number in feet 
specified on the FIRM plus a minimum of two (2) feet so that any space below that 
level is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and 
with structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and 
hydrodynamic loads and effects of buoyancy. Certification is required as stated in 
Article 5, Section B (2). 

 

3. Adequate drainage paths shall be established around structures on slopes to guide 
floodwaters around and away from proposed structures. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this ordinance shall take effect thirty days after its passage and 
publication unless the governing authority determines that it should become effective immediately 
due to the immediate and temporary preservation of the public peace, health, or safety, or for other 
good cause.  Such a determination must be adopted by a unanimous vote of all members of the 
governing body. 

 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

President Grizzell recognized Sondra Moncure, Special Assistant to the City Attorney, who 
provided a brief overview of said item.  

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

After a thorough discussion, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Parkinson.  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          25 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

Nays – Clay and Stokes.  
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 32825 to 32909 APPEARING AT 
PAGES 1 TO 23 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 
CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $7,851,088.36 AND MAKING 
APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 
 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 32825 to 32909 appearing at pages 1 

to 23, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 
$7,851,088.36 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 
immediate payment thereof. 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 
                                                                                                    

                   TO 
                 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

         FROM:                                                                                          FUND 
GENERAL FUND   1,208,834.37 
TECHNOLOGY FUND   151,666.12 
PARKS & RECR. FUND  147,137.42 
LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  183,071.45 
STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND   18,501.00 
DISABILITY RELIEF FUND   150,070.83 
EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE FUND   64,779.00 
HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  119,520.80 
EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT   28,481.49 
DPS-HOMELAND SECURITY   9,426.77 
1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX   3,756,685.50 
TRANSPORTATION FUND   745,372.22 
HAIL DAMAGE MARCH 2013  2,495.00 
2015 A/B G.O. REFUNDING   317,906.26 
COVID-19 RESPONSE FUND   221,955.00 
MODERNIZATION TAX   47,346.74 
CDBG COVID CARES   7,481.50 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK   10,188.44 
LIBRARY FUND   171,704.17 
DFA-SB2971-TOUGALOO CENTER   7,390.99 
MDOT-CMPDD PROJECTS   1,163.36 
BELHAVEN COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT   69.93 
2023 ED BRYNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE   40,700.00 
2024 GO REDUNDING NOTE   432,440.00 
GF SIEMENS SETTLEMENT ACCOUNT    6,700.00 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $7,851,088.36 
 

Council Member Parkinson moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded.  
          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Grizzell recognized Jillian Caldwell, Interim Chief Financial Officer and Mayor 
John Horhn, who provided a brief overview of the larger claims at the request of President 
Grizzell. 

           _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Thereafter, President Grizzell, called for a vote of said order:  
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          26 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 
 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 32825 TO 32909 AND MAKING 
 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 32825 to 32909 
inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $96,326.08 
plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 
municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 
 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 
fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 
payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

 
         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     
                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 

GENERAL FUND  2,714,530.77 
PARKS & RECR FUND  85,620.40 
LANDFILL FUND  25,992.46 
SENIOR AIDES  1,915.02 
WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  43,507.28 
PAYROLL  96,326.08  
HOUSING COMM DEV  5,545.71 
TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  2,690.21 
TRANSPORTATION FUND  16,270.80 
PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  2,503.58 
2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,572.25 
ZOOLOGICAL PARK  30,177.82 
NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING COMM  3,903.39 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,940,229.69 
 

Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF FIRST AMERICAN EQUIPMENT 
FINANCING TO PROVIDE LEASE PURCHASE FINANCING FOR FIFTEEN 
(15) VEHICLES FOR THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE MASTER LEASE-
PURCHASE AGREEMENT, ESCROW AGREEMENT AND ALL OTHER 
DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR FUNDING THE 2025 LEASE PURCHASE 
TRANSACTION. 
WHEREAS, on December 17, 2024, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 

approved a resolution declaring the official intent of the City of Jackson, Mississippi to reimburse 
itself from the proceeds of a Master Lease Purchase Agreement for the purchase of fifteen (15) 
vehicles for the Jackson Police Department; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 31-7-13(e) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as annotated, provides 
that lease-purchase financing may be obtained from a vendor or third-party source after having 
solicited and obtained at least two (2) written competitive bids for such financing without 
advertising for bids. Solicitation for the bids for financing may occur before or after acceptance of 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          27 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

bids for the purchase of equipment, or, where no such bids for purchase are required, at any time 
before the purchase thereof; and 
 

WHEREAS, on August 28, 2025, the Department of Administration issued a solicitation 
for sealed proposals for the lease-purchase interest rate financing for $609,000.00 for the purchase 
of public safety vehicles in The Mississippi Link; and 
 

WHEREAS, on September 9, 2025, at City Hall, the Department of Administration 
received three competitively sealed proposals for RFP# 94654-090925 Lease Purchase Financing 
Interest Rate Proposal, which were as follows: 
 
Company Interest Rate Total Interest Total Payments 
Baystone Government 
Finance 5.8700% $64,175.60 $673,176.60 
First Government Lease 
Co. 6.50% $118,755.00 $727,755.00 
First American 
Equipment Finance 4.469% $48,500.76 $657,500.76 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Administration represents that First American Equipment 
Finance submitted the lowest and best proposal to finance fifteen (15) public safety vehicles for 
$609,000.00 with a three-year financing agreement at a 4.469% interest rate with the total interest 
of $48,500.76; and 
 

WHEREAS, the principal amortization table, which sets forth how much money the City 
of Jackson will pay in principal and interest over time, is attached herein and incorporated by 
reference in Exhibit A; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Administration recommends acceptance of the proposal 
of First American Equipment Finance as the lowest and best bid and authorizes the Mayor to 
execute the 2025 Master Lease Purchase Agreement at an interest rate of 4.469% for a three-year 
term, with a total interest of Forty Eight Thousand, Five Hundred Dollars and Seventy Six Cents 
($48,500.76), with the semi-annual payment for year one (FY2026) to year three (FY2028) set at 
$109,583.45 to the governing authorities of the City of Jackson. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED by the governing authorities for the City of to accept 
the proposal of First American Equipment Finance as the best bid. 
 

IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED by the governing authorities for the City of Jackson that 
the Mayor is authorized to execute the 2025 Master Lease Purchase Agreement at an interest rate 
of 4.469% for a three-year term, with a total interest of Forty-Eight Thousand, Five Hundred 
Dollars and Seventy-Six Cents ($48,500.76), with the semi-annual payment for year one (FY2026) 
to year three (FY2028) set at $109,583.45. 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Grizzell recognized Pieter Teeuwissen, Chief Administrative Officer, who provided 
a brief overview of said item and stated that said item would be pulled by the Administration.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Thereafter, President Grizzell recognized Council Member Stokes and Vice President Hartley 
withdrew their motion and second.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH 
THE POLICE EXECUTIVE RESEARCH FORUM (PERF) TO CONDUCT THE 
SEARCH TO FILL THE VACANCY OF CHIEF OF POLICE FOR THE JACKSON 
POLICE DEPARTMENT. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code as amended states that the 

governing authorities of every municipality shall have the care, management, and control of 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          28 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

municipal affairs and its property and finances and may adopt orders, resolutions, or ordinances 
with respect to same which are not inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, the 
Mississippi Code of 1972, or any other statute or law of the State of Mississippi; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Police Executive Research Forum (PERF) is a nonprofit organization 

dedicated to police research and policy organization and a provider of management services, 
technical assistance, and executive-level education to support law enforcement agencies; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department desires to enter into a contract with PERF to 

assist with conducting a search to fill the vacancy of Chief of Police; and 
 

            WHEREAS, the PERF intends to complete its services with the following timeline: 
 

Proposed Timeline 
Date Task/Deliverable 
10/7/25 Approval of contract in 10/7/25 meeting 

10/10/25 Finalize position announcement 
10/13/25-10/17/25 Post the position announcement and begin the recruiting pr

ocess 
11/9/25 Application deadline 
11/24/25 or 12/1-2/25 Call to recommend candidates 
12/8/25 (week of) Virtual interviews 
12/18-
19/25 or 1/5/26 (week 
of) 

In-person interviews 

1/23/26 **approximate
** 

Finalist Selection - after completion of BI 

Candidate Start Date – Determined by parties 
 
and as more specifically outlined in the steps in the document titled Attachment: Technical 
Proposal, which is hereby incorporated by reference into this Agreement in its entirety as if fully 
set forth herein and is deemed an integral part of the Agreement; and 
 
            WHEREAS, PERF will charge $65,000.00 for these services, payable upon the 
completion of the Selection Services specified in section 2 of the Agreement; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 3.4 of the City’s Personal and Professional Services Manual 
(2024), the governing authorities determine it is in the best interest of the City to award this 
contract without competition, and the services provided are necessary to meet the City’s 
operational needs; and 

 
WHEREAS, the contract is fair market value for the goods and services and the best 

interest of the City of Jackson would be served by entering into the contract to fill the Chief of 
Police vacancy and the City has sufficient funding to pay the contract. 
            IT IS, THEREFORE ORDERED, that the Mayor is authorized to enter into the contract 
with PERF for the scope of services outlined in the Agreement and the document 
titled Attachment: Technical Proposal, which is hereby incorporated by reference into this 
Agreement in its entirety as if fully set forth herein, and the Mayor may execute all documents 
necessary to fulfill the terms and items contemplated in the contract, the terms of the contract is 
made part of these minutes, and that City is authorized to pay the contract in accordance with its 
terms. 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Grizzell recognized Mayor John Horhn, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

After a thorough discussion, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          29 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – Clay.  
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER APPROVING THE PAYMENT OF $300.00 FOR JACKSON POLICE 
DEPARTMENT’S MEMBERSHIP IN THE REGIONAL ORGANIZED CRIME 
INFORMATION CENTER (ROCIC). 
 
WHEREAS, a Regional Information Sharing Systems Center (RISS) was chartered in 

1973 and has several member states as follows:  Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, 
Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, 
and West Virginia; and, 
 

WHEREAS, access to the RISS Center is available to agencies that are active members of 
the Regional Organized Crime Information Center, and, 
 

WHEREAS, the ROCIC offers multiple services to its members agencies, including but 
not limited to criminal intelligence, analysts, and analytical products, audio/video forensics, digital 
forensics; and, 
 

WHEREAS, Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5 authorizes a municipality to pay professional 
association dues for individuals if the public entity determines that the professional association 
dues or licensing fees are reasonable and necessary to the performance of the employee’s duties 
and the membership must accrue to the benefit of the municipality, and any benefit to the 
individual must be merely incidental; and, 
 

WHEREAS, membership in the ROCIC is available to any local, state, federal or tribal 
organization approved under federal or state law with law enforcement or criminal investigation 
authority and power of arrest and prosecution; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Police Department is a local organization with law 
enforcement and criminal investigation authority and is eligible for membership in the ROCIC; 
and, 
 

WHEREAS, membership in the ROCIC for the 2025-2026 year is $300.00 (Invoice # 
0069895-IN, dated June 01, 2025); and, 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s best interest would be served by authorizing the 
payment of the membership dues, so that the Jackson Police Department would have access to the 
RISS, which will benefit the municipality and any benefit to the individual is merely incidental. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 
determine that ROCIC professional association dues are reasonable and necessary to the 
performance of the JPD’s duties and that the membership accrue to the benefit of the municipality, 
and any benefit to the Jackson Police Department is merely incidental. 
 

IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED that the JPD is authorized to pay Invoice # 0069895-IN, 
dated June 01, 2025 for membership in the ROCIC for the 2025-2026 year in the amount of 
$300.00. 
 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded. 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF REPAIRS, EQUIPMENT AND 
SERVICES FOR THALIA MARA HALL AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO 
BECK STUDIOS, INC. AND JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC. PURSUANT TO THE 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          30 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

OCTOBER 16, 2024 DECLARATION INVOKING EMERGENCY 
PROCUREMENT PROCEDURE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor of the City of Jackson executed the October 16, 2024 Declaration 
Invoking Emergency Procurement Procedure - Expanded ("Emergency Procurement Declaration") 
related to Thalia Mara Hall, a copy of which is attached hereto, for the purpose of addressing the 
following issues of immediate concern: 
 

1. Remediation of microbial growth and all other hazards that might be discovered. 
 
2.  Repairs of plumbing leaks and roof leaks. 
3.  Replacement of the A/C unit (one (1) chiller has already been purchased and installed). 
4.  Repairs to correct all findings contained in the State Fire Marshal's Report.; and 

 
          WHEREAS, one finding by the State Fire Marshal was that the fire curtain installed at 
Thalia Mara Hall no longer met the applicable fire code regulations; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services procured a replacement fire 
curtain from Beck Studios, Inc. in the amount of $221,955.00, a copy of the invoice for the fire 
curtain being attached hereto and made a part of the minutes; and  

 
         WHEREAS, the fire curtain is required to be stored prior to its installation at a charge of 
$2,000.00 by Beck Studios, Inc, a copy of the invoice for storage being attached hereto and made 
a part of the minutes; and 
  
          WHEREAS, the remediation of microbial growth required that all components of the HVAC 
system be functional to allow for the regulation of the environment inside Thalia Mara Hall; and 
 

WHEREAS, during other work, one of the air handlers was discovered to be leaking, 
which required a repair to a cooling coil tube; and 
 
  WHEREAS, Johnson Controls, Inc. provided the necessary, emergency repairs to the 
leaking cooling tube at a cost of $404.50, as shown in the invoice attached hereto and made a part 
of the minutes; and 
 
           WHEREAS, the funds for these payments will come from the following accounts; 
 

Beck Studios, Inc. $221,955.00 BUILDINGS & 
STRUCTURES 

371-41910-6812 

Beck Studios, Inc. $2,000.00 OTHER 
PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES 

445-43350-6419  

Johnson Controls, Inc, $404.50 OTHER 
PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES 

445-43350-6419 

 
 IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the procurement of repairs, equipment, and 
services from Beck Studios, Inc. and Johnson Controls, Inc., pursuant to the October 16, 2024 
Declaration Invoking Emergency Procurement Procedure - Expanded for Thalia Mara Hall is 
hereby ratified. 
           

IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED that payments in the amount of $221,955.00 for 
equipment and $2,000.00 for storage services to Beck Studios, Inc. and payment in the amount 
of $404.50 for equipment repairs to Johnson Controls, Inc., pursuant to the October 16, 2024 
Declaration Invoking Emergency Procurement Procedure - Expanded for Thalia Mara Hall, are 
hereby authorized consistent with the invoices attached hereto and made a part of the minutes. 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          31 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          32 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          33 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          34 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
     
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Parkinson seconded. 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF CONSTRUCTION, REPAIRS AND 
SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO MCI CONSTRUCTION FOR 
WORK AT THALIA MARA HALL PURSUANT TO THE OCTOBER 16, 2024 
DECLARATION INVOKING EMERGENCY PROCUREMENT PROCEDURE. 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor of the City of Jackson executed the October 16, 2024 
Declaration Invoking Emergency Procurement Procedure - Expanded ("Emergency 
Procurement Declaration") related to Thalia Mara Hall, a copy of which is attached hereto, 
for the purpose of addressing following issues of immediate concern: 

 
 1. Remediation of microbial growth and all other hazards that might be discovered. 
 
 2.  Repairs of plumbing leaks and roof leaks. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          35 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
3.  Replacement of the A/C unit (one (1) chiller has already been purchased and installed). 

 
 4.  Repairs to correct all findings contained in the State Fire Marshal's Report.; and 
 

WHEREAS, the construction, repairs, and services provided by Mississippi Commercial 
Industrial Construction Company, LLC are within the scope of the Emergency Procurement 
Declaration and are critical to the ongoing remediation and repair project at Thalia Mara Hall; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Mississippi Commercial Industrial Construction Company, LLC provided 
air quality test cleaning, stage cleaning, main water supply repair, backflow preventer installation, 
installation of an elevator machine room enclosure, and replace a cast iron water supply line and 
submitted invoices for such work, totaling $85,450.00, copies of which are attached hereto; and 
 

WHEREAS, the funds for these payments will come from the following accounts: 
 
Mississippi Commercial 
 
Industrial Construction Company, LLC 
 
$15,900.00 
 
OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 
445-43350-6419 
 
Mississippi Commercial 
 
Industrial Construction Company, LLC 
 
$24,950.00 
 
OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 
445-43350-6419 
 
Mississippi Commercial 
 
Industrial Construction Company, LLC 
 
$24,950.00 
 
BUILDINGS & 
 
STRUCTURES 
 
371-41910-6812 
 
Mississippi Commercial 
 
Industrial Construction Company, LLC 
 
$19,650.00 
 
BUILDINGS & 
 
STRUCTURES 
 
371-41910-6812 
 
 IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the procurement of construction, repairs, and 
services from Mississippi Commercial Industrial Construction Company, LLC pursuant to the 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          36 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

October 16, 2024 Declaration Invoking Emergency Procurement Procedure - Expanded for Thalia 
Mara Hall is hereby ratified. 
 

IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED that payment in the amount of $85,450.00 to Mississippi 
Commercial Industrial Construction Company, LLC for construction, repairs, and services 
performed pursuant to the October 16, 2024 Declaration Invoking Emergency Procurement 
Procedure - Expanded for Thalia Mara Hall is hereby authorized. 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          37 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          38 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          39 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          40 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          41 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          42 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          43 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          44 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          45 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          46 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, THE 
CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION CENTER COMMISSION, AND THE JACKSON 
CONVENTION VISITORS BUREAU TO PROVIDE FOR THE OPERATION, 
MANAGEMENT, MAINTENANCE, AND IMPROVEMENT OF THALIA MARA 
HALL. 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“City”) owns Thalia Mara Hall (“TMH”), 
a historic theater which has hosted numerous cultural and entertainment events over the last 50 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          47 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

years, including ballet, opera, Broadway musicals, concerts, and plays, and which also serves as 
the home for the USA International Ballet Competition; and 

WHEREAS, the City intends to fully restore TMH as a showcase of culture and 
entertainment in the City, to be a destination to draw tourists and local residents to enjoy events 
and to generate economic opportunities; and 

WHEREAS, it is necessary to maintain and enhance public access and use of TMH; and  

WHEREAS, the Capital City Convention Center Commission a/k/a Jackson Convention 
Center (“JCC”) is in the business of operating and maintaining a large public access facility, 
including providing venue management services for public and private events; and 

WHEREAS, Jackson Convention & Visitors Bureau (“Visit Jackson”) is the official 
destination marketing organization for the City of Jackson, serving the Jackson community by, 
among other things, securing tourism activities to improve economic impact for the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City finds it to be in its best interest to enter into an Agreement with JCC 
and the Visit Jackson (collectively, “Parties”) to provide for the operation, management, 
maintenance, and improvement of TMH; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties intend for this Agreement to govern all aspects of operating, 
managing, maintaining, and improving TMH, including staffing, financial oversight, event 
promotion and contracting, and marketing and promoting TMH; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties believe that this Agreement will enable operational efficiency, 
expand cultural offerings, and generate economic benefits for the City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, this Agreement will ensure that the City maintains ownership of TMH while 
collaborating with JCC and Visit Jackson to ensure the success of TMH as a cultural and 
community asset; and 

WHEREAS, JCC will be directly responsible for day-to-day management, maintenance, 
staffing, and financial oversight of TMH and will integrate the venue into its existing systems for 
event coordination; and 

WHEREAS, Visit Jackson will enhance visibility and promote the use of THM by curating 
productive relationships with producers and promoters who deliver live events that bring audiences 
to THM and downtown Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties agree to prioritize affordable rates for local organizations and 
developing a diverse event calendar to promote cultural enrichment and economic growth; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises, 
covenants, and agreements herein contained, the Parties hereby set out the terms and conditions 
by which the City engages JCC and Visit Jackson to operate, manage, maintain, and improve TMH 
and to promote and host live events as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS. 

a. The term "Capital Repairs" shall mean any and all repairs to or replacement of any furniture, 
fixtures, machinery, or equipment, which cost in excess of $10,000.00. 

b. Capital Improvements shall mean any and all additional furniture, fixtures, machinery or 
equipment; and any and all building additions, alterations, or renovations which cost in excess of 
$10,000.00. 

c. “Emergency Expenses” shall mean those extraordinary, unanticipated, and non-recurring costs 
that are not reasonably contemplated in the ordinary course of operating the TMH, and that must 
be incurred to prevent or mitigate (i) imminent harm to the health or safety of patrons, staff, or the 
general public; (ii) significant damage to TMH or its equipment, fixtures, or systems; or (iii) 
material interruption of the TMH’s operations. 

Emergency Expenses include, without limitation: (1) costs arising from fire, flood, storm, natural 
disaster, or other casualty; (2) urgent repairs to critical building systems (including HVAC, 
electrical, plumbing, structural, or life-safety systems) made necessary by sudden or unexpected 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          48 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

breakdowns; (3) costs required by governmental order or emergency regulation; and (4) any other 
extraordinary costs reasonably determined by JCC and VISIT JACKSON to be immediately 
necessary for the protection of persons, property, or the continuity of TMH’s operations. 

Emergency Expenses expressly exclude routine maintenance, ordinary wear-and-tear items, and 
any other expenses that are reasonably foreseeable and capable of being budgeted in advance. 

d. "Fiscal Year" means the City’s fiscal year, which commences on October 1 of each 

Year. 

e. “Facility Management Fee (FMF)”" shall mean a nominal and fixed fee added to the purchase 
price of all tickets, the purpose of which is to generated revenue for operating and capital expenses, 
as negotiated by the Parties. The FMF shall be collected on all paid tickets by all ticketed audience 
members at events at TMH. The FMF amount per ticket shall be $3.00 for organizations who 
qualify as Resident Organizations and participate in the Resident Organization Program. The FMF 
for non-Resident Organizations shall be $5.00 per ticket.  

f. "Operating Expenses" shall mean any and all expenses and expenditures of whatever kind or 
nature incurred, directly or indirectly, in providing services under this Agreement including 
expenses and expenditures for maintenance and repair that are not Capital Repairs, all as 
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied; 
provided that Operating Expenses shall not include expenses or expenditures in connection with 
Capital Repairs and capital improvements as provided under this Agreement.  

g. "Operating Revenues" shall mean any and all revenues of every kind or nature derived, directly 
or indirectly, from owning, operating, managing or promoting TMH, all as determined in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied. 

h. “Net Operating Revenues”" shall mean annual “Operating Revenues" minus annual “Operating 
Expenses". 

i. “Resident Organization" shall mean an entity that regularly uses THM, in addition to such other 
requirements as shall be set forth in the "Resident Organization Program." 

j. “Resident Organization Program” shall mean the program that will be developed to assist 
qualifying entities in their use of TMH for live events by providing certain preferred rates for rental 
and other expenses associated with producing a live event at THM. 

2. TERM & EARLY TERMINATION 

a. Term and Termination: This Agreement will take effect on the date indicated by the last 
signature and remain active for an initial term of three (3) years. 

i. Renewal Period. The parties may agree to extend the term of this Agreement for up to two 
additional three (3)-year periods, known as "Renewal Periods". 

The parties may negotiate the terms and conditions for venue management services to be provided 
during such renewal periods, and agreement is to be reached on such terms and conditions no later 
than six months prior to the end of the then current term. Time is of the essence for such six (6)-
month notice period; provided, however, that the City may waive the benefit of such notice in 
writing if such waiver is deemed to be in the City’s best interest. This notice period shall not affect 
the parties' ability to terminate this Agreement early, as provided herein below. Six (6) months 
prior to the expiration of the initial term or any renewal term, if the parties have not agreed to the 
terms of an extension, all expenditures in excess of $5,000.00 shall be approved by the City in 
advance. JCC and VISIT JACKSON shall reimburse the City for any expenditures made without 
such approval. 

b. Early Termination. 

i. Termination for Convenience. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon sixty (60) days’ 
prior written notice, subject to payment of (i) non-cancelable vendor penalties and deposits; (ii) 
prepaid marketing previously approved by the City and Visit Jackson; (iii) City-approved 
reasonable wind-down costs; and (iv) pro-rata management fees earned through the effective date 
of termination. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          49 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

ii. Lack of Appropriations and/or Operating Funds. This Agreement is executory only to the extent 
of monies appropriated and available. If the City, in its sole discretion, determines that sufficient 
appropriations and/or operating funds are not available to continue the Agreement, the City may 
terminate; provided, however, that such termination shall be subject to the payments described 
above. JCC may suspend performance during the notice period if payments are not current. 
Following such termination, the parties may resume their obligations if and when funding is 
restored by mutual written agreement. 

iii. For Cause. Any Party may terminate this Agreement for cause effective upon thirty (30) days' 
prior written notice to the purportedly at-fault Party, unless another time is specified within Section 
3, "Events of Default/Breach & Remedies". Cause shall include, but not be limited to, material 
breaches and events of default, as described herein below. 

iv. Following notice by any Party of its intent to terminate this Agreement early pursuant to this 
section, JCC and VISIT JACKSON shall be required to obtain approval in advance for all 
expenditures in excess of $5,000.00. JCC and VJ shall reimburse the City for all expenditures for 
which they fail to obtain such advance approval. 

c. Surrender. Upon termination of this Agreement, whether by expiration of a management term 
or early termination, permission to use the City’s premises (including TMH), furniture, fixtures, 
and equipment shall be revoked. Thereafter, JCC and Visit Jackson shall promptly vacate and 
surrender TMH and any and all furniture, fixtures, and equipment contained therein, making any 
repairs reasonably necessary to restore the premises to the condition in which it was received, 
reasonable wear and tear excepted. Such surrender shall be complete not later than sixty (60) days 
after written notice of termination. All reports and records, including financial records, maintained 
by JCC and/or Visit Jackson relating to this Agreement, other than materials containing a party’s 
proprietary information, shall be delivered to the City; provided that JCC may retain copies of non-
public records as reasonably necessary for audit, tax, archival, and defense purposes, subject to 
applicable confidentiality obligations. 

3. EVENTS OF DEFAULT/BREACH & REMEDIES 

a. Termination for Cause- Events of Default & Breach. 

i. JCC and Visit Jackson may terminate this Agreement upon the occurrence of an event of default 
caused by one or more of the City’s actions or inactions, as follows below: 

1. the City fails to make payments required by this Agreement; or 

2. the City fails in any material respect to perform or comply with any of the other terms, 
covenants, agreements or conditions of this Agreement, and such failure continues without cure 
for more than sixty (90) days after written notice thereof from the party claiming the occurrence 
of an event of default. Upon receipt of such written notice, such party shall promptly undertake 
such actions as may be necessary to cure the claimed default. 

ii. The City shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice upon 
the occurrence of an event of default caused by one or more actions or inactions by JCC and/or 
Visit Jackson, including below: 

1. An admission by a Party in writing of its inability to pay its debts as they become due; 

2. The filing of a petition for Bankruptcy or for reorganization or arrangement under the 
Bankruptcy code as now or in the future amended, or file a pleading asking for such relief, or have 
or suffer to be filed an involuntary petition in Bankruptcy against it which is not contested and 
discharged within sixty (60) days; 

3. Making an assignment for the benefit of creditors; 

4. Consenting to an appointment of a trustee or receiver for all or a major portion of its property; 

5. Being adjudicated a Bankrupt or insolvent under any Federal or State law; 

6. Suffering the entry of a Court Order under any Federal or State Law appointing a receiver or 
trustee for all or a major portion of its property or ordering the winding up or liquidation of its 
affairs or approving a petition filed against it under the Bankruptcy code, as now or in the future 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          50 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

amended, which order, if not consented to by it shall not be vacated, denied, set aside or stayed 
within 60 days of its entry; or 

7. Discovery of misappropriation by JCC, Visit Jackson, or any representative or employee of 
either, of any funds belonging to the City that are in the possession or control of JCC and/or Visit 
Jackson, including without limitation monies from any operating fund or capital fund. JCC and 
Visit Jackson agree to carry fidelity insurance or bond in the City’s favor to make it whole in the 
event of such an event of default or material breach. 

b. Remedies 

i. The Parties shall have the right to pursue all rights and remedies available to them at law or in 
equity. 

ii. In the event of expiration or termination to this Agreement, all allowable Operating Expenses 
incurred or committed prior to the date of expiration or termination shall be paid using funds on 
deposit in the account(s) maintained by JCC and Visit Jackson for operation and management of 
TMH. 

iii. Upon termination or expiration, all further obligations of the Parties hereunder shall terminate 
except for the obligations that are intended to survive the termination or expiration of this 
Agreement, including, without limitation, obligations to make payments for amounts due and 
owing, to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City, and to maintain and disclose records, 
audits, and reports. 

4. SCOPE OF SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY JCC: JCC will oversee event sales, catering 
services, and facility maintenance, ensuring high-quality service and safety standards. 

a. Venue Management Services. 

i. JCC will manage and operate TMH for concerts and other live events (collectively "Venue 
Management Services"), consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. The Parties 
adopt the Service Level Addendum attached hereto as “SLA Exhibit” regarding maintenance 
standards, response times, event readiness, cleanliness, POS/ticketing uptime, reporting deadlines. 
City-directed tasks beyond the approved budget and SLA Exhibit or this Agreement require written 
change orders. 

ii. JCC shall have control and authority over the day-to-day operations of TMH, including with 
respect to Venue Management Services, consistent with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement. Provided, however, that JCC shall follow City policies and guidelines applicable to 
TMH in effect on the Effective Date. Any new or revised policy that increases JCC’s cost or 
reduces TMH revenue shall be implemented only upon the parties’ mutual written agreement, 
together with a corresponding adjustment to the approved budget and/or City subsidy. 

iii. Under this Agreement and the SLA Exhibit, Venue Management Services include the 
following: 

1. maintain, on behalf of the City, an event booking calendar containing relevant information about 
future events scheduled to occur at TMH, including a master set of booking records and schedules 
for events to be held at TMH. 

2. The City, JCC, and Visit Jackson shall adopt policies related to booking, hold procedures, civic 
vs. commercial priorities, blackout periods, and a conflict-resolution path. To the extent any such 
decisions related to booking and marketing require City approval, such approval shall be acted on 
within 15 business days or deemed approved 

3. employ, supervise, and direct employees and personnel for the effective management of TMH; 

4. provide adequate and qualified staffing during events, including any periods of loading-in, 
loading-out, and event related cleaning; 

5. provide day-to-day administrative services in support of the Venue Management Services, 
including the maintenance of records; 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          51 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

6. collect and remit to the proper governmental authorities any taxes, including, but not limited to, 
sales tax, where such taxes arise out of goods or services sold by JCC, as part of this Agreement; 

7. consistent with the terms of this Agreement, and to the extent of available funding, including 
funding provided by the City, cause TMH, to be in compliance with applicable law, including, but 
not limited to, providing access for persons with disabilities consistent with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (as amended) to the extent that such access can reasonably be provided utilizing 
Operating Expenses, to the extent that any ADA violation exists at the time of executing this 
agreement, any penalties and remediation cost for such ADA non-compliance shall be the 
responsibility of the City separate and apart from any subsidy or management fee to JCC already 
set in this Agreement; 

8. establish reasonable rules for the use of the TMH, including applicable laws and policies and 
guidelines established by the City, where such rules address issues of health, safety, welfare, and 
decorum; 

9. provide within the Premises adequate wayfinding signage for patrons; 

10. impose appropriate fees on admissions, with the amounts collected from the imposition of such 
fees to be used in operating and maintaining TMH, including the payment of all Operating 
Expenses. ; 

11. negotiate, administer, and execute in JCC’s name agreements reasonably necessary for the 
provisions of this Agreement, where such agreements may include licenses, occupancy 
agreements, sponsorship agreements (including but not limited to all naming rights, advertising 
and pouring rights agreements), rental agreements, booking commitments, supplier agreements, 
and service contracts, and may include license agreements with concert promoters; provided, 
however, that in the event that any such agreements extend beyond the then-current term of this 
Agreement, advance written approval is obtained from the City and provided, further, that such 
agreements are otherwise consistent with the terms of this Agreement; 

12. perform event-related facility maintenance as may be reasonably needed to maintain TMH and 
the furniture, fixtures, and equipment in good repair and a clean condition, reasonable wear and 
tear excepted, and in compliance with all applicable laws, where such law includes federal, state, 
and local laws, rules, and regulations; 

13. manage and coordinate the activities of the food and beverage services concessionaire; 

14. establish and adjust prices, rates and rate schedules, subject to the approval of the Director of 
Human and Cultural Services for the City of Jackson (“Director”), for any licenses, agreements 
and contracts and any other commitments relating to TMH to be negotiated by JCC in the course 
of its management, operation and promotion of TMH. In recommending such prices, rates and rate 
schedules, JCC shall evaluate comparable charges for similar goods and services at similar and/or 
competing facilities and shall consult with the Director about any adjustments to the rate schedules 
at TMH to be made by JCC. Annual pricing/rate schedules/rate cards submitted by JCC shall be 
approved or reasonably commented within 15 business days; absent response, they are deemed 
approved; 

15. maintain a complete inventory of all existing capital assets (exclusive of food and beverage-
related capital assets); 

16. Beginning with the second year of this Agreement and continuing thereafter, pay, when due, 
all Operating Expenses from accounts established by JCC for the operation and maintenance of 
TMH; 

17. collaborate with Visit Jackson to market TMH for concerts and live events; 

18. perform such other reasonable tasks and actions related to Venue Management Services at 
TMH as may be directed by the City from time to time; 

19. Organize and arrange, in collaboration with the City, a soft opening following the extended 
closure of Thalia Mara Hall. Focus on reintroducing the venue to the market, rebuilding brand 
visibility, and restoring community and client confidence. The primary objective will be to 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          52 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

strategically remarket the facility, secure future bookings, and position the venue for sustained 
activity; 

20. take other action as may otherwise be reasonably necessary to provide Venue Management 
Services under this Agreement; 

21. perform such other reasonable tasks and actions related to Venue Management Services at 
TMH as may be directed by the City from time to time. Such City-directed tasks shall require 
written change orders and shall require a subsidy adjustment if completing the task causes a budget 
variance exceeding 5% of an approved budget line. 

22. Maintain membership in the International Association of Venue Managers (IAVM) during the 
term of this Agreement and any extensions. 

23. Develop and maintain a comprehensive operations manual that will provide the basis for the 
date-to-date operation of THM, including, but not limited to, all scheduled maintenance activities, 
pre-event preparation and post-event activities; and a user's manual that will provide any entity 
renting THM with the services that are routinely provided and allow other information needed to 
effectively use THM for a live event or concert.   

b. Maintenance and Improvements to Facility. 

i. A baseline condition assessment allocating pre-existing defects and remediation to the City or to 
JCC under this Agreement and paid by the City shall be attached hereto as an exhibit and 
incorporated by reference (Facility Baseline Exhibit) upon its completion.    

ii. JCC shall provide connections to all necessary utilities, including electric power, natural gas, 
and water/sewer. Payment for utilities will be made consistent with the provisions in this 
Agreement. 

iii. JCC shall perform, or cause to be performed, all facility maintenance services and shall provide 
and maintain all systems necessary or appropriate to ensure the proper operation and upkeep of 
TMH, in a manner consistent with the City’s policies, procedures, and ordinances. JCC shall be 
responsible for the routine maintenance and repair of the Premises. The City retains the right to 
determine the  level of any services to be provided at the Premises. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
JCC shall perform such maintenance and repairs relating to events held at TMH. Such maintenance 
and repairs shall be made in a manner consistent with applicable law, including, but not limited to, 
laws governing procurement and public works on municipally-owned property. 

iv. JCC shall cooperate fully with the City and the Department of Human and Cultural Services to 
develop a plan for long-term repair and maintenance of TMH. 

v. Capital improvements shall be the responsibility of the City; provided, however, that JCC may 
perform emergency repairs as and when needed. The City may reimburse JCC for such emergency 
repairs outside of the compensation stated elsewhere in this Agreement if the governing authorities 
approve the expense after consideration of  documentation promptly provided by JCC, including 
invoices, receipts, work orders, or other evidence of the nature and necessity of the expense.  

c. JCC shall maintain a master set of booking records and schedules for events to be held at TMH. 

d. JCC shall establish and maintain in one or more depositories one or more operating, payroll, 
and other bank accounts for the services to be provided pursuant to this Agreement for TMH. 

i. During the first year of this Agreement, all Operating Revenues collected by JCC shall be 
deposited into such accounts, and Operating Expenses shall be paid by JCC from such accounts.  

ii. During subsequent years of the Agreement and any extension, FMF shall be deposited in a 
separate account for use as agreed to by the Parties. In the event that the Parties do not agree on 
the use of FMF, JCC shall be entitled to use FMF to pay for Operating Expenses in excess of 
Operating Revenues, not including FMF. For example, if JCC incurs budgeted Operating Expenses 
or Emergency Expenses that exceed Operating Revenues, not including FMF, JCC should advise 
the City that it wishes to use FMF to pay for the excess expenses. If the City agrees, JCC may 
immediately use FMF for the excess expenses. If the City does not agree, JCC shall immediately 
advise the City of the amount of excess expenses and may then use FMF to pay such excess 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          53 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

expenses. JCC shall strictly account for all funds withdrawn from the FMF account. Any funds 
expended from the FMF account for Operating Expenses shall be refunded to the FMF account at 
the end of the Fiscal Year to the extent that NOI allows, prior to any other use of the NOI. 

iii. The City, through the Mayor or CFO or the designee of either, shall have read-only access to 
the bank statements and account(s) records as established by JCC for TMH and may request 
reasonable supporting documentation upon advance notice; the City shall have no transactional 
authority over JCC accounts. 

iv. Operating Revenues and Operating Expenses for services provided to TMH shall be accounted 
for separately and maintained by JCC in accounts separate from those relating to other venues 
managed by JCC. 

v. JCC shall at all times use the funds in the several accounts described within this section to 
provide the services described in this Agreement. Upon expiration or early termination of this 
Agreement, JCC shall promptly provide the City’s CFO with a statement of such funds, including 
known/anticipated receivables and existing liabilities. Available TMH funds shall first satisfy 
known TMH liabilities (including payroll, taxes, event settlements, vendor invoices, and any 
unpaid, pro-rated management fees); any remaining balance in any operations and maintenance 
reserve or capital reserve fund, after satisfying said debts, shall then be remitted to the City’s CFO.   

vi. JCC shall keep full and accurate accounting records relating to any and all event activities at 
TMH. JCC shall give the City’s CFO or his/her designee access to such books and records during 
reasonable business hours and upon reasonable advance notice. JCC shall keep and preserve for at 
least five (5) years all sales slips, rental agreements, purchase order, sales books, credit card 
invoices, bank books or duplicate deposit slips, and other evidence of Operating Revenues and 
Operating Expenses for such period. Additionally, JCC shall deliver to the Director of Human and 
Cultural Services and City’s CFO annual financial statements within ninety (90) days after the 
close of each Fiscal Year 

e. JCC will prepare an annual operating budget and annual cash flow projections for each Fiscal 
Year needed to support the services to be provided under this Agreement. JCC will submit the 
annual operating budget and annual cash flow projections to the City by providing copies to the 
City’s CFO and Director of Human and Cultural Services. Such annual budgets shall be reviewed 
and are subject to approval by the City. JCC will use its best efforts to submit the Fiscal Year 
budget for the first year of this Agreement by November 1, 2025, and to submit such annual 
budgets for subsequent Fiscal Years by June 30 of each year during the term hereof. Once 
approved, the Approved Budgets may be amended by the parties pursuant to procedures mutually 
agreed upon the parties. 

f. Reporting. 

By the fifth (5th) day of each month during this Agreement, JCC shall provide to the Director of 
Human and Cultural Services and City’s CFO a written report in a form approved by the City and 
similar to that used in other JCC-managed facilities of the previous month’s activities and finances, 
as well as the anticipated activities and financial condition for the upcoming month. JCC shall 
include in such report a balance sheet, income statement, and other financial reports (such as cost 
center accounting and event accounting reports) as may be reasonably requested by the Director 
of Human and Cultural Services and/or City’s CFO. 

i. JCC shall submit quarterly reports to the Director of Human and Cultural Services and City’s 
CFO, no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the quarter in a format approved by the City’s 
CFO. The quarterly reports shall show revenues and expenses for TMH events held in the quarter 
just ended and for the fiscal year to date, shall explain any variances to JCC’s annual budget 
estimate of revenues and expenses, shall make year-end projections of revenues and expenses, and 
with respect to revenues shall show the banks or accounts into which specific amounts received 
have been deposited. 

ii. Within ninety (90) days after the end of a Fiscal Year, JCC shall provide an annual report to the 
Director of Human and Cultural Services and City’s CFO in a form satisfactory to the County's 
CFO with a statement that they were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          54 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

iii. The City's CFO shall have the right to conduct a review of any statement or report delivered in 
connection with this Agreement. 

g. JCC shall work with the City and with Visit Jackson to lobby the State Legislature for funding 
for TMH to be used for maintenance, improvements, operating expenses, and/or Capital 
Equipment and Improvements to the extent allowed by any applicable law, regulation or other 
condition applicable to JCC and/or Visit Jackson regarding such activity.  

5. SCOPE OF SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY VISIT JACKSON: Visit Jackson will 

oversee marketing and promotion of TMH and will provide marketing and promotion of specific 
events, in conjunction with producers and promoters of events. 

a. Visit Jackson will execute targeted marketing strategies to promote TMH at local, regional, and 
national levels, which shall primarily be focused on the development of a website solely for TMH 
and the creation and maintenance of customer relationship management (CRM) software system. 
The City shall be the owner of all intellectual property associated with the website and the client 
database.  

b. Visit Jackson efforts will include campaigns, stakeholder engagement, and alignment with the 
JCC’s goals. Visit Jackson shall provide promotional and booking services, consistent with the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement, where such services include, but are not limited to, the 
following responsibilities: 

i. In consultation with JCC and the City, Visit Jackson shall engage in such marketing, advertising, 
and other promotional activities deemed necessary or appropriate to develop the potential of TMH 
and aligned with Visit Jackson’s focus of promoting tourism to the City; 

ii. Such marketing, advertising, and promotional efforts shall, where appropriate, include targeted 
actions related to specific bookings, concerts, or other events to maximize public awareness and 
increase attendance. 

6. SCOPE OF SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY THE CITY. 

a. The City hereby grants JCC permission to enter upon the Premises and to use such Premises, 
furniture, fixtures, and equipment present on the Premises for the purposes of providing the 
services under this Agreement. JCC is permitted to exercise control over such Premises, furniture, 
fixtures, and equipment as may be needed for the provision of such services. 

b. At all times the City remains the owner of TMH, including all furniture, fixtures, and equipment 
contained therein, and of the real property on which the facility is situated. No real property interest 
is conveyed to JCC or Visit Jackson under this Agreement, as this is a contract for services. 

c. Representatives of the City shall have the right to enter all portions of TMH for purposes 
including, but not limited to, conducting inspections, observing the performance of JCC in its 
obligations under this Agreement, to install, remove, adjust, repair, replace or otherwise handle 
any equipment, utility lines, or other matters in, on, or about the premises, or to do any act or thing 
which the City may be obligated or have the right to do under this Agreement or otherwise. In 
connection with the exercise of such rights, the City will endeavor to provide (but is not obligated 
to provide) advance notice to JCC for security purposes and to minimize any interference with or 
disruption of JCC’s work under this Agreement. Nothing contained in this Section or this 
Agreement is intended or shall be construed to limit any other rights of the City under this 
Agreement nor shall impose or be construed to impose upon the City any independent obligation 
to construct or maintain or make repairs, replacements, alterations, additions or improvements or 
create any independent liability for any failure to do so.  Except in cases of emergency, the City 
shall not exercise its rights under this paragraph in a manner which interrupts an active show, 
performance, or event at TMH.  Annually, the City will endeavor to appropriate funds sufficient 
for JCC and Visit Jackson to fulfill their obligations under this Agreement based on the Budget 
provided by JCC and Visit Jackson. 

d. For the first year of this Agreement, in addition to the Management Fee, the City will pay all 
utility costs, defined as electricity, natural gas, and water. JCC will endeavor to pay all other 
operation and maintenance costs for the first year of the Agreement. In the event that the City is 
unable to provide sufficient funding beyond the first-year Management Fee, the reopening funding, 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          55 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

and the payment of all utility costs, JCC and Visit Jackson may terminate this Agreement upon 
thirty (30) days’ notice to the City. JCC and Visit Jackson shall not incur any additional expenses 
without advance authorization from the City. 

e. The Parties estimate that first-year Operating Expenses, including reopening costs, including 
utilities, will be $578,240. Of that amount, utilities are estimated to cost $242,000.000.  The parties 
understand that this amount is an estimate and will not control if actual utility expenses are higher 
than this amount. 

f. Beginning with year two and for the remaining term of this Agreement and any extensions, JCC 
will pay all Operating Expenses, including utilities, from TMH revenue. If TMH revenues are 
insufficient to pay all Operating Expenses, including utilities, the City shall pay the balance of 
utilities. 

Operating shortfalls shall be covered in the following order: (1) TMH earned revenues; (2) FMF 
revenue on deposit; (3) City backup contributions, if available. JCC shall not be required to use 
non-TMH funds to support TMH operations. 

h. The City agrees to cooperate with JCC and Visit Jackson in its performance of the services 
under this Agreement, including by providing purchasing assistance to JCC through the City’s 
Departments of Finance and of Human and Cultural Services upon JCC’s request and provided 
that the City determines that such purchasing assistance provided by the City to JCC is in the City's 
interest for the efficient procurement of goods and services in the furtherance of the efficient 
operations at TMH and to the extent that such procurement involves the use of public resources. 

i. The City understands that the operation of TMH may cause the Parties to come into possession 
of confidential and trade secret information of clients, vendors, and others who utilize TMH or 
seek to have an event at TMH.  To the extent permitted by applicable laws governing public 
records, the City will reasonably cooperate to assert statutory exemptions for trade secrets, rate 
sheets, security plans, and commercially sensitive information. 

7. COMPENSATION. 

a. For the first year of this Agreement, the City will pay a Management Fee of $150,000.00, which 
shall be payable in twelve equal monthly installments on or before the 10th day of each month. 

b. The City Agrees to appropriate an amount not to exceed $200,000.00 (“Reopening Expenses”) 
to support the reopening of TMH, including marketing efforts, initiation of preventive 
maintenance, building preparations (such as cleaning staff and supplies, dumpster rentals), capital 
equipment (such as concessions), phone and internet connection, painting, and minor dressing 
room upgrades. Reopening Expenses (not to exceed $200,000.00) will be advanced to JCC and 
Visit Jackson on a schedule to be established by the Parties. To assist in creating the schedule, JCC 
will provide the City with a budgeted plan which will include a reasonable description of requested 
Reopening Expenses, including the nature, purpose, amount, and timeline for each Reopening 
Expense. Reopening expenses will be advanced by the City in tranches that are sufficient in amount 
and timing such that JCC and Visit Jackson will not be required to expend any non-TMH funds.  

c. For the first year of this Agreement, in addition to the $200,000.00 Reopening Expenses, the 
City will pay all utility costs, defined as electricity, natural gas, and water. JCC will pay all other 
Operating Expenses for the first year of the Agreement. 

d. JCC estimates that first year Operating Expenses, including utilities, will be $578,240. Of that 
amount, JCC estimates that utilities will cost $242,000.000. 

e. Following year one, the City shall pay to JCC and Visit Jackson, a Management Fee of 
$150,000.00, which shall be paid in equal monthly installments on or before the 5th day of each 
month. 

f. Beginning with year two and for the remaining term of this Agreement, JCC will pay all 
Operating Expenses, including utilities, from TMH revenue. If TMH revenues, including FMF, 
are insufficient to pay all Operating Expenses, including utilities, the City shall pay the balance of 
utilities. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          56 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

g. Operating shortfalls shall be covered in the following order: (1) TMH earned revenues; (2) FMF 
Revenue; (2) City backup contributions. JCC shall not be required to use non-TMH funds to 
support TMH operations. 

h. The Parties will establish annual targets for operations reserves, capital expenditures, and the 
use of FMF revenue at the time the annual budget is approved. 

i. For each year of this Agreement, JCC shall retain sufficient Net Operating Income (NOI) 
remaining at the end of the fiscal year to fund the reserves targets. In the event that there is positive 
Net Operating Revenue after subtracting the established targets for reserves and refunding FMF 
used for shortfall Operating Expenses and Emergency Expenses, JCC and Visit Jackson shall be 
entitled to retain sixty percent (60%) of the surplus NOI as a performance bonus, with the 
remainder returned to the City. 

8. DELIVERABLES SCHEDULE. Upon the approval of this Agreement by the governing 
authorities of the Parties, representatives of the Parties shall meet to agree upon a schedule for all 
deliverables required under this Agreement. In the event the Parties fail to agree on such a 
schedule, all deliverables will be provided to the other party within 90 (ninety) days of execution 
of this Agreement. 

9. SIGNAGE. All signage (interior, exterior, permanent, temporary), including signage provided 
under the terms of sponsorship agreements, shall comply with applicable law and shall be 
maintained in good and clean condition, reasonable wear and tear excepted. 

10. USE OF CITY NAME AND LOGO. In connection with its activities under this Agreement, 
including without limitation advertising relating to the Premises, the Parties shall be permitted to 
use the terms "City of Jackson" and "Thalia Mara Hall" and associated logos for such names in 
advertising and promotional materials. However, the City shall retain the right to disallow such 
activities, uses, and advertising and the use of its name at any time. 

11. EMPLOYEES. JCC and Visit Jackson shall select, train and employ such number of 
employee(s) as it/they deem necessary or appropriate to satisfy their responsibilities hereunder, 
and each shall have exclusive authority to hire, terminate and discipline any and all personnel 
working in connection with the provision of services under this Agreement, including without 
limitation, such personnel as may be involved in ancillary food and/or beverage services, not 
otherwise provided by the food and beverage concessionaire. 

a. Visit Jackson and JCC’s employees shall not for any purpose be considered to be employees of 
the City. JCC and Visit Jackson shall be solely responsible for their supervision and daily direction 
and control and for setting and paying such employees' compensation (including federal, state and 
local income tax withholding) and any employee benefits. All costs related to such employment 
shall be an Operating Expense. If at any time the City requires retention/transfer of specific staff 
from the City to Visit Jackson of JCC, the City shall fund any incremental cost (wages, benefits, 
severance, recognition of service) of transferring that employee from public service to private 
employment. 

b. With respect to any food and beverage services offered at TMH and directly provided by JCC, 
excluding the food and beverage concessions program, JCC shall at all times bear sole 
responsibility for and execute all management activities related to food and beverage sales and 
operations at TMH, including, but not limited to, the acquisition and distribution of alcohol and 
supervision of serving and sales staff. JCC shall be responsible for the hiring, firing, and 
supervision of any personnel, specifically including those who handle food and beverage sales and 
operations at TMH. JCC shall be responsible for obtaining any licenses or permits as may be 
required by applicable law, rule, or regulation, including, but not limited to, food operating permits 
and liquor licenses. The City shall not bear responsibility with respect to such food and beverage 
sales and operations. 

12. DEFENSE, INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 

Each party shall indemnify, defend, and hold the other harmless from claims to the extent arising 
from that parties’ negligence or willful misconduct. This duty to indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless, is to the fullest extent permitted by law and applies to each party, its officers, agents and 
employees and representatives in connection with this Agreement, from and against any and all 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          57 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

loss or expense that may arise by reason of liability for damage, injury or death, or for invasion of 
personal or property rights, of every name and nature including but not limited to: (i) claims of 
property damage; (ii) claims of personal injury employees, agents, or subcontractors; (iii) claims 
of personal injury to third parties; and (iv) reasonable attorneys' fees, whether incurred as the result 
of a third party claim or to enforce this contract: arising out of or resulting directly or indirectly 
from the misfeasance, omission of duty, negligence or wrongful act on the part of said party in its 
performance of the work or the enforcement of this Contract, irrespective of whether there is a 
breach of a statutory obligation or rule of apportioned liability; and whether casual or continuing 
trespass or nuisance, and any other claim for damages arising at law and equity alleged to have 
been caused or sustained in whole or in part by or because of misfeasance, omission of duty, 
negligence or wrongful act on the part of said party.  

Additionally, to the extent that any claim arises from pre-existing conditions at TMH or City-
retained functions, the City shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Visit Jackson and JCC, 
their officers, agents and employees and representatives, including any claims for attorneys’ fees 
and costs. 

13. LIABILITY CAP & DAMAGES.  

Except for willful misconduct, data breach, or IP infringement, neither party is liable to another 
for consequential or punitive damages.  

14. INSURANCE. City shall maintain property insurance on TMH and name JCC as loss payee 
where applicable.  Insurance may be budgeted as an Operating Expense (and paid as a Reopening 
Expenses in the first year, but only to the extent that the insurance is in addition to that already 
paid by JCC in their operation of the Capital Convention Center. 

a. JCC shall purchase and maintain insurance of the types and coverages set forth below, with 
General Liability, Automobile, and Umbrella Policies to be written on an occurrence basis, 
reasonably acceptable to the City and which will provide primary liability coverage to JCC AND 
WITH THE CITY NAMED AS AN ADDITIONAL INSURED ON A PRIMARY AND 
NONCONTRIBUTING BASIS as to all coverages which so permit for claims which may arise 
out of or result from JCC’s operations under the Contract, including without limitation (i) claims 
because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death, whether to JCC, JCC’s 
employees or others and whether or not under a workers' compensation or other similar act or law 
for the benefit of employees; and (ii) claims because of injury to or destruction of tangible property, 
including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

b. Visit Jackson shall purchase and maintain insurance of the types and coverages set forth below, 
with General Liability, Automobile, and Umbrella Policies to be written on an occurrence basis, 
reasonably acceptable to the City and which will provide primary liability coverage to VISIT 
JACKSON AND WITH THE CITY NAMED AS AN ADDITIONAL INSURED ON A 
PRIMARY AND 

NONCONTRIBUTING BASIS as to all coverages which so permit for claims which may arise 
out of or result from Visit Jackson’s operations under the Contract, including without limitation 
(i) claims because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death, whether to Visit 
Jackson, Visit Jackson’s employees or others and whether or not under a workers' compensation 
or other similar act or law for the benefit of employees; and (ii) claims because of injury to or 
destruction of tangible property, including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

c. All policies shall be written so that the City will be notified of cancellation or restrictive 
amendment at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such cancellation or amendment. 
Certificates or insurance from the carrier, or their authorized agent, with the appropriate additional 
insured endorsement attached showing the City as an additional insured and stating the limits of 
liability and expiration date which are acceptable to the City shall be submitted to the Director of 
Human and Cultural Services and the City’s CFO with and accepted by the City before operations 
are begun. The intent is that this insurance, with the City being named as an additional insured, is 
to be primary. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          58 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

d. Prior to the commencement of the term of this Agreement, JCC shall secure and deliver to the 
City and shall keep in force at all times during the term of this Agreement the following types, 
coverages, and amounts of insurance: 

i. JCC agrees to obtain and maintain General Liability Insurance including Comprehensive Form, 
Premises-Operations, Products/Completed Operations, Blanket Broad Form Contractual, 
Independent Contractors, Liquor Liability, and Broad Form Property Damage Coverage with 
minimum limits of not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) Combined Single Limit for 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage. 

JCC agrees to obtain and maintain Automobile Liability Insurance for owned, hired and non-
owned vehicles for business use covering all vehicles operated by JCC officers and employees in 
connection with TMH and the services under this Agreement, whether such vehicles are owned by 
the City, or otherwise, with a combined single limit of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) per occurrence (including an extension of hired and non-owned coverage) for 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage; 

ii. JCC agrees to obtain and maintain claims-made Professional Liability Insurance with minimum 
limits of not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00). 

iii. JCC agrees to obtain and maintain claims-made Business Interruption Insurance to cover events 
that cancel or are harmed by infrastructure deficiencies or failures, with minimum limits of not 
less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00). 

iv. JCC agrees to obtain and maintain Umbrella Insurance with a limit of five million dollars 
($5,000,000.00) in the aggregate. 

v. JCC agrees to obtain and maintain claims-made fidelity/crime insurance covering JCC’s 
employees for services in connection with this Agreement. 

vi. JCC further agrees to comply with any and all applicable Workers Compensation laws for the 
State of Mississippi. 

e. The terms of all insurance policies referred within this Agreement shall preclude subrogation 
claims against JCC, Visit Jackson, the City, and their respective partners, members, officers, 
directors, employees and agents. 

15. ASSIGNMENT. JCC is prohibited from assigning, transferring, conveying, subletting, or 
otherwise disposing of this Agreement, or JCC’s right, title, or interest in this Agreement, or JCC’s 
power to execute this Agreement, to any other person or entity without the previous consent in 
writing of City. JCC may assign to affiliates and subcontract specialty functions needed to operate 
TMH such as concessions, A/V, rigging, credit card payment processing with City consent not to 
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. 

16. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. JCC is an independent contractor. Neither JCC, nor JCC's 
officers, employees, agents, or servants shall hold themselves out as, or claim to be, officers or 
employees of City. 

17. NO PARTNERSHIP OR JOINT VENTURE. Nothing herein contained is intended or shall be 
construed in any way to create or establish the relationship of partners or a joint venture between 
the City, JCC, or Visit Jackson. 

18. GOVERNMENTAL COMPLIANCE. JCC shall comply with all applicable law in providing 
services under this Agreement, where such law includes federal, state, and local laws, rules, and 
regulations. 

19. LICENSES AND PERMITS. JCC shall obtain at JCC's own expense all licenses or permits 
required for JCC's services or work under this Agreement. 

20. TAXES. JCC shall collect and remit to the proper governmental authority all taxes arising out 
of services performed under this Agreement. Such taxes include, but are not limited to, sales tax 
and special assessments. 

21. NO LIENS. JCC shall not permit any liens or encumbrances to be made on TMH or on any 
furniture, fixtures, and equipment contained therein. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          59 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

22. USE OF MATERIALS AND WORKS OF THIRD PARTIES. JCC shall comply fully 

with all applicable law governing the rights to use materials and works by third parties, where such 
law includes federal, state, and local laws, rules, and regulations and where such rights may include 
reproduction or performance of proprietary or copyrighted materials and other intellectual property 
rights associated with the use of such materials and works. JCC agrees to pay or cause to be paid 
all costs associated with making royalty, copyright or other payments, where such may be payable 
on behalf of third-party owners of such intellectual property rights. JCC agrees to make or cause 
to be made any and all such payments to third parties and/or clearinghouse agencies as may be 
necessary to lawfully perform, publish, or reproduce any materials and works. JCC specifically 
agrees to make or cause to be made any and all reports to such agencies and/or parties, including 
specifically ASCAP, BMI, SAG, SESAC, and other similar agencies, where such are listed by way 
of example and not by way of limitation. JCC agrees to obtain documentation of such compliance 
as may be necessary from third parties using TMH to produce concerts and other live events. JCC 
agrees to produce evidence of such reports and payments to the City upon request. This provision 
is material, and failure to comply with this provision shall constitute an event of default. 

23. SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT. JCC and Visit Jackson each certify that, except as noted, 
JCC, Visit Jackson, and any person associated with JCC or Visit Jackson in the capacity of owner, 
partner, director, officer, or major stockholder is not currently under suspension, debarment, 
voluntary exclusion, or determination of ineligibility by any federal agency, and has not been 
suspended, debarred, voluntarily excluded or determined ineligible by any federal agency within 
the past three years. 

24. NONDISCRIMINATION. The parties agree to comply with all applicable state and federal 
laws, rules, and regulations governing equal employment opportunity, immigration, and 
nondiscrimination. 

25. APPROPRIATIONS. This Agreement is executory only to the extent of the monies 
appropriated and available to support the purposes of this Agreement. In the event that the City in 
its sole discretion, determines that sufficient appropriations and/or operating funds are not 
available to continue this Management Agreement, the City may terminate this Agreement, and 
such early termination shall be without penalty to the City. Following such termination, the City 
shall have the right to resume management of the Premises under the terms of this Agreement at 
such time as the City shall first restore appropriated funds to reasonable levels. 

26. FORCE MAJEURE. The Parties are excused from any failure or delay in performance of 
responsibilities otherwise imposed by this Agreement for any cause beyond its control, including 
but not limited to acts of God, fire, flood, natural disaster, war or threat of war, acts or threats of 
terrorism, civil disorder, unauthorized strikes, computer viruses, incompatible or defective 
equipment, software or services not supplied or controlled directly by either party, governmental 
regulation or advisory, recognized health threats(i.e., disease outbreaks, epidemics or pandemics) 
as determined by the World Health Organization, the Centers for Disease Control, local 
government authority or health agencies, curtailment of transportation facilities, or other similar 
occurrence beyond the control of the parties, where any of those factors, circumstances, situations 
or conditions or similar ones prevent, dissuade, or unreasonably delay performance of this 
Agreement, rendering performance of this Agreement by a party illegal, impossible, inadvisable, 
or commercially impracticable. The Agreement may be cancelled by either party, without liability, 
damages, fees, or penalty, and any unused deposits or amounts paid shall be refunded, for any one 
or more of the above reasons, by written notice to the other party. Deadlines are extended under 
this section only for the duration of the event at issue. Payment obligations for past-due amounts 
are not excused due to the operation of this section.  To the extent reasonably practicable, the 
Parties will mitigate and resume performance promptly. 

27. AGREEMENT MODIFICATIONS. This Agreement represents the entire and integrated 
agreement between City, JCC, and Visit Jackson concerning the management and marketing of 
TMH and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements either written or oral. 
This Agreement may be amended only by a writing signed by City, JCC, and Visit Jackson. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          60 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

28. SEVERABILITY. If any term or provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and every other term 
and provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

29. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. The City represents and warrants to JCC and 
Visit Jackson that (i) the City has full legal right, power and authority to enter into and perform its 
obligations hereunder, (ii) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the City and 
constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the City, enforceable in accordance with its terms, 
except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar 
laws affecting creditors' rights generally or by general equitable principles, and (iii) the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement will not violate or cause a breach (with or without notice or the 
passage of time) under any agreement to which the City is a party, including, without limitation, 
this Agreement. 

JCC represents and warrants to the City and Visit Jackson the following: (i) all required approvals 
have been obtained, and JCC has full legal right, power and authority to enter into and perform its 
obligations hereunder, and (ii) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by JCC and 
constitutes a valid and binding obligation of JCC, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except 
as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws 
affecting creditors' rights generally or by general equitable principles. 

Visit Jackson represents and warrants to the City and JCC the following: (i) all required approvals 
have been obtained, and Visit Jackson has full legal right, power and authority to enter into and 
perform its obligations hereunder, and (ii) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered 
by Visit Jackson and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Visit Jackson, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally or by general equitable 
principles. 

30. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with 
the internal laws of the State of Mississippi, without giving effect to otherwise applicable 
principles of conflicts of law. For legal disputes, venue will be a court of competent jurisdiction in 
Hinds County, Mississippi. JCC and Visit Jackson consent to such jurisdiction. 

31. NON-WAIVER. A failure by any Party to take any action with respect to any default or 
violation by another Party of any of the terms, covenants, or conditions of this Agreement shall 
not in any respect limit, prejudice, diminish, or constitute a waiver of any rights of such party to 
act with respect to any prior, contemporaneous, or subsequent violation or default or with respect 
to any continuation or repetition of the original violation or default. 

32. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original copy of this Agreement, and all of which, when taken together, 
shall be deemed to constitute but one and the same agreement. 

33. NOTICES. Any notice, consent or other communication given pursuant to this Agreement will 
be in writing addressed to such Party as set forth below or as a party may designate by written 
notice given to the other Parties in accordance herewith. 

If to the City, to: 

Chief Administrative Officer, City of Jackson 

Director of Human and Cultural Services, City of Jackson 

With a copy to: 

City Attorney, City of Jackson 

If to JCC, to: 

With a copy to: 

If Visit Jackson, to: 

With a copy to: 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          61 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE 

 

Signatures: 

 

Capital City Convention Center Commission 

By: __ Date:  

Title:   

Jackson Convention Visitors Bureau 

By: __ Date:  

Title:   

City of Jackson 

By: __ Date:  

Title:   

 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Grizzell recognized Mayor John Horhn, Dr. Ricky Thigpen, CEO and President of 
Visit Jackson and Cherre Miller, General Manager of the Jackson Convention Center, who 
provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

After a thorough discussion, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – Foote.  
Absent – None.    
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN EVENT LICENSE 
AGREEMENT WITH THE JACKSON CONVENTION CENTER COMPLEX FOR 
THE USE OF EXHIBIT HALL B AND AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF 
THREE THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED SIXTY-EIGHT DOLARS AND FORTY 
CENTS FOR THE PROVISION OF SECURITY GUARD SERVICES, 
AUDIOVISUAL SERVICES, SKIRITNGS FOR FIFTY (50) TABLES, AND FOOD 
AND BEVERAGES TO BE PROVIDED TO THE VENDORS FOR THE ANNUAL 
SENIOR HEALTH AND WELLNESS FAIR. 

WHEREAS, on Wednesday, October 22, 2025, from 7 am to 5 pm, the City of Jackson, 
along with other business and community stakeholders, will host the Annual Senior Health and 
Wellness Fair at the Jackson Convention Complex (JCC); and 

            WHEREAS, the JCC on behalf of the Capital City Convention Commission has agreed to 
provide space for the City’s Annual Senior Health and Wellness Fair and has waived its customary 
rental fees associated with the use of the facility. Along with the space provided, the JCC will 
provide security guard services, audiovisual services, skirtings for fifty (50) tables, and food and 
beverages for the vendors. JCC provided the City with a cost-estimate for the above; and 
 
            WHEREAS, pursuant to the cost-estimate, JCC will provide two unarmed security guards 
to the City for eleven (11) hours each @ Thirty-Five Dollars ($35.00) per hour, resulting in a total 
cost of Seven Hundred and Seventy Dollars ($770.00); and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          62 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

             WHEREAS, JCC will provide audiovisual services consisting of one (1) Wireless 
Microphone for One Hundred and Fifty Dollars ($150.00); one (1) Sound System for a cost of 
Two Hundred and Fifty Dollars ($250.00); a Complimentary 12x 24 Stage; and a 20% Audiovisual 
Management Charge for eighty ($80.00); for a total of Four Hundred Eighty Dollars and No Cents 
($480.00).  
               
            WHEREAS, JCC will provide skirtings for fifty (50) tables @ Thirty-Five Dollars 
($35.00) each, resulting in a total cost of One Thousand Seven Hundred and Fifty Dollars 
($1,750.00); and 
 
            WHERES, JCC will provide food and beverages for the vendors as follows: 
 
                                 

                  Meals Price 
per 
item 

Total 

4 Gallons of Coffee $58.00 $232.00 
4 Water Stations $25.00 $100.00 
5 Dozen Danish $45.00 $225.00 
Food Subtotal: 

 
$557.00 

20% Administrative 
Fee 

 
$111.40 

Total Charges Due: 
 

$668.40    
 
            WHEREAS, Mayor John Horhn shall be, for the purposes specified in the license 
agreement, the authorized representative of the City, and shall have full authority to bind the City, 
with respect to any written or verbal order for goods and services to be provided by the JCC. 
However, any needed substantive changes to the license agreement shall be required to be 
presented to the city council for its approval; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the City is a self-insured entity and will provide JCC with a certificate of 
coverage demonstrating that the City’s self-insured plan meets the requirements of Mississippi 
Code Section 11-46-17; and 
 
            WHEREAS, the best interests of the City and its citizenry would be served by authorizing 
the expenditure of Three Thousand Six Hundred Sixty-Eight Dollars and Forty Cents ($3,668.40) 
to JCC for the provisioning of the above-described security services, audiovisual services, table 
skirts and food and beverages to be provided to the vendors; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services recommends that the City’s 
governing authorities authorize the Mayor’s execution of an Event License Agreement with the 
JCC for the use of: Exhibit Hall B; and for the provisioning of security guard services, audiovisual 
services, skirting for fifty (50) tables, and food and beverages to be provided to the vendors for the 
City’s Annual Senior Health and Wellness Fair. 
 
          IT IS, THEREFORE ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute JCC’s Event 
License Agreement discussed in the Order above for the use of Exhibit Hall B and for the 
provisioning of security guard services, audiovisual services, and skirting for fifty (50) tables, and 
food and beverages 
to be provided to the vendors for the City’s Annual Senior Health and Wellness Fair. Payment in 
an amount not to exceed Three Thousand Dollars Six Hundred and Sixty-Eight Dollars and Forty 
Cents 
($3,668.40) may be paid to the JCC for the above-described services. 

 
            IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any other 
agreement(s) and/or document(s) that may be needed to effectuate this Order. 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          63 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AMENDING THE JULY 29, 2025 ORDER WHICH AUTHORIZED THE 
EXPENDITURE OF FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($50,000.00) FOR CAPITAL 
EXPENSES ASSOCIATED WITH THE NATIONAL FOLK FESTIVAL TO 
ALLOW THE FUNDS TO ALSO BE USED FOR RENTAL ITEMS. 
 

 
WHEREAS, on May 7, 2024, the City Council of the City of Jackson approved entering 

into a professional services agreement with the National Council for the Traditional Arts (NCTA) 
for the planning and execution of the National Folk Festival to be held in Jackson, Mississippi, in 
2025, 2026, and 2027; and 
 

WHEREAS, on July 29th, 2025, the City Council of the City of Jackson approved an 
Order authorizing the Mayor to expend $50,000 to assist with capital expenses incurred by the 
festival; and 

WHEREAS, these expenses include items such as a storage trailer, event fencing, 
electrical site preparation, wooden platforms, general infrastructure improvements, and capital 
investments, including traffic barriers, trailers, golf carts, and other production-related materials 
necessary for festival execution; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City and the NCTA have determined it is fiscally responsible to rent 
rather than purchase some of the items necessary for a successful festival; and 
 

WHEREAS, allowing this funding to be used for rental costs in addition to capital expense 
costs will strengthen festival infrastructure and long-term sustainability, directly supporting 
cultural programming and economic development efforts in the City of Jackson; and 
 

WHEREAS, authorized expenditures will be paid upon receipt of appropriate 
documentation and invoicing in accordance with City procedures; and 
 

WHEREAS, NCTA agrees to abide by the City of Jackson policies for procurement of 
goods and services, and agrees that any monies expended not in accordance with these policies 
must be repaid to the City. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED that the Mayor is hereby authorized to expend 
an amount not to exceed fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00) total for expenses, including rental 
expenses, related to the production of the National Folk Festival in Jackson, Mississippi, in fiscal 
year 2025-2026. 

 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Grizzell recognized Mayor John Horhn, who provided a brief overview of said item.  
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
After a thorough discussion, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes. 
Nays – None.   
Absent – None.    
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING THE ACCEPTANCE OF A PROPOSAL FROM JOHNSON 
CONTROLS, INC. FOR THE PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF HEATING 
AND COOLING EQUIPMENT AT THE MEDGAR EVERS LIBRARY WITH 
LEGALLY REQUIRED MODIFICATIONS TO SUCH PROPOSAL AND 
AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF THE JULY 16, 2025 INVOICE.  

 WHEREAS, the HVAC systems at the Medgar Evers Library failed during the summer of 
2023; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          64 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

            WHEREAS, Mayor Chokwe A. Lumumba signed a Declaration Invoking the Emergency 
Procurement Procedure on September 13, 2023, a copy of which is attached hereto, pursuant to 
Section 31-7-13 (k) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, which authorized the 
Department of Public Works to retain a mechanical engineer to provide engineering guidance 
about the selection of appropriate replacement equipment and to purchase the replacement HVAC 
equipment for the library; and 

            WHEREAS, due to delays in the acquisition of the replacement equipment, the City 
entered into a contract with Universal Services, LLC to provide a temporary chiller that cools the 
main library during hot weather; and 

            WHEREAS, the temporary chiller does not cool the community room at the Medgar 
Evers Library; and 

            WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works staff sought proposals from Universal 
Services, Inc. and Johnson Controls, Inc. and selected the Johnson Controls, Inc. proposal as the 
best proposal; and 

WHEREAS, Department of Public Works staff submitted the Johnson Controls, Inc 
Proposal, dated February 13, 2025. to the Chief Administrative Officer, who executed the 
document and returned it to Johnson Controls, Inc., a copy of said proposal being attached hereto; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Office of the Chief Administrative Officer provided the Proposal to legal 
counsel for the Department of Public Works on March 14, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, legal counsel reviewed the proposal and returned it to the Chief 
Administrative Officer with proposed revisions that needed to be submitted to Johnson Controls, 
Inc. for its review and incorporation into the proposal on March 19, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, the Office of the Chief Administrative Officer followed up with Department 
of Public Works staff on March 26, 2025 to confirm the contract revisions had been sent to Johnson 
Controls, Inc.; and 

WHEREAS, after continued inquiries as to the status of the contract revisions review by 
Johnson Controls, Inc. amid concerns about the delay in the installation of the HVAC replacement 
equipment by the Jackson-Hinds Library System, legal counsel for the Department of Public 
Works received a letter from Johnson Controls, Inc. stating that it had already ordered the 
equipment based on the proposal signed by the Lumumba Administration’s Chief Administrative 
Officer, that it was rejecting all proposed revisions, that there were outstanding invoices based on 
the signed proposal, and that Johnson Controls, Inc. would not install the equipment until the 
outstanding invoices were paid; and 

WHEREAS, the outstanding invoices cannot be paid until the City Council ratifies the 
procurement of the HVAC equipment from Johnson Controls, Inc.; and 

WHEREAS, the proposal executed by the Chief Administrative Officer in the Lumumba 
Administration contains provisions that are unlawful for a Mississippi municipality according to 
opinions of the Mississippi Attorney General; and 

WHEREAS, upon the advice of legal counsel, the Department of Public Works 
recommends that the City Council ratify the signed proposal with the following revisions: 

Pursuant to Section 31-5-23 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, JCI shall adhere to the 
following requirements with respect to the use of Mississippi products: 

In the construction of any building, highway, road, bridge, or other public work or improvement 
by the State of Mississippi or any of its political subdivisions or municipalities, only materials 
grown, produced, prepared, made and/or manufactured within the State of Mississippi should be 
used. Paint, varnish and lacquer shall be used which shall contain as vehicles tung oil and either 
ester gum or modified resin (with rosin as the principal base of constituents), and turpentine shall 
be used as solvent or thinner, all of which said products shall be produced in Mississippi. However, 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          65 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

preference shall not be given to materials grown, produced, prepared, made and/or manufactured 
in the State of Mississippi when other materials of like quality produced without the State of 
Mississippi may be purchased or secured at less cost, or any other materials of better quality 
produced without the State of Mississippi can be secured at a reasonable cost. 

All payments to JCI shall be made pursuant to Section 31-5-25. 

The City shall withhold retainage in the amount of five percent (5%) of progress payments to JCI, 
which retainage shall be released with the final payment.  Should JCI have any subcontractor on 
this project, the City shall retain five (5%) of progress payments to JCI until such time as the work 
is at least 50% complete, on schedule and satisfactory, at which time fifty percent (50%) of the 
retainage shall be returned to JCI for distribution to the appropriate subcontractors and 
suppliers.  Future retainage on progress payments shall be withheld in the amount of two and one-
half percent (2 ½ %). 

On page 5 of the Proposal (Terms & Conditions): 

(4) LIMITED WARRANTY… THIS WARRANTY IS EXCLUSIVE AND IS PROVIDED IN 
LIEU OF ALL OTHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES INCLUDING, 
WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS 
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, WHICH ARE HEREBY DISCLAIMED. 

City cannot agree to this term as it involves waiving potential claims that would exist under 
Mississippi law.  Waiving these claims for damages by contract would amount to an illegal 
donation should such a claim arise in favor of the City. 

On page 5 of the Proposal (Terms &Conditions): 

(5) LIABILITY. To the maximum extent permitted by law, In no event shall JCI and its 
affiliates and their respective personnel, suppliers and vendors ("JCI Parties") be liable to 
Purchaser or any third party under any cause of action or theory of liability even If advised 
of the possibility of such damages, for any: (a) special, incidental, Indirect, punitive or 
consequential damages; (b) loss of business, use, profits, revenues, customer opportunities, 
anticipated savings or goodwill; (c) business Interruption; or (d) data loss or other losses 
arising from viruses, ransomware, cyber-attacks or failures or Interruptions to network 
systems arising in any manner from the equipment or material furnished or the work 
performed pursuant to this Agreement. In any case, the entire aggregate liability of the JCI 
Parties under this Agreement for all damages, losses, causes of action, whether In contract, 
tort (Including negligence), or otherwise, shall be limited to the amount actually received by 
JCI for the performance of Its obligations hereunder. 

City cannot agree to this term as it involves waiving potential claims that would exist under 
Mississippi law.  Waiving these claims for damages by contract would amount to an illegal 
donation should such a claim arise in favor of the City. 

On page 5 of the Proposal (Terms &Conditions): 

(6) TAXES/TARIFFS…. 

Under Mississippi law, JCI is subject to a contractor’s tax of 3.5%.  JCI may apply for a Materials 
Purchase Certificate (MPC), which will exempt JCI from sales and use taxes on the materials used 
and the equipment installed under this project. 

On page 5 of the Proposal (Terms & Conditions): 

 (8) DELAYS. JCI shall not be liable for any delay in the performance of the work resulting from 
or attributed to acts or circumstances beyond JCl's control, including, but not limited to Force 
Majeure Events, conditions of the premises, and acts or omissions of the Purchaser, Owner or other 
contractors or delays caused by suppliers or subcontractors of JCI. 

City cannot agree to this term as it would involve waiving potential claims against JCI for supplier 
and subcontractor delays, for which they may otherwise be liable under Mississippi law. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          66 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

On pages 5 and 6 of the Proposal (Terms &Conditions): 

(10) DISPUTES. JCI shall have the sole and exclusive right to determine whether any dispute, 
controversy or claim arising out of or relating to the Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be 
submitted to a court of law or arbitrated. For Purchasers located in the United State, the laws of 
Delaware shall govern the validity, enforceability, and interpretation of this Agreement, without 
regard to conflicts of law principles thereof, and the exclusive venue for any such litigation or 
arbitration shall be in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. For Purchasers located in Canada, the laws of 
Ontario shall govern the validity, enforceability, and interpretation of this Agreement, without 
regard to conflicts of law principles thereof, and the exclusive venue for any such litigation or 
arbitration shall be in Ontario, Canada. The parties waive any objection to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the specified forums, including any objection based on forum non conveniens. In 
the event the matter is submitted to a court, JCI and Purchaser hereby agree to waive their right to 
trial by jury. In the event the matter is submitted to arbitration by JCI, the costs of arbitration shall 
be borne equally by the parties, and the arbitrator's award may be confirmed and reduced to 
judgment in any court of competent jurisdiction. Purchaser will pay all of JCl's reasonable 
collection costs (including legal fees and expenses) as provided in Section 2. Except as provided 
below, no claim or cause of action, whether known or unknown, shall be brought by either party 
against the other more than one year after the claim first arose. Claims not subject to the one-year 
limitation include claims by JCI for unpaid: (1) contract amounts, (2) change order amounts 
(approved or requested) and (3) delays and/or work inefficiencies. 

City may not agree to binding arbitration or to waiver of the right to a jury trial, as these are 
valuable rights which the City does not have the right to waive pursuant to opinions of the 
Mississippi Attorney General.  Likewise, the City may not consent to jurisdiction in another state 
nor venue other than the location of the City of Jackson, which is the First Judicial District of 
Hinds County, Mississippi.  Furthermore, Mississippi law prohibits the alteration of statutes of 
limitation by contractual agreement. 

This provision is amended to state the following: 

All disputes that cannot be resolved through the informal negotiations of the parties shall be 
resolved through litigation.  Any claim arising under or related to this Proposal shall be governed 
by and construed in accordance with the laws of Mississippi, without regard to the conflicts of law 
principles thereof.  The jurisdiction and venue for any claim arising under or related to this 
Proposal shall be commenced in a court of competent jurisdiction located in the First Judicial 
District of Hinds County, Mississippi. 

On page 6 of the Proposal (Terms & Conditions): 

(12) INDEMNITY. To the fullest extent permitted by Mississippi law, JCI and Purchaser shall 
indemnify each other from any and all claims, actions, costs, expenses, damages and liabilities, 
including reasonable attorneys' fees, resulting from death or bodily injury or damage to real or 
tangible personal property, to the extent caused by the negligence or misconduct of their respective 
employees or other authorized agents in connection with their activities within the scope of this 
Agreement. To the extent permitted by Mississippi law, neither party shall indemnify the other 
against claims, actions, costs, expenses or liabilities to the extent attributable to the actions or 
omissions of the other party. To the extent permitted by Mississippi law, if the parties are both at 
fault, the obligation to indemnify shall be proportional to their relative fault. 

On page 6 of the Proposal (Terms & Conditions): 

(10) PATENT INDEMNITY…Buyer will indemnify Seller and its officers, directors, agents, and 
employees from all damages, settlements, attorneys’ fees and expenses related to a claim of 
infringement, misappropriation, defamation, or violation of rights of publicity or privacy excluded 
from Seller’s indemnity obligation herein. 

City cannot agree to indemnify a party for their own negligent or intentional acts because should 
such an indemnity claim arise, that claim would amount to an illegal donation. 

WHEREAS, the total amount of the proposal from Johnson Controls, Inc. is $208,379.55; 
and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          67 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

WHEREAS, Johnson Controls, Inc. has submitted three invoices for payment: 

1)      May 19, 2025: 05/01/2025 thru 05/31/2025—$111,114.70; 

2)      June 20, 2025: 06/01/2025 thru 06/30/2025—$80,287.10; and 

3)      July 31, 2025: 07/01/2025 thru 07/31/2025—$8,831.75; and 

WHEREAS, according to opinions of the Mississippi Attorney General, state law 
prohibits municipalities from making advance payments; and 

WHEREAS, a review of the second and third invoices submitted by Johnson Controls, 
Inc. indicates that they include costs for installation of the equipment, which has not been installed; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works recommends that the May 19, 2025 invoice 
in the amount of $111,114.70, attached hereto, be paid and that payment of the June 20, 2025 and 
July 31, 2025 invoices be withheld until the HVAC equipment has been installed. 

            IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the proposal attached hereto, modified in 
accordance with the provisions of this Order, is hereby ratified in a total amount not to exceed 
$208,379.55. 

            IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED that payment of the May 19, 2025 invoice in the amount 
of $111,114.70 is authorized, that payment of the June 20, 2025 and July 31, 2025 invoices be 
withheld until the HVAC equipment has been installed, and that the balance be paid following the 
commissioning of the equipment and receipt of an invoice for such work. 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
President Grizzell recognized Jeanne Williams, Executive Director of Jackson-Hinds Library 
System, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

After a thorough discussion, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING EMERGENCY PROCUREMENT OF REPAIR TO A 
STORM SEWER LINE ON RIDGEWOOD ROAD NEAR THE ENTRANCE TO 
THE QUARTER HOUSE. 

WHEREAS, an existing City of Jackson 42" storm sewer line serving the commercial area 
along Leila Drive located at the northeast comer of the intersection of Ridgewood Drive and The 
Quarter House Apartments driveway recently collapsed.; and 

 
WHEREAS, the collapsed storm sewer line has caused a sinkhole approximately 20' x 20' 

and 10' deep to form, which is approximately 18" off the back of the curb of Ridgewood Drive; 
and 

WHEREAS, though the owners of the Quarter House Apartments took temporary 
emergency actions to try stabilizing the sinkhole, if a permanent repair was not undertaken as soon 
as possible, a portion of Ridgewood Road was in danger of collapse; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor invoked the City’s emergency procurement process due to the 

significant danger of a portion of Ridgewood Road collapsing, a copy of the Declaration Invoking 
the Emergency Procurement Process being attached hereto and incorporated in this order; and 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          68 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

WHEREAS, two quotes were obtained for the necessary repairs, one from Hemphill 
Construction Company, Inc., in the amount of $156,393.00, and the other from Wildstone 
Construction Services, LLC, in the amount of $71,560.00; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the emergency procurement process, the Mayor has executed a 

contract with Wildstone Construction Services, LLC for the repair of a storm sewer line on 
Ridgewood Road near the entrance to the Quarter House in a total amount of $71,560.00, a copy 
of which is attached to this Order and made a part of these minutes. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the emergency contract with Wildstone 
Construction Services, LLC, for the repair of a storm sewer line on Ridgewood Road near the 
entrance to the Quarter House in a total amount of $71,560.00, a copy of which is attached, is 
ratified. 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          69 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          70 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          71 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

President Grizzell recognized Mayor John Horhn, who provided a brief overview of said item.  
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
After a thorough discussion, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – Brown-Thomas. 
 
Note:  Council Member Brown-Thomas left during the discussion.  
 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING (MOU) WITH THE MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY (MDA) AND THE CITY OF JACKSON, MS TO IMPROVE 
REGIONAL OPERATIONS TO SUPPORT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
SUCCESS FOR THE CITY. 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor recommends that the governing authority for the City of Jackson 
authorize the execution of a MOU with MDA to increase regional cooperation, transparency, and 
professionalism to achieve greater economic development success for the City of Jackson, Metro 
Region, and the State of Mississippi more broadly; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Parties earnestly desire and pledge to take action to improve regional 
collaboration for the benefit of all the Parties' constituents; and 
 

WHEREAS, each party is responsible for bearing all expenses incurred by it in connection 
with its respective undertaking; and 
 

WHEREAS, the MOU provides that the City of Jackson will commit to the following: 
 
o Invite MDA representatives to appropriate public meetings, strategy sessions, and other 
discussions where economic development decisions are being made. 
o Provide draft copies of economic development plans for review and input by MDA. 
o Work with MDA POC early in corporate expansion on new location projects originated by the 
City to ensure full alignment and that eligible resources are made available. 
o Collaborate with MDA Marketing Division on news releases for economic and public 
infrastructure-related announcements to achieve maximum effectiveness of public relations 
o Share polling, survey, or market data on matters directly or indirectly impacting economic 
development in the region. 
 

WHEREAS, the parties may provide supportive services, including, but not limited to: 
MDA 
 
o Market research and product development support. 
o Lead generation and referrals for commercial and industrial prospects were appropriate. 
o Project management services. 
o Information about upcoming conferences and trade shows for city participation. 
o Attendance and participation in City Business Retention and Expansion meetings/interviews 
o Notice of Availability of State and Federal Grants 
o Limited Geographic Information Systems Support and access to listing properties on MDA Sites 
and Buildings Database. 
o Executive support for strategy and planning sessions and input on City policies. 
 

WHEREAS, both MDA and the City shall share the following mutual responsibilities: 
 
1) Each Party shall designate a point of contact to serve as liaison between the parties. 
2) The Executive Director of MDA and the Mayor of Jackson will endeavor to meet at least 
quarterly, and certainly as often as may be necessary, to maintain alignment between the parties 
and to discuss/decide key issues of mutual concern. 
3) Maintain bilateral confidentiality on economic development projects to the greatest extent 
permitted by law. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          72 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

 
WHEREAS, the term of this Agreement commences on the date of execution and 

terminates on December 31, 2028. Either party may terminate this Agreement by providing thirty 
(30) calendar days' written advance notice to the other party. Such notification shall state the 
effective date of termination; and 
 

WHEREAS, the involvement, participation, and contributions are acknowledged as being 
without prejudice to any statutory or non-statutory functions, duties, or responsibilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, nothing in this MOU is intended to nor shall it be construed to create an 
employer-employee relationship or a joint venture; and 

 
WHEREAS, the terms and conditions of this MOU may not be modified or amended 

except in writing signed by an authorized agent of both Parties. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE ORDERED, that the Mayor is authorized to execute a MOU with 
MDA to increase regional cooperation, transparency, and professionalism to achieve greater 
economic development success for the City of Jackson, Metro Region, and the State of Mississippi. 
 

IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED that the parties are responsible for bearing all expenses 
incurred by them in connection with their respective undertakings. 
 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Stokes seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Grizzell recognized Mayor John Horhn, who provided a brief overview of said item.  
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
After a thorough discussion, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 
 
Yeas – Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
 
Note:  Council Member Brown-Thomas returned during the discussion.  
 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE COMPROMISE AND SETTLEMENT OF THE 
WORKERS COMPENSATION CLAIM PENDING IN MWCC # 1600381-P-0799-E 
30. 

WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney recommends that the workers compensation 
claim pending in MWCC # 1600381-P-0799-E 30 be compromised and settled for the sum of 
$25,000.00; and 

            WHEREAS, the claim arose when a municipal employee sustained injury on or about 
December 28, 2015 during the course and scope of her employment; and 

            WHEREAS, the City of Jackson was a self-insurer for workers compensation on the date 
of injury and provided medical services and paid benefits for periods of temporary total disability; 
and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Jackson paid permanent partial disability benefits for the residual 
impairment assessed to the injured employee’s upper extremity; and 

            WHEREAS, the injured employee was released to return to work without restrictions and 
remains employed with the City of Jackson; and 

            WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by compromising the 
injured employee’s claim for the sum of $25,000.00 because the City of Jackson’s obligation to 
provide medical services will be extinguished; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          73 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

            WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney will require the injured employee to execute 
a Release which extinguishes not only the claims arising under the Mississippi Workers 
Compensation Act but also any claim associated with the handling of the claim; and 

            WHEREAS, the compromise and settlement of the claim will be subject to approval of 
the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission. 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the claim pending in MWCC # 1600381-P-0799-E 30 
pending before the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission may be settled for the sum of 
$25,000.00. 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the settlement sum may be paid upon receipt of an order 
from the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission approving the settlement. 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes.  
Nays – None. 
Absent – None. 
 
     * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 
ENCOURAGING JXN WATER TO PROVIDE BILLING ADJUSTMENTS TO 
RESIDENTS. 

WHEREAS, the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City of Jackson 
shall be considered by this Resolution; and     

WHEREAS, the citizens of Jackson, Mississippi, continue to experience ongoing 
challenges with the city’s water system, including discolored water and water that is unsafe or 
unusable for daily necessities; and 

WHEREAS, residents cannot safely use their tap water for essential purposes such as 
cooking, cleaning, bathing, and drinking; and 

WHEREAS, many families are forced to purchase bottled water and incur additional 
expenses to maintain basic health and sanitation; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council recognizes the importance of clean water for public 
health and basic hygiene; and  

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Jackson that JXN Water 

provide billing adjustments to residents.  

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi, hereby encourages JXN Water to provide billing adjustments to residents.  
  

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 
ENCOURAGING THE FEDERAL AUTHORITIES AND THE APPROPRIATE 
COURT TO REVERSE THE DECISION MAINTAINING FEDERAL 
OVERSIGHT OF THE CITY OF JACKSON’S WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM 
AND TO RETURN FULL MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONAL AUTHORITY 
TO THE CITY OF JACKSON. 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          74 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

WHEREAS, the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City of Jackson 
shall be considered by this Resolution; and     

 
WHEREAS, the water and sewer system of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, has been 

under the oversight of federal authorities and JXN Water pursuant to federal court action; and 
 
WHEREAS, many citizens of Jackson have expressed ongoing concerns that water and 

sewer services remain inadequate, including incorrect billing, water shutoffs for residents and 
churches with no delinquent balances, and service interruptions affecting households and 
businesses that have had water access for decades; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson has elected a new mayor, the Honorable John A. Horhn, 

who, along with the City Council, has demonstrated renewed leadership, transparency, and 
accountability in the governance of the city; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city has hired a new Public Works Director with the qualifications and 

experience necessary to oversee the operation, maintenance, and long-term sustainability of the 
water and sewer system; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Jackson successfully operated its water and sewer system for 

decades prior to federal intervention and has demonstrated readiness to resume management with 
stronger standards for accountability; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Jackson that the water 

and sewer system be returned to local governance with benchmarks and accountability measures 
in place to ensure high-quality service. 

 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of Jackson, Mississippi, 

hereby encourages the federal authorities and the appropriate court to reverse the decision 
maintaining federal oversight of the City’s water and sewer system and to return full management 
and operational authority to the City of Jackson. 
 
Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded. 
 
Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Clay, Grizzell, Hartley, Parkinson and Stokes. 
Nays – Foote. 
Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There came on for Discussion Item No. 26: 
 

DISCUSSION: 401 EAST CAPITOL STREET: President Grizzell recognized 
Council Member Foote, who stated this item will be held until the next meeting.      
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
DISCUSSION: HUMAN RESOURCES EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK: President 
Grizzell expressed concerns with the outdated Employee Handbook and requested the 
handbook be updated to address current issues being that the bulk of the handbook has not 
updated since 2023.  Pieter Teeuwissen, Chief Administrative Officer, agreed and stated 
the handbook would be updated. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
There came on for Discussion Item No. 29: 
 

DISCUSSION: SQUATTERS: President Grizzell recognized Council Member 
Stokes, who stated this item will be held until the next meeting 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          75 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

There came on for Discussion Item No. 30: 
 

DISCUSSION: TEENAGE EMPLOYMENT: President Grizzell recognized Council 
Member Stokes who stated this item will be held until the next meeting 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
There came on for Discussion Item No. 31: 
 

DISCUSSION: LITIGATION-LEGAL MATTERS: President Grizzell recognized 
Drew Martin, City Attorney, who stated that an Executive Session was needed for 
discussion. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED ACCORDING 
TO SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF 1972. 
President Grizzell stated that all City Council members had received the monthly 
financial report for review. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 
 

• Council Member Stokes announced the following: 
 

o Thanked Maggie Benson, who provided Council with pink ribbons to recognize 
Breast Cancer Awareness Month.   

o Requested that Pieter Teeuwissen, Chief Administrative Officer, add additional 
law enforcement officers for the Jackson State University Homecoming game to 
avoid major issues.     
 

• President Grizzell announced the following: 
 

o The Council and the Clerk’s office will be supporting Breast Cancer Awareness 
and Domestic Violence Awareness month by wearing pink or purple every 
Friday and at the council meetings for October.    

o On October 18, 2025, President Grizzell will be an honoree at the SHeros Gala, 
which honors men and women of various organizations.  The event will be held 
at the Hilton of Jackson at 6:30 p.m. and is hosted by the Butterflies by Grace 
Defined by Faith who assist victims of domestic violence.   

o Jane Avenue, Subdivision 2, Westside Civic Club, Western Hills, Willowood 
will be hosting National Night Out beginning at 6:00 p.m.  
 

• Council Member Hartley announced the following: 
 

o West Jackson neighborhoods will host National Night Out tonight, October 7, 
2025, at Blackburn Middle School in the student garden area.   

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The meeting was opened and closed in memory of the following individuals: 
 

• Mrs. Mary Anderson Sanders 
• Ms. Colena Daniels 
• Mrs. Mildred D. Moore 
• Mr. Stanley Ed Amos 
• Ms. Christian O. Thedford 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the Regular Council Zoning Meeting at 2:30 p.m. on October 20, 2025. At 12:00 
p.m., the Council stood adjourned.   
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                               TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2025 10:00 A.M.                          76 

MINUTE BOOK 7C 
 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
 
                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
  
 

                                                               ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST:  
 
 
                                         ____________     
      CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 







REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.           77

MINUTE BOOK 7C 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Zoning Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 
Mississippi was convened in the Council Chambers in City Hall at 2:30 p.m. on October 20, 2025 
being the third Monday of said month when and where the following things were had and done to 
wit: 

Present: Council Members: Brian Grizzell, Council President, Ward 4; Vernon 
Hartley, Council Vice President, Ward 5; Ashby Foote, Ward 1 (via 
teleconference); Montyne Clay, Ward 2; Lashia Brown-Thomas, Ward 6 
(via teleconference) and Kevin Parkinson, Ward 7. Directors: Shanekia 
Jordan, Clerk of the Council;  

Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council; Ester Ainsworth, Zoning Administrator; Carrie 
Johnson, Deputy City Attorney. 

Absent:  Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The meeting was called to order by President Brian Grizzell. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

President Grizzell recognized Zoning Administrator, Ester Ainsworth, who stated that the item 
was tabled at a previous meeting and now being presented to Council Members. Council Members 
agreed that the procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4299 had been addressed previously. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Grizzell requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

ORDER GRANTING MELVIN GRAY A SPECIAL EXCEPTION TO ALLOW 
FOR A PRIVATE HORSE STABLE AND ANIMAL HUSBANDRY (CHICKENS) 
ON A SITE OF NOT LESS THAN ONE (1) ACRE WITHIN A R-1 (SINGLE-
FAMILY) RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4549 
RAYMOND RD. (PARCEL: 848-155), CASE NO. 4299. 

            WHEREAS, the governing authorities held its regular monthly Zoning meeting on 
Monday, September 15, 2025 to consider recommendations from the Planning Board; and 

            WHEREAS, there came on for consideration the recommendation of the Planning Board 
in Zoning Case 4299; and 

WHEREAS, Councilwoman Clay moved to adopt the recommendation of the Planning 
Board to grant a Special Exception to the Melvin Gray for the continued location of a private stable 
and animal husbandry within an R-1 Residential District; and 

WHEREAS, the motion of Councilwoman Clay failed for lack of a second; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1703.08-A of the City of Jackson Zoning Ordinance reads as follows: 
after fifteen (15) days from the date of the City Planning Board decision or recommendation, the 
Zoning Administrator shall forward to the City Council such recommendation, along with all 
documents and exhibits pertaining to the case. If no appeal is filed by a party of record or 
authorized representative, defined herein as a party present and speaking at the City Planning 
Board public hearing, with the Zoning Administrator within fifteen (15) days from the date of the 
City Planning Board recommendation, it will not be necessary for stenographic notes to be 
transcribed or publication to be made, however, if such an appeal is taken, it will be necessary for 
stenographic notes to be transcribed and for the City Clerk to place two (2) advertisements of the 
pending consideration by the City Council. Such publication shall be in the usual form and shall 
be made in a newspaper of general circulation within the City of Jackson, Mississippi, at least 
fifteen (15) days before such hearing before the Jackson City Council. Within sixty (60) calendar 
days after the date set in the case advertisement, the City Council shall approve or deny, in whole 
or in part, the recommendation of the City Planning Board, or where there is need for additional 
information, may remand the case to the City Planning Board for further consideration, and this 
shall be done by the City Council on the record of the case.; and  

Agenda Item No. 5
November 4, 2025
(Jordan, Grizzell)



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            78                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

  WHEREAS, Melvin Gray has filed a petition for a Special Exception to allow for a private 
horse stable and animal husbandry (chickens) on a site of not less than one (1) acre within a R-1 
(Single-Family) Residential District for the property located at 4549 Raymond Rd. (Parcel: 848-
155), in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing 
has recommended approval of a Special Exception to allow for a private horse stable and animal 
husbandry (chickens) on a site of not less than one (1) acre within a R-1 (Single-Family) 
Residential District; and 
 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Jackson City Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., September 
15, 2025 to consider said petition based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 
City Planning Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on August 7,  2025 and August 21, 2025 that 
a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 27, 2025, as provided for 
by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 
City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Special Exception for the above described 
property within an existing R-1 (Single-Family) Residential Zoning District of the City of Jackson; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, it appears to the Jackson City Council that the documents are in order, and 
that the recommendation of the Planning Board to approve a Special Exception to allow for a 
private horse stable and animal husbandry (chickens) on a site of not less than one (1) acre within 
a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District does support the promotion of the public health, safety, 
morals, the general welfare of the community and the granting of such will not adversely affect 
adjacent property owners.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI:  
 
That the property located in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Jackson, Mississippi, and 
being more particularly described as follows: 
 
Beginning at a point East line of the Jackson, Raymond road which point is 446 feet West of and 
367 feet North of the Southeast corner of the North Half of Section 28, Township 5 North, Range 
I West, and run thence South 16 degrees East 546.4 feet, thence South 1140 feet, thence North 89 
degrees and 15 minutes East 284 feet more or less to a point on the East line of said Section 28, 
thence North 752 feet, thence West 152.4 feet, hence North 00 degrees and 37 minutes West 475.5 
feet, thence North 16 degrees West 536.4 feet to a point on the East line of said road, thence South 
60 degrees west along the East line of said road 165 feet to the point of beginning, containing 8.46 
acres more or less and all being in the Southeast Quarter of Northeast Quarter (SE ¼ of NE ¼ ), 
and the Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter (NE ¼ of SE ¼) of Section 28, Township 5 
North, Range 1 West, Hinds County, Mississippi. 
 
be and is hereby granted a Special Exception to allow for a private horse stable and animal 
husbandry (chickens) on a site of not less than one (1) acre within a R-1 (Single-Family) 
Residential District for the property located at 4549 Raymond Rd. (Parcel: 848-155).   However, 
that before for any structure is erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant must meet 
the requirements established through the Site Plan Review process. 
 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Grizzell recognized Melvin Gray, the Applicant, who spoke in favor of a Special 
Exception to allow for a private stable and animal husbandry within a R-1 (Single-Family) 
Residential District. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            79                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

There was no opposition from the public. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Thereafter, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Clay and Foote. 
Nays – Brown-Thomas, Grizzell, Hartley and Parkinson.  
Absent – Stokes.   
 
Note:  Said item failed due to lack of a majority.    
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 
President Grizzell requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDER DENYING MELVIN GRAY A SPECIAL EXCEPTION TO ALLOW FOR 
A PRIVATE HORSE STABLE AND ANIMAL HUSBANDRY (CHICKENS) ON A 
SITE OF NOT LESS THAN ONE (1) ACRE WITHIN A R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY) 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4549 RAYMON 
RD. (PARCEL: 845-155), CASE NO. 4299. 

 
WHEREAS, the governing authorities held its regular monthly Zoning meeting on 

Monday, September 15, 2025 to consider recommendations from the Planning Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, there came on for consideration the recommendation of the Planning Board 
in Zoning Case 4299; and 
 

WHEREAS, Councilwoman Clay moved to adopt the recommendation of the Planning 
Board to grant a Special Exception to the Melvin Gray for the continued location of a private stable 
and animal husbandry within an R-1 Residential District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the motion of Councilwoman Clay failed for lack of a second; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 1703.08-A of the City of Jackson Zoning Ordinance reads as follows: 
after fifteen (15) days from the date of the City Planning Board decision or recommendation, the 
Zoning Administrator shall forward to the City Council such recommendation, along with all 
documents and exhibits pertaining to the case. If no appeal is filed by a party of record or 
authorized representative, defined herein as a party present and speaking at the City Planning 
Board public hearing, with the Zoning Administrator within fifteen (15) days from the date of the 
City Planning Board recommendation, it will not be necessary for stenographic notes to be 
transcribed or publication to be made, however, if such an appeal is taken, it will be necessary for 
stenographic notes to be transcribed and for the City Clerk to place two (2) advertisements of the 
pending consideration by the City Council. Such publication shall be in the usual form and shall 
be made in a newspaper of general circulation within the City of Jackson, Mississippi, at least 
fifteen (15) days before such hearing before the Jackson City Council. Within sixty (60) calendar 
days after the date set in the case advertisement, the City Council shall approve or deny, in whole 
or in part, the recommendation of the City Planning Board, or where there is need for additional 
information, may remand the case to the City Planning Board for further consideration, and this 
shall be done by the City Council on the record of the case.; and  
 

WHEREAS, Melvin Gray has filed a petition for a Special Exception to allow for a private 
horse stable and animal husbandry (chickens) on a site of not less than one (1) acre within a R-1 
(Single-Family) Residential District for the property located at 4549 Raymond Rd. (Parcel: 848-
155), in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing 
has recommended approval of a Special Exception to allow for a private horse stable and animal 
husbandry (chickens) on a site of not less than one (1) acre within a R-1 (Single-Family) 
Residential District; and 
 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Jackson City Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., September 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            80                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

15, 2025 to consider said petition based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 
City Planning Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on August 7,  2025 and August 21, 2025 that 
a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 27, 2025, as provided for 
by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 
City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Special Exception for the above described 
property within an existing R-1 (Single-Family) Residential Zoning District of the City of Jackson; 
and 

WHEREAS, it appears to the Jackson City Council that the documents are in order, and 
that the recommendation of the Planning Board to approve a Special Exception to allow for a 
private horse stable and animal husbandry (chickens) on a site of not less than one (1) acre within 
a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District does not support the promotion of the public health, 
safety, morals, the general welfare of the community and the granting of such would adversely 
affect adjacent property owners.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI:  
 
That the property located in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Jackson, Mississippi, and 
being more particularly described as follows: 
 
Beginning at a point East line of the Jackson, Raymond road which point is 446 feet West of and 
367 feet North of the Southeast corner of the North Half of Section 28, Township 5 North, Range 
I West, and run thence South 16 degrees East 546.4 feet, thence South 1140 feet, thence North 89 
degrees and 15 minutes East 284 feet more or less to a point on the East line of said Section 28, 
thence North 752 feet, thence West 152.4 feet, hence North 00 degrees and 37 minutes West 475.5 
feet, thence North 16 degrees West 536.4 feet to a point on the East line of said road, thence South 
60 degrees west along the East line of said road 165 feet to the point of beginning, containing 8.46 
acres more or less and all being in the Southeast Quarter of Northeast Quarter (SE ¼ of NE ¼ ), 
and the Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter (NE ¼ of SE ¼) of Section 28, Township 5 
North, Range 1 West, Hinds County, Mississippi. 
 
be and is hereby denied a Special Exception to allow for a private horse stable and animal 
husbandry (chickens) on a site of not less than one (1) acre within a R-1 (Single-Family) 
Residential District for the property located at 4549 Raymond Rd. (Parcel: 848-155).    
 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Brown-Thomas seconded.  

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Grizzell, Hartley and Parkinson.  
Nays – Clay and Foote. 
Absent – Stokes.   
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Grizzell recognized Zoning Administrator, Ester Ainsworth, who provided the 
Council with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4298, including all applicable ordinances, 
statutes, and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the 
applicable zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application 
with exhibits and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Grizzell requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 
ORDER DENYING GREATER MT. CALVARY MB CHURCH, INC. A SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION TO ALLOW FOR A RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY FACILITY 
WITH A VARIANCE OF UP TO TEN (10) FT. FROM THE REQUIRED TWENTY-
FIVE FEET WITHIN A R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY) RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT FOR 
THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 509 Broad St. (Parcel 131-128), CASE NO. 4298. 

 
WHEREAS, Greater Mt. Calvary MB Church, Inc. has filed a petition for a Special 

Exception to allow for a residential community facility within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            81                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

District and a Variance of up to ten (10) ft. from the required twenty-five feet for the front and\or 
rear yard setbacks for the property located at 509 Broad St. (Parcel 131-128), in the City of 
Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing 
has recommended denial of a Special Exception to allow for a residential community facility 
within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District and a Variance of up to ten (10) ft. from the 
required twenty-five feet for the front and\or rear yard setbacks; and 
 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Jackson City Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., October 
20, 2025 to consider said petition based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 
City Planning Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on July 3, 2025 and July 17, 2025 that a hearing 
had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on September 24, 2025, as provided for by 
ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 
City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Special Exception for the above described 
property within an existing R-1 (Single-Family) Residential Zoning District of the City of Jackson; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, it appears to the Jackson City Council that the documents are of the opinion 
that the granting of Special Exception to allow for a residential community facility within a R-1 
(Single-Family) Residential District does not support the promotion of the public health, safety, 
morals, the general welfare of the community and the granting of such will adversely affect 
adjacent property owners; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Council, after having considered the matter, is of the opinion that the 
granting of the Variance will confer upon the applicant any special privilege that is denied by this 
Ordinance to other similar lands, structures or buildings in the same district within the existing R-
1 (Single-Family) Residential District of the City of Jackson; and  
 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI:  
 
That the property located in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Jackson, Mississippi, and 
being more particularly described as follows: 
 
S ½ LOTS 2 & 4 BLK S WEST END SY  
More Commonly known as: Parcel 131-128  
 
be and is hereby denied the requested Special Exception to allow for a residential community 
facility and Variance of up to ten (10) ft. from the required twenty-five feet for the front and\or 
rear yard setbacks within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District for the property located at 509 
Broad St. (Parcel 131-128).    
 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; President Grizzell seconded.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Grizzell recognized MacDarrell Poullard, Representative for the Applicant, who 
spoke in opposition to deny a Special Exception to allow for a Residential Community Facility 
within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District and a Variance of up to ten (10) ft. from the 
required twenty-five feet for the front and\or rear yard setbacks. Additionally, Mr. Poullard asked 
to withdraw the request.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Grizzell recognized Alyce Horton, James Brooks, Shante’ Crockett and Sheila 
Harper spoke in favor to deny a Special Exception to allow for a Residential Community Facility 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            82                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District and a Variance of up to ten (10) ft. from the 
required twenty-five feet for the front and\or rear yard setbacks. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
President Grizzell recognized Carrie Johnson, Deputy City Attorney, who provided an 
overview of said item and provided guidance on withdrawal.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
Thereafter, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Parkinson.  
Nays – None.  
Absent – Clay and Stokes.     
 
Note:  Council Member Clay left during the discussion. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Grizzell recognized Zoning Administrator, Ester Ainsworth, who provided the 
Council with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4303, including all applicable ordinances, 
statutes, and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the 
applicable zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application 
with exhibits and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 
 

President Grizzell requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDINANCE GRANTING CHARLOTTE REEVES DBA MOVIE GARDEN 
STUDIOS A REZONING FROM R-5 (MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICT, C-1 (RESTRICTED COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, C-2 (LIMITED) 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, C-3 (GENERAL) COMMERCIAL DISTRICT & I-1 
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT TO COMMUNITY MIXED USE, PEDESTRIAN 
ORIENTED DISTRICT TO ALLOW FOR A MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT FOR 
THE PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 605 CLIFTON ST. (PARCEL 170-12) and 21 
PARCELS (170-4, 170-18, 170-19-1, 170-20, 170-21, 170-21-4, 170-21-5, 170-24, 169-
3, 169-4, 169-5, 169-11, 169-120, 170-76,  169-112, 142-24, 142-40, 141-4, 141-5, 142-
58 & 170-32). CASE NO. 4303. 

 
WHEREAS, Charlotte Reeves DBA Movie Garden Studios has filed a petition to rezone 

the properties located at 605 Clifton St. (Parcel 170-12) and 21 Parcels (170-4, 170-18, 170-19-1, 
170-20, 170-21, 170-21-4, 170-21-5, 170-24, 169-3, 169-4, 169-5, 169-11, 169-120, 170-76, 169-
112, 142-24, 142-40, 141-4, 141-5, 142-58 and 170-32), in the City of Jackson, First Judicial 
District of Hinds County, Mississippi from R-5 (Multi-Family) Residential District, C-1 
(Restricted) Commercial District, C-2 (Limited) Commercial District, C-3 (General) Commercial 
District & I-1 (Light) Industrial District to Community Mixed Use, Pedestrian Oriented District to 
allow for a mixed use development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 
has offered the recommendation to rezone the properties from R-5 (Multi-Family) Residential 
District, C-1 (Restricted) Commercial District, C-2 (Limited) Commercial District, C-3 (General) 
Commercial District & I-1 (Light) Industrial District to Community Mixed Use, Pedestrian 
Oriented District to allow for a mixed-use development; and 
 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 
that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, October 20, 
2025 to consider said change based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 
City Planning Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 
petition had been published in the  Mississippi Link on September 4, 2025 and September 18, 2025 
that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on September 24, 2025, all as 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            83                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that 
the Jackson City Planning Board has offered the recommendation to rezone the above described 
properties from R-5 (Multi-Family) Residential District, C-1 (Restricted) Commercial District, C-
2 (Limited) Commercial District, C-3 (General) Commercial District & I-1 (Light) Industrial 
District to Community Mixed Use, Pedestrian Oriented District to allow for a mixed use 
development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council after having considered the matter, is of the opinion 
that such changes would be in keeping with sound land use practices and to the best interest of the 
City and that there has been a substantial change in the land use character of the surrounding area 
that justifies rezoning the property and there is a public need for additional property in that area 
zoned in accordance with the request in said application since any previous Jackson City Council 
action.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 
 
Section 1.   That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 
Mississippi, more particularly described as follows: 
 
Parcel No. 170-12 
A PARCEL OF LAND SITUATED IN LOTS 3, 4, 5, 6 AND 9 OF HOOKER SURVEY, 
ACCORDING TO THE MAP THEREOF WHICH IS OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN PLAT BOOK "A" 
AT PAGE 252, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS BY METES AND BOUNDS: 
 
COMMENCE AT AN IRON PIN IN THE WEST LINE OF CLIFTON STREET WHICH IS 20 
FEET SOUTH OF THE CENTER LINE OF THE Y. & M. V. RAILROAD TRACKS, ALSO 
KNOWN AS "LITTLE J: AS SAID STREET AND AS SAID RAILROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY 
ARE LAID OUT, IMPROVED AND EXISTING, AND FROM SAID POINT OF BEGINNING, 
RUN THENCE WESTERLY ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE CENTER LINE OF 
SAID RAILROAD TRACKS A DISTANCE OF 795 FEET MORE OR LESS TO A POINT; 
THENCE TURN SOUTH AND RUN A DISTANCE OF 359.9 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 
NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET IN SAID CITY OF JACKSON, THENCE RUN EAST 
ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID HOOKER STREET A DISTANCE OF 76.9 FEET TO A 
POINT; THENCE RUN NORTH A DISTANCE OF 127.5 FEET; THENCE RUN EAST ALONG 
A LINE PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET A DISTANCE OF 371 
FEET; THENCE RUN NORTH A DISTANCE OF 52 FEET; THENCE RUN EAST A 
DISTANCE OF 209 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THAT 
PARCEL OF LAND PURCHASED BY GRANTOR HEREIN FROM W.O. JONES BY 
WARRANTY DEED DATED DECEMBER 21, 1972 AND RECORDED IN BOOK 2076 AT 
PAGE 581 IN THE RECORDS OF THE AFORESAID CHANCERY CLERK; THENCE TURN 
SOUTH AND RUN PARALLEL WITH CLIFTON STREET FOR A DISTANCE OF 66.5 FEET, 
MORE OR LESS, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PARCEL PURCHASED FROM 
W. O. JONES; THENCE TURN EAST AND RUN PARALLEL WITH HOOKER STREET FOR 
A DISTANCE OF 136 FEET; MORE OR LESS TO THE WEST LINE OF CLIFTON STREET; 
THENCE TURN NORTH AND RUN ALONG THE WEST LINE OF CLIFTON STREET FOR 
A DISTANCE OF 243.5 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
LESS AND EXCEPT: 
 
A PARCEL OF LAND SITUATED IN LOTS 3, 4, 5, 6 AND 9 OF HOOKER SURVEY, 
ACCORDING TO THE MAP THEREOF WHICH IS OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN PLAT BOOK "A" 
AT PAGE 252, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS BY METES AND BOUNDS: 
 
COMMENCE AT AN IRON PIN IN THE WEST LINE OF CLIFTON STREET WHICH IS 20 
FEET SOUTH OF THE CENTER LINE OF THE Y. & M. V. RAILROAD TRACTS, ALSO 
KNOW AS "LITTLE J" AS SAID STREET AND AS SAID RAILROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY ARE 
LAID OUT, IMPROVED AND EXISTING; RUN THENCE WESTERLY ALONG A LINE 
PARALLEL WITH THE CENTER LINE OF SAID RAILROAD TRACKS A DISTANCE OF 
795 FEET MORE OR LESS TO A POINT, THENCE TURN SOUTH AND RUN A DISTANCE 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            84                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

OF 359.9 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET IN SAID CITY 
OF JACKSON; THENCE RUN EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID HOOKER 
STREET A DISTANCE OF 76.9 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE RUN NORTH A DISTANCE 
OF 127.5 FEET; THENCE RUN EAST A LONG A LINE PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE 
OF HOOKER STREET A DISTANCE OF 371 FEET, THENCE RUN NORTH A DISTANCE 
OF 52 FEET; THENCE RUN EAST A DISTANCE OF 209 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PARCEL OF LAND PURCHASED BY GRANTOR 
HEREIN FROM W. O. JONES BY WARRANTY DEED DATED DECEMBER 21, 1972 AND 
RECORDED IN BOOK 2076 AT PAGE 581 IN THE RECORDS OF THE AFORESAID 
CHANCERY CLERK WHICH IS THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE TURN SOUTH 
AND RUN PARALLEL WITH CLIFTON STREET FOR A DISTANCE OF 66.5, MORE OR 
LESS, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PARCEL PURCHASED FROM W. O. 
JONES, THENCE TURN EAST AND RUN PARALLEL WITH HOOKER STREET FOR A 
DISTANCE OF 136 FEET, MORE OR LESS TO THE WEST LINE OF CLIFTON STREET; 
THENCE TURN NORTH AND RUN ALONG THE WEST LINE OF CLIFTON STREET FOR 
A DISTANCE OF 98.5 FEET; THENCE RUN WEST AND PARALLEL WITH HOOKER 
STREET A DISTANCE OF 170 FEET; THENCE RUN SOUTH AND PARALLEL TO 
CLIFTON STREET A DISTANCE OF 32 FEET; THENCE RUN EAST TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 
Parcel No. 170-4 
LOT 10 LESS 10 FEET OFF THE NORTH SIDE, AND LOT 11, R.J. SEARCY SUBDIVISION, 
A SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE MAP OR PLAT THEREOF ON FILE AND OF 
RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS COUNTY AT 
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, REFERENCE TO WHICH IS HEREBY MADE IN AID OF AND AS 
A PART OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
 
Parcel No. 170-18 
A LOT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING ON THE NORTH SIDE OF HOOKER STREET AND 
BEGINNING ON THE NORTH SIDE OF SAID HOOKER STREET 260 FEET WEST OF THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF HOOKER STREET AND CLIFTON STREET; FROM THIS 
POINT RUN NORTH PARALLEL WITH CLIFTON STREET 171 FEET TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE PROPERTY OF W.G. RAINES; THENCE RUN WEST 85 
FEET TO A STAKE; THENCE RUN SOUTH 171 FEET TO HOOKER STREET; THENCE 
RUN EAST ALONG THE NORTH SIDE OF HOOKER STREET 85 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 
 
TOGETHER WITH: THE RIGHT TO THE DRIVEWAY LOCATED IN THE CENTER OF 
SAID LOT BEING 12 FEET WIDE OPENING OUT INTO HOOKER STREET AND 
RUNNING BACK 100 FEET, THE SAME TO BE ALWAYS OPEN AND CLEAR FROM O B 
S T R U C T I O N A N D T O  R E M A I N  T H E  C O M O N P R O P E R T Y F O R T H E 
U S E OF ALL PARTIES WHO MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER BE THE OWNERS OF EITHER 
THE E ½ OR W ½ OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED LOT. BEING PART OF LOTS 6 AND 9, 
HOOKER SURVEY. 
 
Parcel No. 170-19-1 
THAT CERTAIN LOT ON THE NORTH SIDE OF HOOKER AVENUE, HAVING A 
FRONTAGE OF FIFTY (50) FEET ON SAID AVENUE WITH A DEPTH OF ONE HUNDRED 
AND SEVENTY (170) FEET PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: ALL OF LOTS 
EIGHT (8) AND TWENTY- THREE (23) AND TEN (10) FEET OFF THE WEST SIDE OF 
LOTS NINE (9) AND TWENTY-TWO (22) AND TEN (10) FEET OFF THE EAST SIDE OF 
LOTS SEVEN (7) AND TWENTY-FOUR (24), ALL IN BLOCK "F" OF CRISLER 
SUBDIVISION (AMENDED) ACCORDING TO THE MAP OR PLAT THEREOF OF 
RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY CLERK OF SAID COUNTY AT JACKSON 
IN PLAT BOOK 1, AT PAGE 74 THEREOF; AND THIS BEING THE SAME PROPERTY 
THAT WAS CONVEYED TO THE GRANTORS HEREIN BY DEED FROM MRS. LOUISE 
MARY MCLAUGHLIN STRONG, SAID DEED DATED JULY 15, 1943, AND BEING OF 
RECORD IN DEED BOOK 369, PAGE 501, IN THE OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY CLERK 
OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, REFERENCE TO WHICH DEED IS 
MADE IN AID OF AND AS A PART OF THIS DESCRIPTION. ALSO KNOWN AS 628 
HOOKER STREET, JACKSON, MS. 
 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            85                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

COMMENCING AT THE POINT OF INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF GALLATIN 
STREET WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET, AS BOTH STREETS ARE NOW 
LAID OUT, IMPROVED AND USED IN THIS CITY, RUN THENCE WESTERLY ALONG 
SAID SOUTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET A DISTANCE OF 613.6 FEET TO THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING; RUN THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE OF HOOKER 
STREET A DISTANCE OF 89 FEET; TURNING THENCE TO THE LEFT THROUGH AN 
ANGLE OF 90 DEGREES 08 M I N U T E S AND RUN T H E N C E S O U T H E R LY A D I 
S TA N C E O F 560 FEET TO THE PRESENT CENTER OF CAMP CREEK; RUN THENCE 
EASTERLY ALONG THE MID THREAD OF CAMP CREEK A DISTANCE OF 89.15 FEET 
TO A POINT WHICH IS 554.8 FEET SOUTHERLY FROM THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
RUN THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE WEST LINE OF THE 
LOT HEREIN CONVEYED A DISTANCE OF 554.8 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
BEGIN AT A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET ONE HUNDRED AND 
NINETY-THREE (193) FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 9, HOOKER 
SURVEY, RUN IN A NORTHERLY DIRECTION PARALLEL TO THE WEST LINE OF 
CLIFTON STREET 174.5 FEET; THENCE RUN IN A WESTERLY DIRECTION PARALLEL 
TO THE NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET 65.6 FEET; THENCE RUN IN A SOUTHERLY 
DIRECTION 174.5 FEET TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET 67 
FEET WEST OF THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE RUN EASTERLY ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET 67 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; BEING 
PART OF LOTS 6 AND 9 HOOKER SURVEY IN THE CITY OF JACKSON, FIRST JUDICIAL 
DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, ACCORDING TO A RECORD THEREOF IN 
PLAT BOOK A AT PAGE 252 OF THE RECORDS OF THE CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS 
COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 
 
BEGIN AT A POINT OF THE NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET ONE HUNDRED AND 
THIRTY-SIX FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 9, HOOKER SURVEY, 
RUN WEST ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET FIFTY SEVEN FEET; 
THENCE RUN IN A NORTHERLY DIRECTION PARALLEL TO THE WEST LINE OF 
CLIFTON STREET ONE HUNDRED AND SEVENTY FOUR AND ONE-HALF FEET; 
THENCE RUN IN AN EASTERLY DIRECTION PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE OF 
HOOKER STREET FIFTY SEVEN FEET; THENCE RUN IN A SOUTHERLY DIRECTION 
PARALLEL TO THE WEST LINE OF CLIFTON STREET ONE HUNDRED AND SEVENTY 
FOUR AND ONE-HALF FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGGING; BEING A PART OF LOTS 6 
AND 9 OF HOOKER SURVEY IN THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, ACCORDING 
TO A RECORD THEREOF IN PLAT BOOK A AT PAGE 252 OF THE RECORDS IN THE 
CHANCERY CLERK'S OFFICE OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 
 
LOT 3, SMITH ADDITION, A SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE MAP OR PLAT WHICH 
IS ON FILE AND OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS 
COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN PLAT BOOK 2 AT PAGE 110, REFERENCE TO 
WHICH IS HEREBY MADE IN AID OF AND AS A PART OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
 
BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF HOOKER AVENUE 141 FEET WEST 
OF THE SOUTHWEST PROPERTY LINE CORNER OF HOOKER AVENUE AND SOUTH 
GALLATIN STREET, AS THE SAME IS NOW FIXED AND ESTABLISHED BY THE CITY 
OF JACKSON, AND MARKED BY THE BACK LINES O F T H E C O N C R E T E S I D E 
WA L K AT SAID C O R N E R AND RUNNING W E S T A L O N G SAID HOOKER 
AVENUE, 200 FEET (MORE OR LESS, AND EXTENDING SOUTHWARD FROM SAID 
HOOKER AVENUE AT AN ANGLE APPROXIMATELY NINETY DEGREES BETWEEN 
PARALLEL LINES TO THE CENTER OF THE CREEK, OR ROCKY BRANCH, THE SOUTH 
LINE OF THE SAID LOT BEING DETERMINED BY THE MEANDER OF SAID BRANCH, 
THIS LOT BEING A PART OF LOT 13 OF THE HOOKER SURVEY IN SECTION 9, 
TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 1 EAST, IN THE CITY OF JACKSON, COUNTY OF HINDS, 
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI. 
 
LOT 3, BLOCK 1. SCOTLAND HEIGHTS, A SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE MAP 
OR PLAT THEREOF WHICH IS ON FILE AND OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN PLAT BOOK B 
AT PAGE 13, REFERENCE TO WHICH IS HEREBY MADE IN AID OF AND AS A PART 
OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            86                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

BEGINNING AT A POINT SEVEN HUNDRED TENT AND ONE-HALF (710 ½ ) FEET WEST 
OF WHERE THE WEST LINE OF GALLATIN STREET INTERSECTS THE SOUTH LINE 
OF HOOKER STREET, RUNNING THENCE WEST EIGHT (80) FEET, THENCE SOUTH 
ONE HUNDRED AND SIXTY (160) FEET, THENCE EAST EIGHTY (80) FEET, THENCE 
NORTH A DISTANCE OF ONE HUNDRED AND SIXTY (160) FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, THE SAME BEING A LOT FRONTING EIGHTY (80) FEET ON HOOKER 
STREET AND RUNNING BACK BETWEEN PARALLEL LINES ONE HUNDRED AND 
SIXTY (160) FEET; SAID TRACT OF LAND IS THE SAME INHERITED BY MRS. WILLIE 
SMITH COOK AS THE SOLE HEIR OF HER SISTER, MISS DOLLIE SMITH, DECEASED, 
AND IS FURTHER DESCRIBED AS NO. 523 HOOKER STREET IN THE CITY OF 
JACKSON, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI. 
 
Parcel No. 170-20 
LOT 1, SMITH ADDN., FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI TAX  
 
Parcel No. 170-21 
LOTS 2, 3 AND 4 SMITH ADDITION, A SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO A MAP ORPLAT 
THEREOF WHICH IS ON FILE AND OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY 
CLERK OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN PLAT BOOK 2 AT PAGE 110, 
REFERENCE TO WHICH HEREBY MADE IN AID OF AND AS A PART OF THIS 
DESCRIPTION 
 
Parcel No. 170-21-4 
LOT 5, SMITH ADDN., FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 170-21-5 
LOT 6 LESS 10 FT W/S SMITH ADDN, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 170-24 
A LOT FRONTING 120 FEET ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF HOOKER STREET AND RUNNING 
BACK BETWEEN PARALLEL LINES 160 FEET, BEING A PART OF LOTS FOURTEEN (14) 
AND FIFTEEN (15) OF THE ORIGINAL HOOKER SURVEY OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, 
ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL MAP OR PLAT OF SAID SURVEY, AND BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS FOLLOWS, TO WIT: 
 
BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF HOOKER STREET 60 FEET EAST OF 
THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF MRS. E.H. GREEN'S LOT, WHICH POINT IS ALSO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF A LOT DEEDED FROM A.H. LONGINO TO MRS. M.E. GOODE, 
DATED SEPTEMBER 14, 1908; RUNNING THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SOUTH LINE OF 
HOOKER STREET 120 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF A LOT DEEDED FROM 
A.H. LONGINO TO THOMAS AND LILLIAN REDDINGTON ON NOVEMBER 6, 1912; 
RUNNING THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE REDDINGTON LOT 
160 FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE SAID 
REDDINGTON LOT; RUNNING THENCE WESTERLY PARALLEL TO THE SOUTH LINE 
OF HOOKER STREET 120 FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF 
THE SAID GOODE LOT; RUNNING THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE EAST LINE OF 
THE SAID GOODE LOT 160 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
THE PROPERTY BEING FURTHER DESCRIBED AS COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE 
SOUTH SIDE OF HOOKER STREET 60 FEET EAST OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
THE E.H. GREEN HOMESTEAD SURVEY, A PLAT WHICH IS RECORDED IN THE 
OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, 
IN PLAT BOOK 3 AT PAGE 3, AND GOING THENCE EAST ON HOOKER STREET, 120 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH AT RIGHT ANGLE 160 FEET; THENCE WEST AT RIGHT 
ANGELS PARALLEL TO THE SOUTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET 120 FEET; THENCE 
NORTH AT RIGHT ANGLES 160 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
AND BEING THAT CERTAIN PROPERTY CONVEYED TO MILLAPS COLLEGE BY JULIE 
WITHERS RING AND ANN WITHERS MCNEILL BY DEED DATED SEPTEMBER 16, 1987, 
AND RECORDED IN BOOK 1418, PAGE 697-699, LAND DEED RECORDS OF HINDS 
COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            87                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

Parcel No. 169-3 
LOT 3, BLOCK 1, SCOTLAND HEIGHTS, A SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE MAP 
OR PLAT THEREOF WHICH IS ON FILE AND OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN PLAT BOOK B 
AT PAGE 13, REFERENCE TO WHICH IS HEREBY MADE IN AID OF AND AS A PART 
OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
 
Parcel No. 169-4 
LOT 4, BLOCK 1, SCOTLAND HEIGHTS, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, HINDS COUNTY, 
MISSISSIPPI. 
 
Parcel No. 169-5 
LOT 5, BLK. 1, SCOTLAND HEIGHTS, PARCEL # 169-5, HOOKER ST., HINDS COUNTY, 
MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 169-11 
LOT 1, BLK 2, SCOTLAND HEIGHTS & ½ ALLEY S OF & ADJ PARCEL # 169-11, HINDS 
COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 169-120 
BEG AT PT ON N/S HOOKER ST 30.5 FT W OF MINERVA ST W 52.9 FT N 170 FT E 79.4 
FT S 104 FT W 30.5 FT S 66 FT TO BEG POT LOTS 12, 17, 18 & 19 & ALL LOTS 14, 15 & 
16 BLK F CRISLERS, PARCEL # 169.20, HOOKER ST., JACKSON, HINDS COUNTY, 
MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 170-76 
23 1/3 FT E/S LOT 48 & 23 1/3 FT W/S LOT 49, VIRDENS SUBN OF HOOKER SY, FIRST 
JUDICIAL DISTRICT, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 169-112 
71 FT S/S Y & M VR R X 99 FT N & SE OF ST & 66 FT S/S Y & M V R R X 99 FT N & SW 
OF ST IN SEC 9 5 1E, PARCEL # 16-112, RAILROAD AVE. SEC. 9, T5N, RANGE 1 EAST, 
HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 142-24 
LOT 24, BURNS SUB OF LOT 58 SWJ, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, HINDS COUNTY, 
MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 142-40 
N ½ LOTS 1 & 2, BLK B, BROUGHER SUBN, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, HINDS 
COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 141-4 
LOT 4, BLK A, BROUGHER SUBN, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, HINDS COUNTY, 
MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 141-5 
LOT 5, BLK A, BROUGHER SUBN, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT, HINDS COUNTY, 
MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 142-58 
PARCEL I: LOT ONE (1), LESS SEVENTY (70) FEET OFF THE SOUTH END THEREOF, OF 
BLOCK "E" OF MRS. M.L. BROUGHER'S SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE MAP 
THEREOF WHICH IS RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY CLERK OF HINDS 
COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, IN PLAT BOOK "A" AT PAGE 225 THEREOF, 
REFERENCE TO WHICH IS HEREBY MADE. 
 
PARCEL II: THE EAST HALF (E ½) OF LOT TWO (2), BLOCK "E" MRS. M.L. 
BROUGHER'S SUBDIVISION, A SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE MAP OR PLAT 
THEREOF WHICH IS ON FILE AND OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY 
CLERK OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, SURVEYOR'S RECORD "A" AT 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            88                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

PAGE 207 AMENDED IN SURVEYOR'S RECORD BOOK "A" AT PAGE 255, REFERENCE 
TO WHICH IS HEREBY MADE IN AID OF AND AS A PART OF THIS DESCRIPTION. 
 
PARCEL III: PROPERTY CONVEYED TO CODA DAVIS BY DEED RECORDED IN BOOK 
486 AT PAGE 90 THEREOF OF THE RECORDS OF THE CHANCERY CLERK OF THE 
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED THEREIN AS FOLLOWS, TO-WIT:  
 
PROPERTY LOCATED ON CLIFTON STREET IN THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF CLIFTON STREET AND EARL 
STREET AND RUNNING SOUTH ON THE WEST BOUNDARY LINE O F C L I F TO N S T 
R E E T A DISTANCE OF 100 F E E T AND 4 INCHES, T O T H E POINT OF BEGINNING, 
RUNNING THENCE WEST A DISTANCE OF 75 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 70 FEET, THENCE 
EAST PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE A DISTANCE OF 79 FEET TO THE WEST 
BOUNDARY LINE OF CLIFTON STREET, THENCE A DISTANCE OF 70 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING; THIS BEING A PART OF LOT ONE (1), BLOCK E OF BELL'S 
SURVEY OF M.F. BROUGHER'S SUBDIVISION, LOTS 59 AND 60, DANIEL SURVEY OF 
WEST JACKSON, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 
 
Parcel No. 170-32 
BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET A DISTANCE OF 
782.6 FEET MEASURED WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF HOOKER STREET 
FROM ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE WEST LINE OF GALLATIN STREET, AS BOTH 
STREETS ARE NOW LAID OUT AND IMPROVED IN THE CITY OF JACKSON, 
MISSISSIPPI; AND WHICH POINT IS AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SMITH 
PROPERTY; RUN THENCE WESTERLY 79.4 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF 
HOOKER STREET TO AN IRON STAKE; THENCE TURNING TO THE LEFT THROUGH 
AN ANGLE OF 89 DEGREES 16 MINUTES RUN SOUTH FOR A DISTANCE OF 386 FEET 
TO AN IRON STAKE IN THE PRESENT CHANNEL OF CAMP CREEK, THENCE WITH 
THE MEANDERINGS OF THE PRESENT CHANNEL OF CAMP CREEK TURN TO THE 
LEFT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 29 DEGREES 04 MINUTES RUN SOUTHEASTERLY 39 
FEET; THENCE TURNING TO THE RIGHT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 41 DEGRÉES 12 
MINUTES RUN SOUTHERLY 70 FEET; THENCE TURNING TO THE LEFT. THROUGH 
AN ÄNGLE OF 57 DEGREES RUN SOUTHEASTERLY 60 FEET; THENCE TURNING TO 
THE LEFT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 97 DEGREES RUN NORTHEASTERLY 65 FEET TO 
AN IRON STAKE IN THE PRESENT CHANNEL OF CAMP CREEK; THENCE TURNING 
TO THE LEFT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF 39 DEGREES LEAVE SAID CREEK RUN 
NORTHERLY FOR A DISTANCE OF 481 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, SAID LOT 
FRONTING 79.4 FEET ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF HOOKER STREET, IN JACKSON, 
MISSISSIPPI. 
 
is hereby modified so as to approve the rezoning of the of the properties located at 605 Clifton St. 
(Parcel 170-12) and 21 Parcels: 170-4, 170-18, 170-19-1, 170-20, 170-21, 170-21-4, 170-21-5, 
170-24, 169-3, 169-4, 169-5, 169-11, 169-120, 170-76,169-112, 142-24, 142-40, 141-4, 141-5, 
142-58 and 170-32 from R-5 (Multi-Family) Residential District, C-1 (Restricted) Commercial 
District, C-2 (Limited) Commercial District, C-3 (General) Commercial District & I-1 (Light) 
Industrial District to Community Mixed Use, Pedestrian Oriented District to allow for a mixed use 
development. However, that before any structure is erected or use thereof on the said property, the 
applicant must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review process.  The 
Zoning Administrator is ordered to note such change on the Official Zoning Map to the City of 
Jackson, Mississippi. 
 
Section 2.  That the cost of publication of this Ordinance shall be borne by the petitioner.  
 
Section 3.  That this Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days after its passage and after 
publication of same by the petitioner.   
 
 
Council Member Parkinson moved adoption; Vice President Hartley seconded.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            89                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

President Grizzell recognized Charlotte Reeves, the Applicant, who spoke in favor of a 
Rezoning from R-5 (Multi-Family) Residential District, C-1 (Restricted) Commercial District, C-
2 (Limited) Commercial District, C-3 (General) Commercial District & I-1 (Light) Industrial 
District to Community Mixed Use, Pedestrian Oriented District to allow for a mixed-use 
development. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Grizzell recognized Felicia McClinton and Theresa King, who spoke in opposition 
of a Rezoning from R-5 (Multi-Family) Residential District, C-1 (Restricted) Commercial District, 
C-2 (Limited) Commercial District, C-3 (General) Commercial District & I-1 (Light) Industrial 
District to Community Mixed Use, Pedestrian Oriented District to allow for a mixed-use 
development. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

Thereafter, President Grizzell called for a vote on said item: 

Yeas – Brown-Thomas, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Parkinson.  
Nays – None.  
Absent – Clay and Stokes.     

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

 
ORDER GRANTING EXTENSION OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS AND USE 
PERMITS FOR ONE YEAR. 

  
 Coming for consideration are requests for the approval of the following for certifications 
of renewal for one year and after the anniversary date of approval for Use Permit or Special 
Exceptions as follows:  
   

CASE NO. NAME LOCATION USE   GRANTED 

SE – 3970 
Ward 1 Brad Reeves 4909 Ridgewood Rd.  

& 1538 Sheffield Dr.  
Professional              

Office      10/16/17 

 
 C-UP - 4145 
      Ward 7 

 

YANA Club of MS, 
Inc. 

 

Parcel #52-10 on 
Northview Dr.  
Jackson, MS  

Accessory Off-Street 
Parking Lot 

10/18/21 
 

C-UP - 4187  
Ward 1 Osama Nasser 

1039 E County Line Rd. 
Suite 102 

Jackson, MS  

Tobacco 
Paraphernalia  

Retail Business 
 

10/17/22 

C-UP - 4223  
Ward 2 

 

Vishal Kumar S. 
Patel 

572 Beasley Rd 
Jackson, MS 39206 Extended Stay Hotel 10/16/23 

SE – 4225 
Ward 4 Ernest King, Jr.  526 Eden Downs Rd. 

Jackson, MS 39209 

Community 
Recreation Center & 

Billboard Sign 

 
10/21/24 

 
SE - 4097 
Ward 1 Lakeita F. Rox-Love 5375 Red Fox Rd. 

Jackson, MS 39206 
Professional (Real 

Estate) Office 9/21/20 

 
C-UP - 4179  

Ward 5 
 

Terrence Brent, Sr. 
 

540 Raymond Rd. 
Suite 2 

Jackson, MS 39202 
General Restaurant 9/19/22 

C-UP - 4259  
Ward 4 

Raad Mudhish 
Gobah 

4886 Highway 18 W 
Suite B 

Jackson, MS 39206 

Tobacco 
Paraphernalia  

Retail Business 
9/16/24 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Council of the City of Jackson that the said Use 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            90                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

Permits and/or Special Exceptions be and the same are hereby extended for another year from 
and after the anniversary date granting said permits. 

 
Vice President Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Parkinson seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Grizzell recognized Vice President Hartley who moved, seconded by Council 
Member Parkinson, to remove C-UP 4179, Terrence Brent, Sr., from the Special Exception 
Extension.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Parkinson. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Brown-Thomas, Clay and Stokes. 
 
Note: Council Member Brown-Thomas left the meeting during the discussion.  
 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Foote called for a vote on said Order as amended. 

ORDER GRANTING EXTENSION OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS AND USE 
PERMITS FOR ONE YEAR. 

  
 Coming for consideration are requests for the approval of the following for certifications 
of renewal for one year and after the anniversary date of approval for Use Permit or Special 
Exceptions as follows:  
   
CASE NO. NAME LOCATION USE   GRANTED 

SE – 3970 
Ward 1 Brad Reeves 4909 Ridgewood Rd.  

& 1538 Sheffield Dr.  
Professional              

Office      10/16/17 

 
 C-UP - 4145 
      Ward 7 

 

YANA Club of MS, 
Inc. 

 

Parcel #52-10 on 
Northview Dr.  
Jackson, MS  

Accessory Off-Street 
Parking Lot 

10/18/21 
 

C-UP - 4187  
Ward 1 Osama Nasser 

1039 E County Line Rd. 
Suite 102 

Jackson, MS  

Tobacco 
Paraphernalia  

Retail Business 
 

10/17/22 

C-UP - 4223  
Ward 2 

 

Vishal Kumar S. 
Patel 

572 Beasley Rd 
Jackson, MS 39206 Extended Stay Hotel 10/16/23 

SE – 4225 
Ward 4 Ernest King, Jr.  526 Eden Downs Rd. 

Jackson, MS 39209 

Community 
Recreation Center & 

Billboard Sign 

 
10/21/24 

 
SE - 4097 
Ward 1 Lakeita F. Rox-Love 5375 Red Fox Rd. 

Jackson, MS 39206 
Professional (Real 

Estate) Office 9/21/20 

C-UP - 4259  
Ward 4 

Raad Mudhish 
Gobah 

4886 Highway 18 W 
Suite B 

Jackson, MS 39206 

Tobacco 
Paraphernalia  

Retail Business 
9/16/24 

 

 
 
 
 

   

IT IS, HEREBY ORDERED by the Council of the City of Jackson that the said Use 
Permits and/or Special Exceptions be and the same are hereby extended for another year from 
and after the anniversary date granting said permits. 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  
                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2025 2:30 P.M.                            91                                    

  MINUTE BOOK 7C 

Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Parkinson. 
Nays – None. 
Absent – Brown-Thomas, Clay and Stokes. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 
adjourn until the next Regular Council Meeting to be held at 6:00 p.m. on Tuesday, October 21, 
2025. At 3:41 p.m., the Council stood adjourned. 
 
 
PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 
 
 
                                  ____________                                                     ,______         ___                        
CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 
 
 
 
                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

      ATTEST: 
 
 
                                         ____________     
      CITY CLERK 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 












































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































